
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Emma Sullivan 
 (Tel: 01443 864420   Email: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 7th December 2022 

 
 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Cabinet will be held in Penallta House, and via Microsoft Teams on 
Wednesday, 14th December, 2022 at 1.00 pm to consider the matters contained in the following 

agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, a minimum notice period of 3 working days is 
required should you wish to do so.  A simultaneous translation will be provided on request.  
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly   
  
This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore, the images/audio of those 
individuals present and/or speaking will be publicly available to all via the recording on the Council 
website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  
1  To receive apologies for absence. 

  
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


2  Declarations of Interest. 
  

Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on the agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.   

 
 
To note the Cabinet Forward Work Programme. 
 
3  Cabinet Forward Work Programme. 

1 - 4  
 

To receive and consider the following reports on which executive decisions are required: -   
 
4  Agile Policies. 

5 - 90  
 

5  Low Cost Home Ownership Policy. 
91 - 114  

 

6  Housing Revenue Account Charges - 2023/2024. 
115 - 128  

 

7  Council Tax Base 2023-2024. 
129 - 138  

 

8  Public Interest Test.   
 
To receive and consider the following report which in the opinion of the Proper Officer may be 
discussed when the meeting is not open to the public and first to consider whether the public 
interest requires that the meeting should be closed to the public for consideration of this item. 
 
 

9  A468 / B4600 Bedwas Bridge Roundabout Improvement. 
141 - 146  

 
 
Circulation: 

Councillors C. Andrews, S. Cook, E. Forehead, N. George, P. Leonard, S. Morgan, C. Morgan, 
J. Pritchard, J. Simmonds and E. Stenner 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be name d in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including deta ils 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 
 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 7th December 2022 
 
Meeting date:      Report title:                                         Key issue:                                                                     Report author:                         Cabinet Member: 

14/12/2022 
13:00 

Agile Working Policies For Cabinet to agree HR policies to support 
agile working. 

Lynne Donovan Cllr. Nigel George; 

14/12/2022 
13:10 

Low Cost Home Ownership 
(Decision) 

The LCHO (Low Cost Home Ownership) report 
will document the formulation, 
implementation and the publication of a new 
policy which governs the process by which the 
Council will sell homes to people living and/or 
working in the borough wanting to access 
homeownership but cannot afford to do so 
without some form of public subsidy. 
 

Nick Taylor-Williams; Jane 
Roberts-Waite; 

Cllr. Shayne Cook; 

14/12/2022 
13:20 

HRA Charges (Rent Increase)  Members to agree the level of rent increase 
for council tenants effective from April 2023. 
 
 

Lesley Allen; Cllr. Shayne Cook; 

14/12/2022 
13:30 

Council Tax Base 2023/24 For Cabinet to agree the calculation of the  
Council Tax Base for the 2023/24 financial  
year. 
 

Sean O'Donnell; Cllr. Eluned Stenner; 

14/12/2022 
13:40 

 

A468 / B4600 Bedwas Bridge 
Roundabout improvement – 
Exempt Item 

The use of CIL funding to initially secure the 
land necessary to deliver improvement to the 
Bedwas Bridge Roundabout at the 
A468/B4600. 
 
 

Mark S Williams; Marcus 
Lloyd; 

Cllr. Julian Simmonds 

18/01/2023   
13:00 

Heating Plant Replacement – Ty 
Penallta 

To update Cabinet in relation to works 
required to the heating plant at Ty Penallta, to 
outline the costs and work programme 
involved and to seek Cabinet approval for the 

Mark Faulkner; 
 

Cllr. Nigel George; 

P
age 1 A

genda Item
 3



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 7th December 2022 
 
Meeting date:      Report title:                                         Key issue:                                                                     Report author:                         Cabinet Member: 

works to be funded from the Council’s Capital 
reserve. 
 

18/01/2023 
13:10 

Draft Budget Proposals for 
2023/24 and Updated Medium-
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

To present Cabinet with details of the draft 
budget proposals for the 2023/24 financial 
year and an updated MTFP, to allow for a 
period of consultation prior to final decision 
by Council on the 28th February 2023. 
 

Stephen Harris; Cllr. Eluned Stenner; 

25/01/2023 
13:00 

Pontllanfraith Indoor Bowls To provide an update on the management of 
the Islwyn Indoor Bowls Centre and to 
recommend a revised approach moving 
forward. 

Mark S Williams; Cllr. Chris Morgan;/Cllr. Nigel 
George; 

25/01/2023 
13:10 

Bryn Carno funding update To provide Cabinet with a funding update  
regarding the remedial works to address 
issues associated with failed external wall 
insulation to both Caerphilly Homes’ and 
private residential properties at Bryn Carno, 
Rhymney. 
 

Nick Taylor-Williams; Cllr. Shayne Cook; 

25/01/2023 
13:20 

Extension of Flexible retirement 
- Exempt Item 

To agree a flexible retirement extension for 1 
year. 
 

Dave Roberts Cllr. Eluned Stenner; 

22/02/2023 
13:00 

Budget Proposals for 2023/24 
and Updated Medium -Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) 

To seek Cabinet endorsement of the 2023/24  
budget proposals prior to final determination  
by Council on the 28th February 2023, and to  
note the updated MTFP.  
 

Stephen Harris; Cllr. Eluned Stenner; 

P
age 2



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 7th December 2022 
 
Meeting date:      Report title:                                         Key issue:                                                                     Report author:                         Cabinet Member: 

22/02/2023 
13:10 

HRA Business Plan 2022/23  To update Cabinet on the latest Housing 
Business Plan position in advance of 
submitting the plan to Welsh Government by 
31/3/23, which is a requirement under the 
terms of the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) 
grant. The Housing Business Plan is a 30 year 
plan and will include rental increase 
assumptions and forecasted borrowing 
requirements to enable the HRA to maintain 
viability while meeting its core objectives. 
 

Lesley Allen; Cllr. Shayne Cook;  

22/02/2023 
13:20 

Empty Property Grant Approval 
(Decision) 

The new Welsh Government National Empty 
Property Grant Programme will launch in 
September 22 and ask for bids from LAs to 
issue grants up to a Max of £25K to owner 
occupiers to bring empty properties back into 
use. Caerphilly Homes will administer the 
grant for Caerphilly with an expectation that 
in years 2 and 3 of the 3 year programme, 
there will be a 35% contribution from each 
participating LA. The grant will be awarded on 
a first come first served basis. 
 

Nick Taylor-Williams; 
Claire Davies; 

Cllr. Shayne Cook; 

22/02/2023 
13:30 

Decarbonisation Action Plan To update members on progress with the 
Authority’s decarbonisation action plan which 
sits under the overarching decarbonisation 
strategy. 
 

Paul Rossiter; Paul Cooke; 
Allan Dallimore; 

Cllr James Pritchard 

08/03/2023 
13:00 

Biodiversity and Grass Cutting 
Regimes 

To seek Cabinet approval in relation to 
proposals to enhance and promote 
biodiversity in our grass cutting regimes across 

Mike Headington; Cllr. Chris Morgan; 

P
age 3



 
Cabinet Forward Work Programme – 7th December 2022 
 
Meeting date:      Report title:                                         Key issue:                                                                     Report author:                         Cabinet Member: 

the county borough and following 
consultation with local members.  
 

08/03/2023 
13:10 

Empty Homes Strategy 
(Decision)   

To seek Cabinet approval of the proposed 
strategy. 
 

Claire Davies; Mark 
Jennings; 

Cllr. Shayne Cook; 

22/03/2023 
13:00 

No items currently scheduled 
 
 

   

05/04/2023 
13:00 

No items currently scheduled 
 
 

   

19/04/2023 
13:00 

Review of the Local Toilet 
Strategy 

To seek Cabinet approval for the Council’s 
updated Local Toilet Strategy following a 
review and public consultation. 

Rob Hartshorn; Cllr. Philippa Leonard; 

 

P
age 4



 
 
 

CABINET – 14TH DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
SUBJECT:       AGILE POLICIES 
 
REPORT BY:  CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to seek Cabinet agreement in relation to four policies 

that support agile working, namely:  Agile Working Policy, Annual Leave Policy, Flexi 
Scheme, Mileage Scheme. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 The Council’s Team Caerphilly – Better Together Transformation Strategy was 

adopted by Cabinet on the 12th June 2019.  The strategy confirmed 10 Corporate 
Reviews, one of which was Flexible / Agile Working. 

 
2.2 Cabinet will know that the Government directive at the start of the pandemic required 

many of the Council’s staff to work from home almost overnight, which heightened 
the need to progress the Flexible / Agile Working review, with relevant fit for purpose 
HR policies being key to support this change in direction for the organisation. 

 
2.3 Cabinet will be aware that one of the key actions in both the Employee Wellbeing 

Strategy 2021 – 24 and the Workforce Development Strategy 2021 – 24 is to update 
HR policies and procedures and the priority policies have been identified as those 
relating to agile working.   

 
2.4 The four policies were considered by Policy and Resources Committee on 12th 

December 2022 as part of the consultation process and their feedback will be 
provided verbally to Cabinet. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Cabinet are asked to agree:  
 

1) the Agile Working Policy attached at Appendix 1  
2) the Flexi Scheme Policy attached at Appendix 3 
3) the Mileage Scheme Policy at Appendix 4 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
4) the Annual Leave Policy at Appendix 2, subject to full Council agreeing the 

£2.459m funding required to support the Policy, as part of its 2023/24 budget 
setting process.  

 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The recommendations are made to ensure that the Council has modern and fit for 

purpose policies in place to effectively support agile working, that ensure continuity of 
service provision and fairness and equality for staff.  

 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
5.1 As stated in section 2 of this report, Flexible / Agile Working is one of the 10 

Corporate Reviews of the Council’s Team Caerphilly – Better Together 
Transformation Strategy which was adopted by Cabinet on the 12th June 2019. 

 
5.2 Whilst there was a requirement for home working to be introduced across parts of the 

organisation at the start of the pandemic, it has given the Council the opportunity to 
evidence continuity of service via flexible / agile working.  Cabinet will be aware that 
not all services can accommodate flexible / agile working and the needs of the 
service are of primary and paramount importance. 

 
5.3 Relevant HR policies are therefore key to provide a formal platform for agile working 

going forward and to provide a framework to ensure fairness and equality for staff.  
 
5.4 Consequently, four draft policies are attached to this report at Appendices 1 - 4 for 

Cabinet’s consideration:   
 

 Agile Working Policy 

 Annual Leave Policy 

 Flexi Scheme 

 Mileage Scheme. 
 

5.5.  Discussions have taken place with the Trade Unions (GMB, Unison, Unite) about 
these policies during the pandemic and the four draft policies were sent to the three 
Trade Unions on 26th September 2022 as part of the formal consultation process.  
The feedback from GMB and Unison is attached at Appendices 5 and 6 respectively.   

 
5.6 The four policies were considered by Policy and Resources Committee on 12th 

December 2022 as part of the consultation process and their feedback will be 
provided verbally to Cabinet. 

 
5.6 Agile Working Policy  

 
5.6.1 This is a new policy. It confirms the Council’s commitment to agile working and 

provides a framework which emphasises the importance of economic growth, de-
carbonisation and the health and well-being of our employees. 

 
5.6.2 The Policy confirms agile working as a transformational tool that allows staff to work 

smarter. Agile working removes a number of barriers to working efficiently and, by 
introducing this new modern model of working wherever possible in the Council we 

Page 6



can, amongst many other benefits, improve service delivery. The Council can support 
inclusion and diversity, better health and wellbeing for our employees, improved work 
life balance, better employee engagement, and also help mitigate our carbon 
footprint with reduced travel.   

 
5.6.3 The Policy introduces categorisations of ‘Fixed’, ‘Flexible, ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ and 

‘Community’ roles into the organisation, but acknowledges that agile working cannot 
be accommodated in all services and for all posts. 

 
5.7 Annual Leave Policy 

 
5.7.1 The table below summarises the proposed changes to the current policy  
  

 Current Policy Proposed Policy 
 

Entitlement Less than 5 years’ service – 
24 days 
More than 5 years’ service – 
28 days 
CMT* – 33 days 
 
These include the formerly 
locally agreed extra 
statutory days 
 

Less than 5 years’ service – 
30 days 
More than 5 years’ service – 
34 days 
CMT* 39 days 
 
These include the formerly 
locally agreed extra 
statutory days and the NJC 
2022 pay award of one 
additional day, but this will 
be an entitlement locally 
agreed for all employees 
and not just those 
employees under NJC terms 
and conditions. 
 

 *CMT do not benefit from the Flexi Scheme. 
 
5.7.2 As part of the pay award for National Joint Council for local government services 

(NJC) pay award for 2022 / 23, the NJC agreed that from 1st April 2023, all 
employees covered by this National Agreement, regardless of their current leave 
entitlement or length of service, will receive a permanent increase of one day (pro 
rata for part-timers) to their annual leave entitlement.  The additional 6 days’ annual 
leave includes this one day and is proposed to be implemented with effect from 1st 
January 2023 and not 1st April 2023 to coincide with the Council’s annual leave year 
and is also for all staff and not just those employed on NJC terms and conditions. 

 
5.7.3 Cabinet will note that the changes to this Policy also benefit frontline staff who do not 

have the opportunity to make use of agile working approaches. 
 
5.7.4 The proposal to increase leave is to assist recruitment and retention as the Council is 

not as competitive as other Local Authorities with its current annual leave offer. 
 
5.7.5 The proposed six days additional leave will have revenue budget implications for the 

council due to the need to back-fill front line services, and for adjustments to term-time 
only contracts. The estimated additional annual cost is £2.459m. If the proposal is 
endorsed by Cabinet, growth will be included in the 2023 / 24 Budget Proposals which 
will ultimately be subject to approval by Council on the 23rd February 2023. 

 

Page 7



5.8 Flexi Scheme 
 

5.8.1 The principles of this Scheme are based on equity and fairness, but it must be 
accepted that in the application of this Scheme, there will be different outcomes for 
employees relating to the job that they do, relating to the service, its business needs, 
and its client base. The Scheme does not apply to Corporate Management Team.  

 
5.8.2 The Scheme recognises that the operation of any flexible working hours scheme 

would ideally apply to as many employees as possible. However, a number of 
services will not be able to offer maximum flexibility and, in some cases, they will only 
be able to offer limited flexibility or no flexibility at all. The core operational hours of a 
service must be met and consequently, the level of flexibility that any post offers will 
be confirmed by the Head of Service and led by service’s business needs and the 
client base.  

 
5.8.3 The changes in the Flexi Scheme relating to bandwidth and time accrual changes 

support employees to have additional flexibility where the role supports it and with 
manager authorisation.  The removal of core times and bandwidths is merely 
formalising practices that have developed well during the pandemic, but it does not 
mean that the core hours of the employees’ contract can or will automatically change.  
This must always be subject to consultation.    

 
5.8.4 The main differences between the current scheme and the proposed scheme are 

listed within the table below. 
  

 Current Scheme Proposed Scheme 
 

Bandwidth Mon – Fri 7am – 7pm 
 

None across Mon – Sun 

Core times Must work at least 4 hours a 
day or 2.5 hours if only 
expected to be in for half a 
day. 
 
The above example refers 
to an employee who works a 
7 hour 24 minute shift 
ordinarily.  
 

Must work half of contracted 
shift plus 18 minutes each 
day.  For example, 4 hours 
for a full time employee.  
 
A part time employee who 
works 4 hours a day, must 
work at least 2 hours 18 
minutes a day  
 

Credit & debit 
hours 

Employees cannot go below 
-10 hours and will lose any 
hours in excess of 37 at the 
end of a 12 week flexi 
period. 

Managers will receive a 
notification if an employee 
goes below 10 hours or 
above 37 hours at any point 
over the period of the 
calendar leave year, 
January to December 
 

Flexi leave  No more than 6 full days or 
12 half days in a 12 week 
period (maximum of 24 per 
annum) 

No more than 12 full days or 
24 half days over the period 
of the calendar leave year 
i.e. January to December.  
 
The maximum flexi leave an 
employee can take at any 

Page 8



one time throughout the 
calendar year with manager 
approval will not exceed six 
full days or twelve half days.   
 
Staff will have the 
opportunities to work more 
flexibly to support work life 
balance in accordance with 
service needs. 
 

 
5.9 Mileage Policy 
 
5.9.1 This Policy sets out the principles and rules for claiming travel costs incurred on 

Council business.  In accordance with the categorisation of staff outlined in the Agile 
Working Policy, the revised proposals outline: 

 
i) Employees whose roles that are designated Fixed; Flexible; Mobile have a 

directed workplace for the purpose of submitting travel claims which will either 

be a Council owned building or a Council owned workplace.   

 
These categorisations include employees whose posts support agile working 
in the form of location independence.  These employees will be allocated a 
workplace for the purpose of claiming travelling expenses in the form of a 
dedicated team zone or agile working space in one of our Council buildings. 

 
ii) Employees whose roles are designated as Home (100%) will claim mileage 

expenses from home. 

 
iii) Employees whose roles are designated ‘Community’, offer them no choice 

over where they work but who are directed to work anywhere other than in a 
Council owned building or Council owned workplace, for example to care for 
service users in their own homes, or in the community.  These employees will 
have their ‘workplace’ confirmed as being in the heart of the community.   

 
This will be 0.5 miles away from their home.  The home to work and work to 
home return journey will be no more than 1 mile in total. The exception to this 
will be if the employee’s first call of each day is less than 1 mile away from 
their home.     

 
5.9.2 In accordance with the Policy, the home to permanent workplace and permanent 

workplace to home commute will not be subject to re-imbursement of travel expenses 
or working time at any time of the working day for any employee.  Where any 
employee chooses to return home during their working day only to return to their 
workplace later in the working day, they must do so at their own expense and in their 
own time.  Recalls to work that are unexpected and manager led and which do not 
attract an overtime rate are the exception.    

 
Trade Union Feedback 
 

5.10 To assist Cabinet, Officers have offered comment on Trade Union feedback below. 
The full consultation responses from GMB and Unison are attached at Appendices 5 
and 6 respectively. 

Page 9



 
5.11 Agile Working Policy 

 
5.11.1 The Trade Unions believe that home to designated base mileage i.e. commute 

mileage, should not be deducted from business mileage where a commute to and 
from the designated place of work has not been undertaken i.e. instances when an 
employee is working from home and would go direct to site from their home location 
on Council business.   

 
Officers would like to seek clarity on posts being referred to and how they are 
categorised as Officers believe this is more an issue of post categorisation than a 
policy issue (Mileage or Flexi). 
 
Officers are also concerned that by supporting the staff who benefit from the agile 
working arrangement to claim mileage in this way, it could exacerbate existing 
inequalities with employees with low income and who may be experiencing Income 
Poverty. It is the employees who make up a large proportion of our front-line 
workforce who are more likely not to have the opportunity to work flexibly in their 
posts and who have no option but to travel to work each day at their own time and 
expense.  
 

5.11.2 The Trade Unions appreciate the flexibility the draft policy may offer in terms of 
potentially spreading the working week over 7 days for some, they are resolute that 
this should be a choice for the employee to make and not mandated or expected in 
anyway by Management.  They wish to be absolutely clear that an ‘always on call’ 
culture, be that blatant or subtle, cannot be supported. 

  
Officers agree with this principle.  Paragraph 34 and 35 of this Policy confirms that a 
simplified time recording system is proposed to replace the current time recording 
system to support ‘greater flexibility’ around working time.  In the simplified system, 
there is no bandwidth that restricts working hours, enabling employees to record all 
hours worked at any time of the day throughout Monday to Sunday.   

 
 The Policy does not provide the opportunity to bypass the consultation process if a 

Manager wishes to change the days and hours of service delivery.  Paragraph 41 of 
the Policy confirms this. 

 
5.11.3 The Trade Unions are disappointed that a Home Working Payment/Allowance has not 

been considered. 
 
 Officers advise that this is being considered nationally.  Officers will continue to discuss 

this with the Trade Unions. 
 
5.11.4 The Trade Unions have requested that any additional cost an employee encounters to 

their home insurance as a result of working from home is reimbursed in full. 
 
 Officers can confirm that any such additional payments may be given consideration.  
 
5.11.5 The Trade Unions have requested that the Council’s Employer’s Liability Insurance 

and Public Liability Insurance ‘rules’ are set out in detail.   
  
 Officers will include these in Frequently Asked Questions / supporting information. 
 
5.11.6 The Trade Unions believe that the statement in the policy that managers must be 

able to ‘ensure that they know where the employee is and what they are doing’ is 

Page 10



unnecessary and does not engender a culture of trust within the organisation.  They 
are also concerned that some managers may take this literally and enforce 
unnecessary monitoring practices upon staff which will be burdensome and lead to 
bureaucratic and inefficient working practices.  They consider such a practice to be 
outdated and not in keeping with a progressive outcomes-based organisation.   

 
It is the view of officers that it is important and responsible that Managers know 
where employees are for health & safety reasons, including lone working.  It also 
underpins the requirements of good management and supports staff wellbeing.  It is 
unrealistic for a manager not to be able to know or ask where their staff members 
are. 

 
5.11.7 The Trade Unions wish to see the Council’s responsibilities as an employer clearly 

incorporated into the Policy  
 

Officers believe these are set out, but will review this with the Trade Unions.  
 
5.12 Mileage Scheme 
 
5.12.1 The Trade Unions are less supportive of the proposals of how staff categorised as 

Flexible and Mobile are reimbursed for business mileage when commencing a journey 
from home and would like further negotiations in relation to this.   

 

Officers would like to seek clarity on posts being referred to and how they are 
categorised as Officers believe this is more an issue of post categorisation than a 
policy issue (Mileage or Flexi). 
 
Officers are also concerned that by supporting the staff who benefit from the agile 
working arrangement to claim mileage in this way, it could exacerbate existing 
inequalities with employees with low income and who may be experiencing Income 
Poverty. It is the employees who make up a large proportion of our front-line 
workforce who are more likely not to have the opportunity to work flexibly in their 
posts and who have no option but to travel to work each day at their own time and 
expense.  
 

5.13 Annual Leave Policy 

 

5.13.1 The Trade Unions would like to see discretion within the draft policy to allow a 
member of staff to carry forward more than 5 days 

 

Officers have amended the Policy to reflect this. 

 

5.13.2 The Trade Unions would also wish to see the possibility of staff being able to 
purchase additional annual leave added to the policy as a discretionary element. 

 

Officers suggest this is included as a question in the next staff survey and a view 
gauged as to whether staff would wish to see it included in the policy as there is 
currently a proposal in the draft Policy for an additional 6 days annual leave for all 
staff. However, overall consideration must be given to the importance of annual leave 
as it offers the opportunity to take appropriate time away from the organisation to fully 
rest both physically and mentally.   
 

5.14 Flexi Scheme 

Page 11



 

5.14.1 The Trade Unions would expect that should the needs of the service change and 
require staff to change terms and conditions of their contracted working hours this 
would be carried out in full consultation with the recognised Trade Unions.   
 

 Officers agree.  The Policy confirms that a simplified time recording system is proposed 
to replace the current time recording system to support of ‘greater flexibility’ around 
working time.   The Policy does not provide the opportunity to bypass the consultation 
process if a Manager wishes to change the days and hours of service delivery. 

 

5.14.2 The Trade Unions disagree that no payment of flexi will be made to an employee 

upon termination of their contract, however, if the employee is in a deficit situation, 

the deficit hours will be reclaimed. 

 

 Officers advise that employees should be encouraged to take their flexi before they 

leave.   

 

5.15 Conclusion   

 
The Council recognises that our workforce has been innovative, collaborative, 
resilient and resourceful in the face of extreme pressure from early 2020 and it has 
embraced the opportunities that agile working arrangements provide.  These draft 
policies support a modern model of working wherever possible in the Council, which 
can improve service delivery, support inclusion and diversity, the better health and 
wellbeing of our employees, improve work life balance, employee engagement, and 
mitigate our carbon footprint with reduced travel.   
 

 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 No assumptions have been made in this report.   

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 The Integrated Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix 7 and covers the 4 draft 
policies. 

 
7.2 The implementation of a sustainable model of flexible/agile working for the Council 

has been identified as a priority action and the proposed Agile Working Policy and 
Flexi Scheme have been created and reviewed to ensure they are inclusive, fit-for-
purpose and reflective of these Council’s values. 

 
7.3 The policies and schemes acknowledge that not all jobs or employee situations will 

be suitable for agile and flexible working.  Whilst the principles of the Agile Working 
Policy and Flexi Scheme are based on equity and fairness, it must be accepted that 
in the application of these policies, there will be different outcomes for employees 
relating to the jobs that they do, the business needs of the service they work in and 
its client base.  

Page 12



  
7.4 It is important however to note that the Agile Working Policy and Flexi Scheme in the 

way that they are designed, support personal choice, albeit this has to be balanced 
against service needs.   

 
7.5 These policies and schemes support the Council’s vision for sustainable 

development which places an emphasis on the importance of economic growth, de-
carbonisation and the health and well-being of our employees.  The Council fully 
endorses and is committed to developing and resourcing agile working across our 
Council on a sustainable basis.  The Council vision aligns to Welsh Government’s 
vision to support agile working/remote Working across Wales.  

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 As mentioned in paragraph 5.7.5 the proposed six days additional leave will have 

revenue budget implications for the council due to the need to back-fill front line 
services, and for adjustments to term-time only contracts. The estimated additional 
annual cost is £2.459m. If the proposal is endorsed by Cabinet, growth will be 
included in the 2023 / 24 Budget Proposals which will ultimately be subject to 
approval by Council on the 23rd February 2023.  

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 The personnel implications are included in the report. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 The consultation responses have been taken into consideration when drafting the 

policies and schemes.  The written feedback from GMB and Unison is attached at 
Appendices 5 and 6 respectively.  Views from Policy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee will be provided verbally to Cabinet. 

 
10.2 In addition to the consultees listed on this report, Heads of Service, HR Strategy 

Group and the HR Management Team have also been consulted on the policies  
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Local Government Act 1972  
 
 
Author:        Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services  
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

David Street, Corporate Director Social Services and Housing 
 Mark S. Williams, Corporate Director Economy and Environment 
 Cllr Nigel George, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Property 
 Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 Nicola Chapman, HR Service Manager 
 Lisa Downey, HR Service Manager 
 Emma Townsend, Health and Safety Manager 

Page 13



 Trade Unions – GMB, UNISON, Unite 
 Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Agile Working Policy (draft) 
Appendix 2 Annual Leave Policy (draft) 
Appendix 3 Flexi Scheme (draft) 
Appendix 4 Mileage Scheme (draft) 
Appendix 5 GMB feedback 
Appendix 6 Unison feedback 
Appendix 7 Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Report to Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 27th September 2022 ‘UPDATE ON 
AGILE WORKING’ 
Report to Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 9th November 2021 ‘TEAM CAERPHILLY 
BETTER TOGETHER TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY 6 MONTH UPDATE’ 
Report to Policy & Resources Scrutiny 28th September 2021 ‘EMPLOYEE WELLBEING 
STRATEGY 2021 – 24’ 
Report to Policy & Resources Scrutiny 28th September 2021 ‘WORKFORCE 
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2021 – 24’ 
Report to Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 6TH April 2021 ‘TEAM CAERPHILLY 
BETTER TOGETHER TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY 6 MONTH UPDATE’ 
Cabinet 12th June 2019 ‘FUTURE CAERPHILLY TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY - 
#TEAMCAERPHILLY – BETTER TOGETHER’ 
 
 

Page 14



 

 

 

Appendix 1 

AGILE WORKING POLICY 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Version: Version 1 – December 2022 
Policy Ratified By:  Cabinet 

Date Policy Ratified:  
Effective Date of Policy  

Review Year: Biennial 
Applicable To: All Caerphilly employed staff whose posts are 

designated ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ or ‘Flexible’.  

Equalities: Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg, ac mewn 
ieithoedd a fformatau eraill ar gais. 
 
This document is available in Welsh, and in other 
languages and formats on request. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

INDEX 

SUBJECT PAGE NUMBER 

Introduction 3 

Policy Scope 4 

Main Considerations 5 

Office Space for the Agile Worker 5 

Working Time and the Agile Worker 6 

Greater Time Flexibility Explained 7 

Communication and Contact 7 

SUPPORTING SAFE AGILE WORKING PRACTICES 

 
Remote Working and Data Protection 

Health and Safety 

Property and Insurance 

8 

8 

9 

9 

Personal Expenses 

Mileage Claims 

Working from Home Expenses 

Other Expenses 

9 

9 

10 

10 

INTERPRETATION OF THE POLICY 10 

REVIEW OF THE AGILE WORKING ARRANGEMENT 10 

 

  

Page 16



 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. At Caerphilly County Borough Council our workforce has been innovative, collaborative, 
resilient and resourceful in the face of extreme pressure and from early 2020, we have 
embraced the opportunities that agile working arrangements provide.   

 
2. Aligned to our vision for sustainable development which places an emphasis on the 

importance of economic growth, de-carbonisation and the health and well-being of our 
employees, we fully endorse and are committed to developing and resourcing agile 
working across our Council on a sustainable basis.   

 
3. Tailored to meet the complex and varying needs of our services, ‘Agile Working’ is a 

transformational tool that allows us to work smarter by eliminating all barriers to working 
efficiently.  It can promote maximum flexibility and minimum constraints in terms of 
promoting choice of location and working time to enable employees to optimise their 
performance in their delivery of the Council’s business.  

 
4. Using the categorisations of ‘Fixed’, ‘Flexible, ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ and ‘Community’ as below, 

our Heads of Service have quantified the basic level of location and time flexibility that 
exists in every one of the services provided by the Council:  

 

Category Role Determining Factors 
 

Fixed Your role requires you to work in a fixed location all the time.   You 
may need a desk in a fixed location, for example, a reception area. 
You may share that desk. You may need to use specialist equipment 
which cannot be moved.  
 
Your role is location dependent. 
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Flexible You may spend time in the office but you may also choose to work 
from home or out and about.  You could work  
from any office or from home given the right equipment and access to 
systems.   
 
Your contractual work base will remain as the Council offices. You will 
be required to attend the Council offices when asked to do so by your 
manager e.g. for meetings, specific tasks, supervision and appraisals.  
 
Your role is location independent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Mobile You have an office base or you can choose to work from home but 
spend more than half your time out on site either visiting customers, 
residents or businesses at various locations.  
 
Your role is location independent if you can also choose to work from 
home rather than the office.   If not, your role is location dependent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Home Through mutual agreement, a homeworking agreement is in place 
that confirms your entitlement to work from home a 100% of the time.  
 
Your home is your work base. 
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Page 17



 

 

 

 
 
5. Heads of Service will regularly review the ongoing relevance of the categorisations of 

‘Fixed’; ‘Flexible’; ‘Mobile’; ‘Home’ and ‘Community’ in their individual service areas linked 
to business needs.  They will also ensure the relevant categorisation of any new post that 
they introduce to the service. 

 
6. In the agile working arrangement, work becomes something that we do, not somewhere 

we go.  Employees whose jobs are location independent will be trusted to work from any 
location.  This could be from a Council building, from home, in the heart of the community 
or in line with individual preference, any combination of these.  

 
7. Where job roles also support time independence, this can lead to Heads of Service 

entrusting staff to have more control over when they work.   
 

8. We know that by introducing this new modern model of working wherever possible in the 
Council, we can amongst many other benefits, improve service delivery. We can also 
support inclusion and diversity, the better health and wellbeing of our employees, improve 
work life balance, employee engagement, and mitigate our carbon footprint with reduced 
travel.   

 
 
POLICY SCOPE 

 
9. This Policy applies to employees whose posts in the Council are location independent and 

time independent in line with the post categorisation table shown on page 3.  These are 
the posts that offer the employee choice over where and when to work.  

 
10. This Policy also applies in part to employees in the Council whose posts are time 

independent but not location independent.  These are the posts that offer some or 
significant flexibility over when to work but no choice over where to work.  

 
11. This Policy does not apply to employees whose posts in the Council are location 

dependent and time dependent.  For example, schools and customer facing front line 
service roles in care and waste collection.  There are many roles in the Council that will 
require the employee to always attend a specified workplace at a specified time.   

 
12. The Council’s recognised trade unions have been consulted on the introduction of this 

policy.  
 

13. The effective date of this policy is (Insert Date). 
 
 
 
 
 

Community  Your role has never required you to attend an office base or 
designated Council building.  You leave home each day to work in the 
heart of community, for example visiting clients’ homes for the 
purpose of providing care.  
 
Your role is location dependent as you provide a service to residents / 
clients in their homes or in the community.    
Your role could be time dependent or independent, depending on the 
service being provided.   

Page 18



 

 

 

MAIN CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

14. Agile working can produce benefits and innovation through collaboration.  With a particular 
focus on customer satisfaction, quality, teamwork and effective management, this modern 
way of working can provide mutual benefits for the Council and the employee. 

 
15. The agile working arrangement supports flexibility and thus it is difficult to establish a rigid 

set of rules around it.  Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile working. 
Some jobs are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be 
considered safe and secure in individual circumstances. 

 
16. The principles of this Policy are based on equity and fairness, but it must be accepted that 

in the application of this Policy, there will be different outcomes for employees relating to 
the job that they do, relating to the service, its business needs, and its client base.  

 
17. Heads of Service/Managers must ensure employees working in an agile way are clear of 

the expectations on them and that effective communication and an effective managerial 
relationship is maintained.    

 
18. Employees must take responsibility for the security of Council equipment and for sensitive, 

confidential data.  They must continue to comply with the Data Protection Act, reporting 
data breaches or loss or theft of such to the Council immediately.  While working in an 
agile way, employees remain accountable to all the Council Policies that underpin their 
employment.  

 
19. Employees are required to familiarise themselves with this Policy, and with the health and 

safety requirements relating to agile working.  Employees must ensure that they protect 
their own health, safety and wellbeing when working in an agile way.  

 

20. It is important that all employees limit their travel to achieve the environmental benefits of 
agile working. Teams conferencing is to be used wherever possible and appropriate to do 
so in place of travelling to meetings.  

 
21. Working outside of the UK is not permitted. The agile worker must be available to attend 

the office base at any time.  
 

22. We recognise that most of the jobs that do not suit agile working in terms of where to work 
and when to work will be in the lower quartiles of the Council’s pay bandings.  This policy 
is considerate of this in supporting equity and fairness when considering any personal 
expenses that underpin this policy.  

 
23. If an employee is disabled and does not already have access to the beneficial aspects of 

this Policy and/or limited access to the benefits of this Policy, accessibility issues must be 
considered to enable them to take part. 

 

 
OFFICE SPACE FOR THE AGILE WORKER 

 
24. All jobs that suit agile working will require attendance at an office base for the delivery of 

essential services and/or the undertaking of some essential tasks.  For this purpose and 
for the purpose of claiming business mileage, every employee whose post has been 
designated ‘fixed’; ‘flexible’, or ‘mobile’ will be allocated a designated office building, which 
could be in the form of a department/team zone and/or agile workspace.   

 

Page 19



 

 

 

25. The agile workspace will be modernised to deliver an inviting and aesthetically pleasing 
workspace.  Our administrative buildings will be repurposed to provide an appropriate mix 
of fixed desks / hot desks, touch down points, quiet space, and meeting space to effect 
this. 

 
26. In the repurposed workspace, there are limited storage facilities and all who work in that 

space will be expected to use the electronic storage on their laptop.  A clear desk policy 
applies. 

 
27. No limitation on employee attendance at the office is envisaged but this assumes that all 

who can work in an agile way will be taking advantage of the opportunity to do so.  

 

28. Attendance at the office will be directed by the Head of Service in consultation with their 
teams to suit business needs and team development as appropriate. Any directed 
attendance at the office will be subject to regular review in line with business needs. 

 

29. Heads of Service will advise and keep their teams informed of the agile working space 
that is available for use and they will outline any limitations that may accompany its use. 

 
 
WORKING TIME FOR THE AGILE WORKER 
 

30. The agile working arrangement must support the employee to meet their contractual 
working hours, but it may also offer them greater freedom over when they can work.   

 
31. Heads of Service and their management teams will continue to plan and agree a work 

programme that ensures business continuity. This will include communicating the core 
operational hours of the service/team.  

 
32. In supporting flexibility of working time, managers must be able to:  
 

a. effectively organise work amongst team members aligned to the working hours of 
the client/customer base;  

b. ensure that they know where the employee is and what they are doing;   
c. set and monitor work performance and output expectations.  

 
33. Employees must be able to: 
 

a. commit to work rotas and/or work collaboratively with their colleagues to ensure 
work attendance around the core hours of the client/customer base, 

b. ensure the delivery of essential services/the undertaking of essential tasks and,   
c. meet work performance and output expectations. 

 
34. In support of the agile working arrangement, managers will entrust employees to work 

effectively with team colleagues to ensure that the core hours of the business of the service 
are consistently covered.   

 
35. In support of ‘greater flexibility’ around working time, a simplified time recording system 

has replaced the current time recording system.  In the simplified system, there is no 
bandwidth that restricts working hours.   

 
36. The simplified time recording system will enable employees to record all hours worked at 

any time of the day throughout Monday to Sunday.  Employees must continue to clock in 

Page 20



 

 

 

and out and/or keep a transparent record of their working time in line with the agreed 
process of the service/team.  

 
 

GREATER TIME FLEXIBLITY EXPLAINED 

 
37. Where the work of the service/team supports time ‘flexibility’, employees in collaboration 

with their colleagues and manager, may be entrusted to have greater control over their 
working hours.  They could choose for example, with the permission of their manager, to 
manage their working time around their childcare, caring and/or work life balance 
preferences, providing that service needs can be met. 

 
38. An employee could with the permission of their manager, work in ‘bursts of time’ 

throughout the day, stepping out of work for the school run/for caring responsibilities, or 
for a fitness class or to take the dog for a walk/take themselves for a walk, etc. providing 
that this is supported by service needs and does not negatively impact business delivery.  

 
39. Having a greater expanse of days and hours to work over makes it easier for the employee 

to manage their working time and commit to their contractual working hours.  An employee 
who works Monday to Friday may welcome the opportunity to catch up with some work in 
the early morning/late evening and/or on the weekend if it suits them to do so and if the 
post offers them this level of flexibility whilst supporting the needs of the service and 
business delivery.    

 
40. Greater flexibility over ‘when to work’, does not mean that employees can fundamentally 

change their core working days which have to be aligned to business needs, without the 
prior agreement of their Manager/Head of Service.   This means that employees who work 
Monday to Friday will still be expected to be in work predominantly on those days unless 
the needs of the service change.   

 
41. Greater flexibility over ‘when to work’ also does not mean that the Council can 

fundamentally change the core working days/core working hours of the employee under 
this Policy. If the service is proposing employment contract changes, the service must 
fully consult with all affected employees and any relevant employee representatives. 

 
42. Absence from work on any contracted day must be requested as usual in line with the 

Council’s annual leave, flexi leave and leave of absence policies. Employees must work 
more than half of the hours of their contracted shift for this requirement not to apply.  For 
example, an employee whose contractual working hours are 7 hours 24 minutes a day 
must work at least 4 hours.    

 
43. The extent to which a job will offer time flexibility will depend on the business needs and 

the client base of the service.  Heads of Service via their management teams will ensure 
that employees are aware of the level of flexibility the service can reasonably support.  

 
44. There will always be jobs that support very little or no working time flexibility. Public facing 

front line roles that can operate remotely may fit this description.  In some services, the 
need to commit to the office hours of 8:30am to 5:00pm or an alternative bandwidth of 
hours to meet customer expectations may remain necessary.  

 
 

COMMUNICATION AND CONTACT 

 
45. In the agile working arrangement, openness, team communication and learning from each 

other remains as important as ever.  Building in regular social and human connection 

Page 21



 

 

 

opportunities into the agile working arrangement can support employee engagement and 
assist team building. 
 

46. Arrangements must be made for effective communication to be maintained between 
employees, line managers and colleagues.  It is essential for regular team meetings and 
“My Time” meetings to be held.  

 
47. Communication and support channels must also be made available. 

 
48. Our digital journey supports the agile workforce to communicate and remain in contact 

using a modern desktop.   
 

49. All employees are provided with laptops with an integrated phone system and video 
conferencing facilities. This ensures that employees when not in the office, are contactable 
as if they were. 

 
50. Whether working at home, working in the community, or working in the office, the laptop 

supports the same level of contact.  The device is mobile and will need to accompany the 
employee wherever they choose to work, including to the office, if the functionality of a 
laptop is needed for work that day. Laptops have predominantly replaced workplace PC’s 
and workplace I-Gels.  

 
51. Electronic diaries must be always used, and they must be open for colleagues to view. 

Employees must ensure that their contact details are up to date. 
 

52. The Digihub, which is presented and administered by the Council’s Digital Services team, 
dedicates a whole section to remote working which is full of information and advice 
including good tips about maintaining security when using the Council’s devices. 

 
53. Any employee undertaking client visits or attending meetings must follow the same “lone 

working principles” of contact that they would if leaving from the office. 
 
 
SUPPORTING SAFE AGILE WORKING PRACTICES 

 
Remote Working and Data Protection:  

54. In the agile working arrangement, the employee must take relevant action to safeguard 
themselves, service users and the Council.   

55. On the matter of data protection, employees must: 

a. be aware of the environment/surroundings when working, especially if working in 
public spaces; 

b. keep work mobile devices safe and maintain information securely ensuring that 
family members, visitors and others are not able to view Council information, and/or 
overhear confidential conversations.  This includes voice controlled electronic 
devices such as Alexa and Amazon Echo and public wi-fi;  

c. ensure a secure place to store any information taken from the workplace when it is 
not in use; 
 

d. never dispose of confidential information in household/public waste;  
 

e. always use the Council’s Virtual Private Network (VPN) to access information and 
if using their own device, always remember to connect using 

Page 22

http://sc-apegovp2/digihub/#next


 

 

 

Council-issued token/app so that the information being worked on remains within 
the Council’s secure networks.  Saving work to personal devices is not permitted. 
 

f. ensure compliance with the Council’s IT Policies and report any matters of potential 
data breach in line with the Council’s procedure. (Insert relevant link).   

 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY:  

 
56. The incorrect setup of workstations (including chairs, monitors, keyboards, mouse, and 

desk layout) is a common cause of discomfort in the back, arms, and hands of users of 
such equipment. 
 

57. Employees working from home are required to have a suitable and compliant workspace. 
They will be required to complete a DSE Homeworking Self-Assessment Form and 
discuss any concerns with their Line Manager.  

 
58. Employees that work in a CCBC office will be required to complete a DSE Workstation 

Risk Assessment Form. Employees that work at multiple locations will be required to 
implement the principles of safe DSE working at each workstation, for e.g. chair, screen 
and keyboard adjustments. 

 
59. Employees who need to carry equipment and documents must ensure they use handling 

aids where required such as trolleys and carriers.  
 

60. Resources including guidance and videos that set out responsibilities and advise on how 
to set up workstations correctly is available on the Council’s Health & Safety Intranet Page 
(Insert relevant link).   

 
 
PROPERTY AND INSURANCE 

 
61. Computers, laptops, phones, and other items of equipment provided by the Council are 

covered by the Council’s insurance policy.  
 
62. If working from home, employees should inform their household insurer of this fact.  This 

should not result in any increase in personal cost.   
 
63. The Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development suggest that employees should 

also inform their mortgage lender. 
 
64. Employees working at home are covered by the Council’s Employer’s Liability Insurance 

and Public Liability Insurance in the same way as if they were working from an office, 
providing that employees adhere to this Agile Working Policy and associated guidelines. 

 
 

PERSONAL EXPENSES 

 
Mileage claims:  

 
65. Every employee who can work agile (i.e. where posts are categorised as ‘flexible’ or 

‘mobile’) will be able to access a designated office base and there is an expectation that 
these employees will be required to attend the office in accordance with service needs.    

 

Page 23

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/HR/Health-Safety/Documents/DSE-Homeworking-Self-Assessment-Form-(1).aspx


 

 

 

66. For employees whose posts are designated ‘flexible’ or ‘mobile’, mileage claims will be 
reimbursed under the same terms and conditions for claiming expenses that apply to all 
employees whose posts are designated ‘fixed’.  The employees whose roles are 
designated as ‘fixed’ are required to travel to work each day. The mileage scheme can be 
seen here (insert relevant hyperlink).  

 
67. Travel time and mileage incurred between the designated office base for employees 

whose posts are designated ‘fixed’; ‘flexible’; or ‘mobile’ is not refundable.  Refer to 
mileage scheme for further information. 

 
68. If the employee chooses of their own volition to travel to an alternative workplace that is 

not their office base and incurs additional mileage because of this, they may do so but at 
their own expense.    

 
69. For employees whose posts are designated ‘home’ or ‘community’, please refer to the 

mileage scheme for further detail.    
 
Working from home expenses: 

 
70. It is anticipated that, in the majority of cases, the costs of working from home will be offset 

by the savings in the cost and time of commuting to work, and the benefits of an improved 
work/life balance. Therefore, any additional costs incurred by working at home will not be 
met by the Council.  
 

71. HMRC and Tax relief.  In accordance with HMRC guidance, employees cannot claim tax 
relief if they choose to work from home. This includes if the employment contract lets them 
work from home some or all of the time or they work from home because of COVID-19 or 
the employer has an office that they cannot always go to because sometimes it is full.   
 
Other expenses:  

 
72. Employees should speak to their manager about any furniture and/or additional equipment 

they require to undertake their jobs remotely.  These resources may be provided at the 
Council’s expense wherever appropriate.  

 
 
INTERPRETATION OF THE POLICY 

 
73. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of the policy, the Head of People 

Services or a HR Service Manager along with a Corporate Director in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services will make the final decision on interpretation.  

 
 
REVIEW OF THE AGILE WORKING ARRANGEMENT 

 
74. Not all agile working arrangements will be successful either from the service point of view 

or the individual’s point of view, so they must be subject to regular review. 
 

75. Managers will only stop agile working arrangements for sound business or performance 
reasons and after consulting fully with the employee. 

 
76. An employee who disagrees with their manager’s position on the agile working 

arrangement, may issue an appeal to their Head of Service.    

Page 24



 
 

Appendix 2 

ANNUAL LEAVE POLICY 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version: Version 1 – December 2022 
Policy Ratified By:  Cabinet 

Date Policy Ratified:  
Effective Date of Policy  

Review Year: Biennial 
Applicable To: All Caerphilly employed staff including school-

based support staff where the governing body 
adopts the Policy.  

Equalities: Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg, ac mewn 
ieithoedd a fformatau eraill ar gais. 
 
This document is available in Welsh, and in other 
languages and formats on request. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 25



 
 

 

INDEX 

SUBJECT PAGE NUMBER 

Introduction 3 

Policy Scope 3 

Statutory and Contractual entitlement to paid holiday time 3 

Annual Leave Entitlement 4 

Bank or Public Holiday (Statutory Days) 4 

The Taking of Annual Leave 5 

Annual Leave – Leavers and Joiners 5 

Employees who work additional hours 6 

Reporting Sick during a period of annual leave 6 

Annual Leave and Long-Term Absence 7 

Taking Annual Leave during Sickness Absence 8 

Annual Leave and Maternity and Adoption Leave 8 

Annual Leave and Paternity and Shared Parental Leave  9 

Annual Leave and Career Break 9 

Interpretation of Policy 9 

Review of Policy 9 

 

  

Page 26



 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. At Caerphilly County Borough Council our workforce continues to be innovative, 
collaborative, resilient and resourceful in the face of extreme pressure and we recognise 
that paid holiday entitlement is fundamental to supporting our employees’ health and 
wellbeing.  
 

2. All employees covered by this policy can expect to be treated fairly and consistently and 
be confident that their statutory and contractual entitlements to paid holiday time are 
complied with.  

 
 
POLICY SCOPE 
 

3. This policy applies to all employees covered by the NJC for Local Government Services 
terms and conditions of employment and the Council’s Single Status Agreement.  This 
policy also includes employees whose pay terms are covered by the JNC for Chief 
Executives and the JNC for Chief Officers of Local Authorities terms and conditions of 
employment and to the JNC for Youth and Communities and Soulbury Committees.   
 

4. This Policy does not apply to school-based support staff for whom the Governing Body 
sets the local terms and conditions of employment. The leave entitlement referred to 
herein however will be presented to schools and recommended for adoption with a view 
to sustaining our Council’s Single Status position and to ensure the equitable calculation 
of term time only holiday pay. 

 
5. This Policy does not apply in any capacity to Teaching staff who are governed by the 

School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Document (STPC(W)D) and Staffing of Maintained 
Schools (Wales) Regulations 2006.  

 
6. The Council’s recognised Trade Unions have been consulted on the introduction of this 

policy.  
 

7. The effective date of this policy is (Insert Date) and it supersedes all earlier policies 
 

 
STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL ENTITLEMENT TO PAID HOLIDAY TIME 

 
8. There are three different categories of paid holiday leave: 

 
9. Type One is the statutory annual leave that originates in EU law and gives workers four 

weeks’ paid holiday. This type of leave come from the Working Time Regulations 1998 
and must follow EU and European Court of Justice (ECJ) requirements.   

 
N.B: These 4 weeks of statutory leave must be used in the annual leave year to which it 
applies and cannot be carried over to the next leave year in ordinary circumstances.  There 
are however a few exceptions to this rule, which are highlighted in the detail of this Policy.  

 
10. Type Two is the statutory annual leave that originates in UK law and gives workers 1.6 

weeks’ paid holiday.  This type of annual leave is also found in the Working Time 
Regulations, but it does not have to follow EU or ECJ requirements (although the UK 
courts can choose to follow them in some instances).  
 

11. Type Three is contractual annual leave, which the Council does provide above and 

beyond the statutory requirements in the Regulations.  

Page 27



 
 

 
12. With regard to the leave referred to in points 9, 10 and 11, the Council, in exercising its 

discretionary responsibility supports no more than one week carry over of annual leave 
from one leave year to the next.  Where an employee has more than one week of untaken 
annual leave at the end of their annual leave year, any untaken annual leave over the one 
week that the employee does not take, will be lost. The exception to this is where the Head 
of Service and Director have agreed to a higher leave carry over in support requests from 
employees in exceptional circumstances.  If the exigencies of the Service have hindered 
the taking of the leave at the end of the leave year, the outstanding leave balance will be 
carried over. 

 
13. The Council will not as a general rule make a payment to employees in respect of “lost” 

untaken annual leave.  The Council does however reserve the right to make a payment 
for annual leave on the termination of employment where the exigencies of the service 
prevent the taking of the leave.  

 
 
ANNUAL LEAVE ENTITLEMENT 
 
14. Employees who work 5 days a week over 52.143 weeks of the year have an annual leave 

entitlement amounting to:  
 

30 days per annum For up to 5 years’ continuous local government 
service  

34 days per annum For 5 years or more continuous local government 
service  

 
N.B. The above leave entitlements include the former locally agreed Extra Statutory days 
and the additional leave day that was included in the NJC April 2022 pay award.  

 
15. Part Time employees will have a pro-rata entitlement to the annual leave days referred to 

in Point 14 above.  
 
16. The additional entitlement for employees who attain 5 years’ continuous service will be 

calculated from the date of the employment anniversary and is calculated pro-rata for the 
annual leave year. 

 
17. Corporate Management Team’s annual leave entitlement is 39 days per annum, 

regardless of Service. They do not benefit from a further entitlement to annual leave with 
reference to years served.   
 

18. Continuous Local Government Service in relation to this Annual Leave Policy applies to 
employees covered by the NJC for Local Government Services, JNC for Chief Officers, 
JNC for Youth and Community Services and Soulbury Committees. 

 
 
BANK (OR PUBLIC) HOLIDAY AND STATUTORY DAYS  

 
19. Employees will receive a paid bank holiday entitlement in addition to their annual leave 

entitlement.  
 

20. The Bank Holiday entitlement, assuming an employee is continuously employed for the 
period 1 January to 31 December, is 9 days.  
 
The Council recognises the eight statutory bank holidays, which are: 

Page 28



 
 

 

 New Year’s Day 

 Good Friday 
 Easter Monday 

 Early May Bank Holiday 

 Spring Bank Holiday 

 August Bank Holiday  

 Christmas Day 

 Boxing Day and,   

 One extra statutory holiday day which follows Boxing Day each year.  
 

21. Part time employees will receive a pro-rata entitlement to Bank Holiday based on their 
contract hours.   

 
22. Bank Holiday entitlement accrues over the year and should not be pre-calculated at the 

start of a financial year. Bank Holiday entitlement starts to build up from the moment 
an employee starts work.   
 

23. Managers should be fair and reasonable when drawing up rotas for Bank Holiday cover 
to ensure that cover is shared fairly amongst the applicable employees. 

 
 
THE TAKING OF ANNUAL LEAVE 

 
24. Employees must make every effort to take their full annual leave entitlement during the 

calendar leave year January to December.  Employees must request authorisation from 
their managers to take annual leave as soon as practically possible. 

 
25. Employees may carry over up to one week of their annual leave into the following leave 

year with the prior approval of their manager.  The exception to this is where the Head 
of Service and Director have agreed to a higher leave carry over in support requests 
from employees in exceptional circumstances.  If the exigencies of the Service have 
hindered the taking of the leave at the end of the leave year, the outstanding leave 
balance will be carried over. 

 
26. Carried over leave should be used as soon as is reasonably possible in the new holiday 

year.  
 
27. All annual leave requests must be approved in advance wherever possible, by the 

employee's Manager. If an employee wishes to request to take a block of annual leave, 
they must provide their Manager with as much notice as possible. The request for leave 
will be agreed in line with the operational requirements of the service. 

 
28. There may be a need for employees to retain some leave to cover planned closures, for 

example the Christmas Closedown period. 
 
 
ANNUAL LEAVE – LEAVERS AND JOINERS 

 
29. The additional entitlement for employees who attain 5 years’ continuous service during 

a calendar year will be pro-rata for the annual leave year in which that additional 
entitlement falls. 

 

Page 29



 
 

30. Annual leave entitlement from previous employers, including other Local Authorities, 
must be settled with them before beginning employment with Caerphilly CBC.  No carry 
over of leave from any former employer will be supported.  

 
31. Where an employee seeks to call upon continuous Local Government Service, the date 

of continuous service must be confirmed by the former employer at the appointment 
stage. In terms of this policy, continuous local government service only applies to 
employees covered by the National Joint Council for Local Government Services, Joint 
National Council for Youth and Community Services and the Soulbury Committees in 
respect of annual leave accrual.  

 
32. The annual leave year date for new employees joining the Council is 1 January to 31 

December. When employees join the Council after the commencement of the leave 
year, their annual leave entitlement for that year will be calculated from the first day of 
their employment with the Council to the end of the annual leave year on a pro-rata 
basis.   

 
33. The annual leave entitlement of an employee leaving the Council before the end of the 

annual leave year will be recalculated from the beginning of the leave year up to the last 
day of employment with the Council on a pro-rata basis.   

 
34. Employees shall make every reasonable effort to take all remaining annual leave due to 

them before they leave the Council. The Council can require the employee to take any 
unused annual leave during the notice period and prior to the termination of employment.   

 
35. Any annual leave taken over and above the allocated entitlement will be deducted from 

the employee’s final salary payment.  
 
36. Annual leave entitlement for employees joining or leaving the Council is calculated on a 

proportionate basis. Any fraction of a day equal to less than half a day will be treated as 
a half day. Any fraction of a day equal to over half a day shall be treated as a whole day.  

 
 
EMPLOYEES WHO WORK ADDITIONAL HOURS 

 
37. Employees who work part time, i.e., less than 37 hours each week, will receive 

compensation for annual leave relevant to any basic additional hours that they work up 
to 37 in any week. 

 
38. Employees who work additional hours will receive a pro-rata entitlement to annual leave, 

calculated on a monthly basis, expressed in hours.  This additional annual leave 
entitlement will be paid to the employee via the Payroll on a monthly basis.  

 
39. Employees will also receive compensation for annual leave relevant to working a night 

shift, overtime shift, sleep in, and standby shift.   
 

40. All payments made for working additional hours will be made in accordance with ACAS 
Guidance.  

 
 
REPORTING SICK DURING A PERIOD OF ANNUAL LEAVE 

 
41. If an employee becomes sick or is injured whilst on annual leave, they may transfer their 

annual leave to absence due to sickness and take the replacement annual leave at a 
later time. This is subject to the following strict conditions:  

Page 30



 
 

 
42. The total period of incapacity must be fully certificated by a qualified medical practitioner.  

 
43. The employee, or in exceptional circumstances someone acting on their behalf, must 

contact their Line Manager by telephone, as soon as practical, on the first day of any 
known period of incapacity during the period of annual leave, even if they are overseas.  

 
44. The employee must submit a written request to their Head of Service no later than 10 

working days after returning to work setting out how much of the annual leave period 
was affected by sickness and the amount of annual leave that the employee wishes to 
take at another time.  

 
45. Where the employee is overseas when they fall ill or injured, evidence must still be 

produced that the employee was ill either by a medical certificate or proof of a claim on 
an insurance policy for medical treatment received at the overseas location. All costs of 
medical certification are incurred by the employee.  

 
46. Where the employee fulfils all the above conditions, the Council will grant the employee 

the same number of days' replacement annual leave in the current leave year as the 
number of annual leave days lost due to sickness or injury.  

 
47. The replacement leave must be taken in the employee’s current leave year wherever 

practicably possible and in accordance with service needs. The rules relating to carry 
over of leave as referred to in point 25 apply here.  A maximum of one week carry over 
into the following leave year will be supported, or more in exceptional circumstances and 
any carry over of leave is to be taken as soon as possible in the new leave year. Refer 
to the Section below if the employee takes long term sick and/or does not return to work 
before the end of the calendar year.  

 
48. If an employee is ill or is injured and reports absent from work as a result of this before 

the start of a period of planned annual leave, the Council will agree to the employee 
postponing the annual leave dates to another mutually agreed time in that leave year 
whenever possible. The employee must submit a written request to postpone the 
planned annual leave and this must be accompanied by a fit note from their doctor 
confirming that they are unfit, or are still likely to be unfit, to take the annual leave. The 
Service may require an employee to take all, or part of their replacement leave on 
particular days because of operational requirements. 

 
49. Where leave cannot be taken within the leave year, only the statutory element of any 

untaken leave may be carried over unless this is less than the council’s one week 
supported carry over.  

 
 

ANNUAL LEAVE AND LONG-TERM SICKNESS ABSENCE 

 
50. Employees will continue to accrue, during any paid or unpaid period of sickness 

absence, their full annual leave entitlement.  
 

51. Where the employee returns to work following long term sickness absence, annual leave 
entitlement accrued must be taken in the same leave year where practicably possible 
and in accordance with service needs. The one week carry overrule applies where 
employees have sufficient time to take the majority of their leave.  

 
52. Where the employee is absent for the whole leave year or there is insufficient time for 

the accrued statutory element of annual leave to be taken in the same year, the 

Page 31



 
 

contractual annual leave entitlement over and above the minimum statutory holiday 
entitlement provided for by the Working Time Regulations 1998 cannot be carried 
forward from one leave year into the next, i.e. an employee whose leave year ends while 
they are on long term sick will be entitled to carry over a maximum of 28 days statutory 
leave (pro-rata for part-time employees), less any annual leave and bank holidays that 
were taken prior to the sickness commencing in that leave year. 

 
53. The statutory entitlement to annual leave will be calculated with reference to the number 

of statutory days already taken by the employee in the year that they have reported sick 
in line with the Council’s sickness absence policy.  For example, a full-time employee 
who has taken 8 days of their statutory leave entitlement (inclusive of bank holidays) 
before they report sick, may be supported to carry over the 20 statutory leave days that 
they have not been able to take into the following leave year.  

 
54. Any statutory leave carried over following long term sickness absence must be taken 

within eighteen months of the carry over.   
 

 
TAKING ANNUAL LEAVE DURING SICKNESS ABSENCE 

 
55. Employees can request to take annual leave during a period of sickness absence as 

long as they formally request it, and the annual leave is authorised.  The sickness 
absence will be paused for the period of annual leave. 

 
56. During any period of sickness absence, employees are expected to be available to 

attend meetings / appointments in relation to their absence.  However, during a period 
of annual leave, the manager knows that the employee will not be available to the 
employer for this purpose. 

 
57. Employees must seek their manager’s authorisation before they can take annual leave 

during a period of sickness absence.  Managers must ensure that they notify the Payroll 
Team of any leave that they have authorised in this capacity to ensure that the sickness 
absence is paused, and that the employee receives their contractual pay during the 
period of annual leave. 

 
58. After the employee has taken the annual leave, the sickness absence will be reinstated 

if they are still not well enough to return to work.  Any sickness absence that is paused 
will be treated as one period of sickness absence.  

 
 

ANNUAL LEAVE AND MATERNITY AND ADOPTION LEAVE 

 
59. Employees will continue to accrue their full annual leave entitlement during any paid or 

unpaid period of Maternity and Adoption Leave. 
 
60. An employee may return to work and immediately commence annual leave if this has 

been agreed by the Line Manager.  
 
61. If an employee has not used all their annual leave prior to commencing Maternity or 

Adoption Leave, then any outstanding annual leave can be carried over to the new leave 
year if there is insufficient time to take it in the leave year to which it applies.  

 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
 

ANNUAL LEAVE AND PATERNITY AND SHARED PARENTAL LEAVE 

 
62. Employees will continue to accrue their full annual leave entitlement during any period 

of Paternity Leave and Shared Parental Leave.  
 
63. If an employee has not used all their annual leave entitlement prior to commencing 

Shared Parental Leave, then any outstanding annual leave can be carried over to the 
new leave year. 

 
64. If an employee has not used all their annual leave entitlement prior to commencing 

Paternity Leave, given the short duration of Paternity Leave, the rules relating to the 
maximum carry over of annual leave into the following leave year applies i.e., one week.  

 
 
ANNUAL LEAVE AND CAREER BREAK 

 
65. Employees must take any outstanding annual leave prior to starting a career break. If 

the career break period commences or ends part way through the annual leave year, 
then the annual leave entitlement for that year will be calculated on a pro-rata basis.  

 
66. Annual leave and Bank Holiday entitlements will not be accrued for the duration of the 

career break. Payment for annual leave and bank holidays during this period are not 
applicable.  

 
 
INTERPRETATION OF THE POLICY 

 
67. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of the policy, the Head of People 

Services or a HR Service Manager along with a Corporate Director in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services will make the final decision on interpretation.  

 
 
REVIEW OF THE POLICY  

 
68. A review of this policy will take place when appropriate. Any amendments will be 

consulted on with all the relevant parties. However, in the case of amendments relating 
to legislative requirements, the procedure will be amended and reissued. 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 

 

 

Appendix 3 

FLEXIBLE WORKING HOURS SCHEME 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Version: Version 1 – December 2022 
Policy Ratified By:  Cabinet 

Date Policy Ratified:  
Effective Date of Policy  

Review Year: Biennial 
Applicable To: All Caerphilly employed staff whose posts are 

designated ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ or ‘Flexible’ with time 
independence.  

Equalities: Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg, ac mewn 
ieithoedd a fformatau eraill ar gais. 
 
This document is available in Welsh, and in other 
languages and formats on request. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 35



 

 

 

 

INDEX 

SUBJECT PAGE NUMBER 

Introduction 3 

Scheme Scope 4 

Main Considerations 4 

Accrual of Working Hours 5 

Making use of Working Time Flexibility 

General Working Time 

Additional days off work (flexi) 

6 

6 

7 

Other Scheme Considerations 7 

Interpretation of the Scheme 7 

Review of the flexible working hours scheme 

arrangement 

7 

 

  

Page 36



 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 
 
1. At Caerphilly County Borough Council, we recognise the importance of supporting our 

employees to work more flexibly where business needs will support this.    
 
2. Where services can offer minimum constraints on working time, the mutual benefits to the 

employer and the employee are numerous.  Employees may seek out a better balance 
between work and home life, improve their health and wellbeing and feel more engaged. 
The Council in return, may benefit from reduced absenteeism and increased productivity 
and support optimised employee performance.  

 
3. The principles of this Scheme are based on equity and fairness, but it must be accepted 

that in the application of this Scheme, there will be different outcomes for employees 
relating to the job that they do, relating to the service, its business needs, and its client 
base.  

 
4. Thus, tailored to meet the complex and varying needs of our services, this flexible working 

hours scheme supplements the ‘time flexibility’ that is referred to in the Council’s agile 
working policy.  

 
5. Using the categorisations of ‘Fixed’, ‘Flexible, ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ and ‘Community’ as below, 

our Heads of Service have quantified the basic level of time flexibility that exists in every 
one of the services provided by the Council:  

 

Category Role Determining Factors 
 

Fixed Your role requires you to work in a fixed location all the time.   You 
may need a desk in a fixed location, for example, a reception area. 
You may share that desk. You may need to use specialist equipment 
which cannot be moved.  
 
Your role is location dependent. 
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Flexible You may spend time in the office but you may also choose to work 
from home or out and about.  You could work  
from any office or from home given the right equipment and access to 
systems.   
 
Your contractual work base will remain as the Council offices. You will 
be required to attend the Council offices when asked to do so by your 
manager e.g. for meetings, specific tasks, supervision and appraisals.  
 
Your role is location independent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Mobile You have an office base or you can choose to work from home but 
spend more than half your time out on site either visiting customers, 
residents or businesses at various locations.  
 
Your role is location independent if you can also choose to work from 
home rather than the office.   If not, your role is location dependent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Home Through mutual agreement, a homeworking agreement is in place 
that confirms your entitlement to work from home a 100% of the time.  

Page 37



 

 

 

 
6. Where the work of the service/team supports time ‘flexibility’ or as referred to above time 

independence, employees in collaboration with their colleagues and Manager, may be 
entrusted to have greater control over their working hours.   
 

7. The operation of any flexible working hours scheme would ideally apply to as many 
employees as possible.  We recognise however that a number of services will not be able 
to offer maximum flexibility and in some cases, they will only be able to offer limited 
flexibility or no flexibility at all. The core operational hours of the Service must be met and 
thus, the level of flexibility that any post offers will be confirmed by the Head of Service 
and led by service’s business needs and the client base.  

 
 
SCHEME SCOPE 

 
8. The flexible working hours scheme applies to those employees whose posts offer time 

independence.  This scheme does not apply to the Council’s Corporate Management 
Team.  

 
9. The Council’s recognised trade unions have been consulted on the introduction of this 

scheme.  
 
10. The effective date of this scheme is (Insert Date). This scheme supersedes all earlier 

schemes. 
 
 
MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 
 
11. In support of offering employees time flexibility, Managers will first ensure that employees 

are aware of the core hours of the business.  Thereafter, they will entrust employees to 
work effectively with team colleagues to ensure that the core hours of the business are 
consistently covered, whilst supporting them to have greater choice over when to work.   

 
12. Managers in supporting time flexibility must always be able to effectively organise work 

amongst team members aligned to the working hours of the client/customer base; ensure 
that they know where the employee is and what they are doing; set and monitor work 
performance and output expectations.  

 
13. Employees in return must always be able to commit to work rotas and/or work 

collaboratively with their colleagues to ensure work attendance around the core hours of 
the client/customer base; ensure the delivery of essential services/the undertaking of 
essential tasks and meet work performance and output expectations.  

 

 
Your home is your work base. 
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Community  Your role has never required you to attend an office base or 
designated Council building.  You leave home each day to work in the 
heart of community, for example visiting clients’ homes for the 
purpose of providing care.  
 
Your role is location dependent as you provide a service to residents / 
clients in their homes or in the community.    
Your role could be time dependent or independent, depending on the 
service being provided.   

Page 38



 

 

 

14. Ensuring service delivery will be the leading factor in Manager and employee 
conversations when decisions about flexi time arrangements are being discussed. 

 
15. In support of enabling ‘greater flexibility’ around working time, a simplified time recording 

system has been put in place.  In the simplified system, there is no bandwidth and/or 
reference periods that restrict working hours. The simplified time recording system enables 
employees to record all hours worked at any time of the day throughout Monday to 
Sunday. 

 
16. Employees must continue to clock in and out on their Council laptop and/or keep a 

transparent record of their working time in line with the agreed process of the service/team. 
 
17. Having a greater expanse of days and hours to work over makes it easier for the employee 

to manage their working time and commit to their contractual working hours.  For example, 
whilst supporting the needs of the service and business delivery, an employee who works 
Monday to Friday may welcome the opportunity to catch up with some work in the early 
morning/late evening and/or on the weekend if their post offers them that level of flexibility.   

 
18. Greater flexibility over ‘when to work’, does not mean that employees can fundamentally 

change their core working days which have to be aligned to business needs, without the 
prior agreement of their Manager/Head of Service.   This means that employees who work 
Monday to Friday will still be expected to be in work predominantly on those days unless 
the needs of the service change.   

 
19. Heads of Service through their Managers have the responsibility for ensuring this scheme 

is applied to all eligible employees in their Service Area.  
 

20. If an employee is disabled and does not already have access to this scheme and/or limited 
access to this scheme, accessibility issues must be considered to enable them to take 
part. 

 
 
ACCRUAL OF WORKING HOURS 
 

21. The operation of the flexi scheme relies on trust and all employees who can use this 
scheme will be entrusted to do so responsibly, particularly in relation to the accurate 
recording of any hours worked.  Any proven breaches of trust that leads to abuse of this 
scheme will be deemed to be gross misconduct and referred for relevant consideration 
under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. 
 

22. Based on the position of trust, there are no bandwidths in the new time recording system 
that restrict working time.  This means that any hours worked at any time over the period 
Monday to Sunday will register on the employee’s record. 

 
23. Employees must however continue to work sufficient hours to meet their contractual 

working time and avoid large fluctuations in their working hours, unless these have 
previously been agreed with their Manager.   

 
24. To ensure adherence to the working time directive, employees must: 

 
a. continue to clock out when they are not working and take at least one uninterrupted 

20 minutes rest break during their working day if they work more than 6 hours that 
day, 
 

Page 39



 

 

 

To support employee wellbeing, the Council requires employees to take an 
uninterrupted break of 30 minutes during the working day if employees work more 
than 6 hours. This break cannot be at the beginning or at the end of the working day, 

 
b. ensure their working time stays below 48 hours averaged over a 17 week period 

and, 
 

c. ensure that their working hours allow for a period of at least 11 hours away from the 
workplace between working days. 

 
25. The time recording system will hold a limited number of flags, which will alert Managers to 

the working time of employees if;  
 

a. The employee’s working time falls to ten hours or more below their contractual 
working hours at any point over the period of the calendar leave year, January to 
December.    
 

b. The employee’s contracted working hours reach thirty seven or more at any point 
over the period of the calendar leave year, January to December.  

 
26. These flags will be an alert to Managers to review employee working time in line with their 

contracted hours, the business needs of the service and any material factors that are 
affecting the employee’s working time.  The Manager will review these flags with a view to 
supporting the employee to work their contracted hours and/or support their work life 
balance as appropriate. 

 
 
MAKING USE OF WORKING TIME FLEXIBILITY:  
 

General working time 

 
27. Where the post supports time flexibility, employees could choose to manage their working 

time around their childcare, caring and/or work life balance commitments/preferences, 
providing that service needs can be met, and they obtain permission from their Managers. 

 
28. Employees could work in ‘bursts of time’ throughout the day, for example, stepping out of 

work for religious observance; for the school run/for caring responsibilities, or for a fitness 
class or to take the dog for a walk/take themselves for a walk, etc. This again is providing 
that service needs can be met, and they obtain permission from their Managers. 

 
29. Absence from work on any contracted day must still be requested and authorised as usual 

by the Manager in line with the ‘Additional days off work (flexi)’ section of this policy below, 
and/or the Council’s annual leave, leave of absence and sickness absence policies.  

 
30. If the employee works eighteen minutes or more than half of their contracted daily working 

hours on any given day, no authorised absence request will be needed.  If they work less 
than this, they must cover the remainder of their working day with an authorised absence 
request. For example:  

 
a. An employee who is required to work 7 hours and 24 minutes a day, must work for 

at least 4 hours or more.  
b. An employee who works 6 hours a day must work at least 3 hours and 18 minutes 

or more.  
 
 

Page 40



 

 

 

Additional days off work (flexi) 

 
31. In addition to the employee’s annual leave, they may use their accrued working time to 

request a flexi day or flexi half day off work, subject to the following constraints:  
 

a. No more than 12 flexi days or 24 half days can be requested over the period of the 
calendar leave year (January to December).  

b. Part Time employees may request the pro-rata equivalent of 12 flexi days or 24 half 
days off in relevance to their contracted working days/hours.   

 
32. There will be no cut off periods of time accrued during the calendar year and all time 

worked by the employee will show on their worked time record.  
 

33. Flexi leave must be approved by Managers and wherever possible be pre-booked. In an 
emergency, employees may book flexi leave at short notice, subject to the operational 
requirements of the Service Area.  

 
34. The maximum flexi leave that an employee will be supported to take at any one time 

throughout the calendar year will not exceed six full days or twelve half days or the pro-
rata equivalent of these days for employees who work part time. 

 
35. Any flexi leave taken must also be balanced against the employee’s annual leave 

entitlement and Managers should ensure that annual leave is taken throughout the year. 
 
 
OTHER SCHEME CONSIDERATIONS: 

 
36. All debit and credit flexi balances belong to the service in which the employee accrued 

those hours.  For this reason, they must be cleared before the employee transfers to 
another Service Area or leaves the service of the Council. 
 

37. No payment for flexi leave will be made for an employee who is transferring to another 
service or on termination of an employee’s employment. However, if the employee is in a 
debit situation, the deficit hours will be reclaimed. 

 
38. A debit flexi or credit balance will only transfer with the employee to another service area 

if the service area to which they are transferring approves this.   
 

 
INTERPRETATION OF THE SCHEME 

 
39. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of the scheme, the Head of People 

Services or a HR Service Manager along with a Corporate Director in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services will make the final decision on interpretation.  

 
 
REVIEW OF THE FLEXIBLE WORKING HOURS SCHEME ARRANGEMENT 
 
40. A review of this scheme will take place when appropriate. Any amendments will be 

consulted on with all the relevant parties. However, in the case of amendments relating to 
legislative requirements, the scheme will be amended and reissued. 
 

41. An employee who disagrees with their manager’s position on flexible working 
arrangement, may issue an appeal to their Head of Service.    

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



 

 

 

Appendix 4 

MILEAGE SCHEME 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Version: Version 1 – December 2022 
Policy Ratified By:  Cabinet 

Date Policy Ratified:  
Effective Date of Policy  

Review Year: Biennial 
Applicable To: This scheme applies to all employees, including 

those in schools if this scheme is adopted by the 
governing body, who incur additional expenses 
whilst undertaking their duties, taking them away 
from their workplace. 

Equalties:  Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg, ac mewn 
ieithoedd a fformatau eraill ar gais. 
 
This document is available in Welsh, and in other 
languages and formats on request. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 43



 

 

 

 

INDEX 

SUBJECT PAGE NUMBER 

Introduction 

Scheme Scope  

3 

4 

The workplace for the purpose of claiming travelling 

expenses 

5 

Driving Documentation Checks 6 

Reimbursement of Mileage 6 

Claiming travel costs whilst on call/ standby/ 
working overtime. 

7 

Cycle Rates 8 

Green Car Scheme 8 

Claiming Tax Relief on Business Mileage 8 

Excess Travel 9 

Interpretation of the Scheme 10 

Review of the Scheme 10 

 

  

Page 44



 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 
1. This scheme sets out the principles and rules for claiming travel costs incurred on 

Council business.  In the points that follow, we aim to set out the principles and rules 
fairly and transparently.  This is to ensure that anyone needing to incur expense can 
understand which claims are permitted and what steps to take to ensure reimbursement.  

 
2. No employee will be financially disadvantaged whilst undertaking Council duties that 

take them from their directed workplace.  This is if the expenses incurred are reasonable 
and necessary in the performance of those duties and are allowable under Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) regulations. 

 
3. Employees will be reimbursed for total travel costs incurred in the day if the claim is in 

excess of their home to designated workplace return journey.   
 
4. For employees who use their own vehicle, the mileage rates that can be claimed will be 

in line with the HMRC approved rates for car, van, motorcycle, moped and cycle 
journeys.   

 
5. When using a privately owned electric vehicle at work, it is possible to claim for mileage 

too. These are known as AMAP rates and just like diesel or petrol cars, the amount that 
can be claimed is set by HMRC. 

 
6. A Passenger rate also applies in the form of 5p per mile for the carriage of one or more 

passengers who are Council employees.  
 

7. Employees who use public transport in the reasonable and necessary performance of 
their duties can claim for the cost of their travel on the production of the relevant receipts.  

 
8. It is important and expected that all employees manage their work travel efficiently and 

that they limit it along with any associated expense claims, as much as possible.    
 
9. Value for money must always be ensured when incurring expenses on Council business.  

Official travel must always be conducted in an economic manner and alternative means 
such as the use of audio / video conferencing and public transport must be considered 
before the use of privately owned vehicles.  It is expected that employees will car share 
when attending meetings at the same location, wherever possible.  

 
10. Using the categorisations of ‘Fixed’, ‘Flexible, ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ and ‘Community’ as 

below, our Heads of Service have quantified the basic level of location flexibility that 
exists in every one of the services provided by the Council.  All employees whose posts 
are designated ‘Fixed’; ‘Flexible’, ‘Home’ or ‘Mobile’ must have a workplace for the 
purpose of claiming travelling expenses which is agreed with their Manager. This will be 
called the designated workplace.  The exception to this is the role designated 
‘Community’.  

Category Role Determining Factors 
 

Fixed Your role requires you to work in a fixed location all the time.   You 
may need a desk in a fixed location, for example, a reception area. 
You may share that desk. You may need to use specialist equipment 
which cannot be moved.  
 
Your role is location dependent. 
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Page 45



 

 

 

 
 
 
SCHEME SCOPE 

 
11. This scheme applies to all Council employees who incur additional travel expenses 

whilst undertaking work duties which take them from their designated workplace. 
 
12. This scheme also includes travel to directed training events and excess travel that is 

incurred by an employee following a contractual redeployment from one permanent 
workplace to another. 

 
13. This Scheme is intended for School based employees but will not automatically apply to 

school based support/teaching staff for whom the Governing Body sets the terms and 
conditions of employment unless the scheme has been adopted by the school 
Governing Body. 

 
14. The Council’s recognised trade unions have been consulted on this Scheme. 
 
15. The effective date of the scheme is (Insert Date). 
 
 

Flexible You may spend time in the office but you may also choose to work 
from home or out and about.  You could work  
from any office or from home given the right equipment and access to 
systems.   
 
Your contractual work base will remain as the Council offices. You will 
be required to attend the Council offices when asked to do so by your 
manager e.g. for meetings, specific tasks, supervision and appraisals.  
 
Your role is location independent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence.  

Mobile You have an office base or you can choose to work from home but 
spend more than half your time out on site either visiting customers, 
residents or businesses at various locations.  
 
Your role is location independent if you can also choose to work from 
home rather than the office.   If not, your role is location dependent.  
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Home Through mutual agreement, a homeworking agreement is in place 
that confirms your entitlement to work from home a 100% of the time.  
 
Your home is your work base. 
Your role may or may not support time independence. 

Community  Your role has never required you to attend an office base or 
designated Council building.  You leave home each day to work in the 
heart of community, for example visiting clients’ homes for the 
purpose of providing care.  
 
Your role is location dependent as you provide a service to residents / 
clients in their homes or in the community.    
Your role could be time dependent or independent, depending on the 
service being provided.   

Page 46



 

 

 

THE WORKPLACE FOR THE PURPOSE OF CLAIMING TRAVELLING EXPENSES 

 
16. For employees whose posts are designated ‘Fixed’; ‘Flexible’; or ‘Mobile’, ordinary 

commuting is the journey they make most days between their home and their designated 
workplace. HMRC call this substantially ordinary commuting (SOR) and employees are 
responsible for the cost of these journeys. 
 

17. In promoting equity and fairness, the designated workplace from which travel expenses 
can be claimed must be a Council Building or Council workplace that the employee is 
required to attend to fulfil the duties of their employment.  

 
18. Employees may have more than one designated workplace during the same period. This 

would be when:  
 

a. The employee regularly performs a significant part of his or her duties there  
 

b. People would expect to be able to contact the employee at the second location 
 

c. The employee has a desk and/or support services at the second location, which 
he/she regularly uses, for example, a care manager who is responsible for more than 
one care home or a supervisor who is responsible for staff at and working from a 
number of sites. 

 
19. HMRC class travel from home to a designated workplace and travel from a designated 

workplace to home as ordinary commuting and no claim can be made for these journeys. 
Travel claims can however be made for any necessary and reasonable business travel 
between these workplaces during the working day.   

 
20. The workplace for the purpose of claiming travel costs for most employees will be the 

Council building or Council workplace that they must attend every day.  For others it will 
be the workplace agreed by their Manager from which they perform a significant part of 
their duties, where other employees/service users expect to see them/meet with them, 
receive a service from them, etc.  

 
21. As we move to support a new way of working and offer employees greater choice over 

where they work, we do expect employees to manage their travel efficiently and limit it, 
and any claims, as much as possible in the spirit of agile working and the benefits to the 
environment that this can bring. If an employee chooses to travel to other locations (other 
than their permanent workplace) as part of agile working, HMRC will consider this as 
personal convenience and no claims can be made for those journeys.  

 
22. Based on the principles of equity and fairness therefore, every employee whose role is 

designated ‘Fixed’; ‘Flexible’; or ‘Mobile’ will have a designated workplace for the 
purpose of submitting travel claims that will either be a Council owned building or a 
Council owned workplace.   

 
23. The first exception to Point 17 are the roles which are designated ‘community’. These 

employees will have their workplace confirmed as being in the heart of the community.   
 
24. Employees whose roles are designated ‘community’ have no choice over where they 

work but they have never been required to attend an office base or designated Council 
workplace / Council building for the purpose of undertaking work.  They leave home 
each day to work in the heart of community, for example visiting clients’ homes for the 
purpose of providing care. 

 

Page 47



 

 

 

25. Employees whose roles are designated ‘community’ will have their ‘workplace’ 
confirmed as being in the heart of the community.  This will be 0.5 miles away from their 
home.  The home to work and work to home return journey will be no more than 1 mile 
in total. The exception to this will be if the employee’s first call of each day is less than 
1 mile away from their home.   

 
26. The second exception to Point 17 are the roles which are designated ‘home’.  These are 

the employees who have entered into a ‘mutual agreement’ with the Council to work 
100% from home and their home has formally been confirmed as their work base.  

 
27. The employee whose role is designated ‘home’, may make a travel claim from home for 

any necessary and reasonable business travel incurred during the working day.   It is 
expected however that the employee whose role is designated ‘home’ will only incur 
business travel rarely and potentially never as their roles do not require them to work 
anywhere else.      
 

28. The home to permanent workplace and permanent workplace to home commute will not 
be subject to re-imbursement of travel expenses or working time at any time of the 
working day where employees choose to return home during their working day only to 
return to their workplace later in that working day.   

 
29. Where it is appropriate for an employee to use their private vehicle, business mileage 

must be conducted in accordance with the Road Traffic Act in conjunction with the 
Highway Code and any current legislation. 

 
 
DRIVING DOCUMENTATION CHECKS 

 
30. Employees who use their own vehicle for work must: 

 hold a valid driving licence, 
 have a current and valid MOT on their vehicle where the age of the vehicle requires 

this, 
 have current road tax on their vehicle, 
 have current vehicle insurance cover which includes appropriate business travel, 
 declare any health issues that may affect their ability to drive,  
 declare any points or convictions received.   

31. Managers will generally entrust employees to have the above-mentioned checks in 
place.  They can however request relevant documents in order to check them for general 
audit purposes and if necessary.  Failure to provide the documents within a reasonable 
time, will result in any claims for mileage not being authorised until the documents have 
been produced. 

 
 
REIMBURSEMENT OF MILEAGE 

 
32. When submitting claims for mileage, employees must: 

 
a. Ensure their vehicle registration is correct on self- service and/or on the form that 

they submit to claim their mileage if submitting a paper claim. 
  

b. classify expenses properly;  
 

Page 48



 

 

 

c. submit them for approval and on time;  
 
d. keep and scan receipts for claimable expenses, ensuring a relevant VAT receipt, which 

is dated on or before the first date of travel that the claim covers and no earlier than one 
month before. Those using electric or hybrid vehicles should make domestic electricity 
bills available on request. 

 
e. Ensure they have deducted their home to directed workplace travel from any claim as 

required before submitting it.  This is important for all employees to remember when they 
have travelled from home to an alternative work location and/or travelled from an 
alternative work location to home.  Only additional miles incurred in the undertaking of 
Council business can be claimed.  

 
33. Managers will authorise any claims for mileage and ensure that all the journeys claimed 

for are necessary and reasonable in accordance with Financial Regulation 27.06 which 
states, ‘The certification of expenses claims by or on behalf of the Head of Service shall 
be taken to mean that the certifying officer is satisfied that the journeys were authorised, 
the expenditure properly and necessarily incurred and that the fixed allowances payable 
by the Council are properly due’.  

 
34. All mileage claims must be claimed via official Council processes, on official Council 

claim forms, either via self-service or by hardcopy claim.  All employees with access to 
self-service must make their claims in this way, no hardcopy claims will be accepted for 
employees who have access to self-service.  

 
35. Employees must be able to demonstrate that they have claimed the shortest, practical 

mileage, identified by Google maps, in relation to work journeys made. When assessing 
whether an employee has made the shortest, practical journey all health and safety 
considerations must be considered. Employees who have known health and safety 
concerns regarding a route that forms part of their work based travel are encouraged to 
raise any such concern with their Manager in advance of the journey.  

 
36. Employees must submit their mileage claims on a regular basis and any claims 

submitted more than six months after the mileage has been incurred will only be paid 
with the approval of their Director. 

 
37. Employees will certify that any claims are accurate and that the mileage has been 

incurred. Any employee who is found to have deliberately falsified a mileage claim or 
submitted false expense claims will be subject to disciplinary action.  

 
38. The cost of car parking and tolls can be reclaimed on the production of receipts for the 

cost incurred whilst undertaking work duties.  
 
 
CLAIMING TRAVEL COSTS WHILST ON CALL/STANDBY/WORKING OVERTIME 

 
39. Employees who are called back to work with an overtime offer and who receive overtime 

rates of pay for that work, will not be eligible to claim any business mileage or travel time 
for travelling to and from the workplace for this purpose.  
 

40. Employees who are called back to work without an overtime offer, will be able to claim 
business mileage and travel time for any unexpected and manager led necessitated 
second journey of that working day.   Where the employee chooses themselves to return 
home only to return to work later during the working day, refer to point 28.  

 

Page 49



 

 

 

41. Employees who are required to work overtime at a location other than their confirmed 
workplace, and receive an overtime payment for doing so, will be able to claim the 
additional mileage that is more than their usual home to workplace mileage.  

 
42. Employees who are either on call or on a standby shift will be able to claim the full 

mileage incurred if they are required to attend their workplace or other work location 
during this shift.  This claim however will be subject to tax in respect of the home to 
workplace mileage incurred.  The claim must show that travel was from home to work 
under this arrangement and for the purpose of relevant tax deduction.  

 
 
CYCLE RATES  
 

43. To promote the use of cycles in line with the Council’s health and wellbeing and 
sustainable development initiatives, a cycle mileage allowance can be claimed where 
employees use their own bike to undertake their duties. This does not include 
commuting to and from the confirmed workplace. This rate will be paid at the prevailing 
HMRC rate for cycles.  
 

44. Such journeys will only be considered for short distances where the duration of travel 
would not constitute an excessive use of officer time. If an employee chooses to use this 
method of travel they must ensure that their pedal cycle is in a roadworthy condition and 
that they wear protective headgear at all times. 

 
45. All mileage must be claimed via official Council processes, on official Council claim 

forms, either via self-service or by hardcopy claim. All employees with access to self-
service must make their claims in this way, no hardcopy claims will be accepted.  

 
46. According to HMRC rules, to claim this payment an employee must own the bike 

themselves.  This means that any employee who has hired a bike via the Council’s Cycle 
to Work Salary Sacrifice Scheme or is using a pool bike are unable to submit a claim for 
this payment. If the bike is purchased by the employee at the end of the scheme, they 
will become eligible to claim for their cycle mileage at the prevailing HMRC rate for 
cycles.  

 
 
GREEN CAR SCHEME  
 

47. Employees who have joined the Green Car Scheme will be eligible to claim the Council’s 
published mileage rates under that Scheme. However, as the car is classed as a 
company car for tax purposes employees will pay tax and National Insurance on the 
difference between the rate that the Council pays and the HMRC rate for company cars. 
The tax applicable to the mileage rate will be recovered by a change to employees’ tax 
codes.  
 

 
CLAIMING TAX RELIEF ON BUSINESS MILEAGE 

 
48. You may be entitled to tax relief, known as Mileage Allowance Relief (MAR), if your 

business journey starts or finishes at home. MAR is not an automatic entitlement and 
must be claimed. To qualify for MAR, you must be able to demonstrate to the HMRC 
that your attendance at a temporary workplace (i.e. not your permanent workplace) was 
necessary for the performance of your duties and not just a matter of convenience.  
 

Page 50



 

 

 

49. You can claim tax relief on the difference between the total miles travelled and the 
claimed miles (having taken off ordinary commute). If you wish to claim tax relief on total 
business miles rather than miles claimed, you will need to provide details at the end of 
each tax year via an on-line P87 claim form for “Income tax relief on employment 
expenses”. You need to keep records of dates, mileage and details of all business 
journeys to allow you to complete the P87 (this will not be provided by the Council who 
will no longer submit a P11d on your behalf). 

 
 
EXCESS TRAVEL  

 
50. Excess travel is only applicable when the Council has instigated a redeployment or 

change of workplace and not where the employee has requested a move, or the move 
is because of disciplinary action.  

 
51. Employees who are redeployed into a post in a new workplace will be eligible to claim 

excess mileage if their journey to the new location is longer than the journey to their 
previous work location. The additional mileage will be for the shortest journey to the new 
location identified by Google maps.  

 
52. Excess mileage will be paid at the prevailing HMRC rate.  
 
53. Only additional expenditure incurred will be reimbursed. This will be the difference in the 

miles involved in travelling from the employee’s home to the old workplace and the miles 
involved in travelling from the employee’s home to the new workplace. Employees will 
receive payment for any additional miles that they actually travel.   

 
54. Where there are no additional miles of travel, employees will not be eligible for any 

payment.  Employees have to legitimately and reasonably incur additional travel 
expense in order to claim it.   

 
55. In terms of public transport, the additional cost incurred will be reimbursed. Payment will 

be based on a maximum of two journeys per day except for posts that involve split shifts. 
A maximum of four journeys can be claimed in this circumstance.    

 
56. If there is an increase in public transport costs linked to inflationary increase, the 

employee will be entitled to claim the difference between the old travel costs at the 
increased cost of the ticket and the new travel costs at the increased rate of the ticket. 

 
57. Excess mileage travelled must be claimed for as and when incurred on the excess 

mileage declaration form.  This will be for a maximum of eighteen months from the date 
of the first additional mile claimed.  The right to claim for this additional mileage will 
cease earlier if the employee applies for and secures a post at a higher grade during the 
claim period or if their circumstances change so that they are no longer travelling the 
additional miles.  

 
58. Employees are responsible for reporting any changes to their personal circumstances if 

it could affect the payment of the excess travel allowance. If an employee changes their 
home address, they must highlight this on the excess mileage declaration form and 
include the date from when the change of address took effect. The payment will be 
recalculated and if additional miles are still being travelled, the recalculated additional 
miles can be claimed for the balance of the eighteen months in line with point 57 above. 

 
 
 

Page 51



 

 

 

INTERPRETATION OF THE SCHEME  

 
59. In the event of a dispute relating to the interpretation of the scheme, the Head of People 

Services or a HR Service Manager along with a Corporate Director in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services will make the final decision on interpretation.  

 
 
REVIEW OF THE SCHEME  
 

60. A review of this scheme and procedure will take place when appropriate. Any 
amendments will be consulted on with all the relevant parties. However, in the case of 
amendments relating to legislative requirements, the scheme will be amended and 
reissued. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Appendix 5  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GMB has now had the opportunity to consider and receive the views of our membership on the 
following draft policies, which were shared with us on 26th September 2022 and revised versions  again 
on the 28th November 2022.  
 
These policies were: 
 

 Agile Working Policy 

 Mileage Scheme 

 Annual Leave Policy 
 Flexible Working Hours Scheme 

 
GMB feedback on each is as follows: 
 
Agile Working Policy 
 
GMB are generally supportive of the draft Agile Working Policy presented and believe that it clearly 
sets out the principles and tone for agile working moving forward, which we believe will benefit both 
the Employee and the Council. 
 
We are in general agreement with the categories that have been defined within the policy and agree 
that these should be subject to regular review, taking account of both service and employee needs. 
 
Whilst we appreciate the need for the majority of staff to be allocated a designated base we d isagree 
that this should be linked to where an employee subsequently claims mileage to and from.  We believe 
that home to designated base mileage i.e. commute mileage, should not be deducted from business 
mileage where a commute to and from the designated place of work has not been undertaken i.e. 
instances when an employee is working from home and would go direct to site from their home 
location on Council business.  
 
Whilst we appreciate the flexibility the draft policy may offer in terms of potentially spreading the 
working week over 7 days for some, we are resolute that this should be a choice for the employee to 
make and not mandated or expected in anyway by Management.  We wish to be absolutely clear that 
an ‘always on call’ culture, be that blatant or subtle, can not be supported by GMB. 
We would expect full consultation to take place with the three recognised Trades Unions, GMB, 
Unison and Unite, if any changes are planned or being considered by Management to staffs contracts 
of Employment. 
 
GMB are disappointed that a Home Working Payment/Allowance has not been considered within the 
policy.  The costs incurred to the employee because of working from home are real and growing.  It is 
incorrect to assume that home working costs can be offset against a reduction in travel costs.  Travel 
costs are not being offset for many staff as they are required to deduct these costs from any business 
miles claimed, thereby incurring both artificial commute costs and working from home costs .  This is 

Page 53



an unacceptable position which GMB will continue to challenge through consultation with the Councils 
representatives in HR. 
 
Paragraph 60 of the policy sets out that if an employee is working from home they should advise their 
household insurer, and that this should not result in any personal cost.  Should this not be the case 
and an employee does incur an additional cost we would expect to see this additional expense 
reimbursed in full to the employee. 
 
Paragraph 62 makes reference to employees who are working from home being covered by the 
Council’s Employer’s Liability Insurance and Public Liability Insurance ‘provided the rules of this policy 
have been followed’.  Further clarity is sought on this as the ‘rules’ are not set out in any detail. 
 
Mileage Scheme 
 
GMB are supportive of the changes proposed to those working in the Community but find it difficult 
to support the approach by which some other categories of workers are reimbursed for business 
mileage. 
 
GMB is clear that further negotiations are required in order to agree the approach used for those who 
are working from home, occasionally or otherwise, with regards to claiming business mileage.  We do 
not believe that it is appropriate or acceptable to deduct normal commute mileage and time  from 
employees who are undertaking the work of the Council. However, GMB are prepared to support the 
document providing agreement can be reached on the above employees. 
GMB would request that if agreement cannot be reached, then consideration is given by Council for 
these staff to be treated the same as those in the community. 
 
Annual Leave Policy 
 
GMB are supportive of the draft Annual Leave Policy and welcomes the additional 5 days contractual 
annual leave which is being proposed for all staff.   
 
We feel that there is also a lack of discretion within the draft policy to allow a member of staff to carry 
forward more than 5 days, unlike in the existing Annual Leave Policy.  There are many reasons why a 
member of staff may not be able to use all of their annual leave, for example due to service pressures 
or personal reasons, consequently staff should not be at detriment because of this.  We would request 
that the element of discretion be retained within the proposed draft policy . 
This would then allow staff to apply in writing to their Head of Service to carry over more than five 
days annual leave, this will then help to avoid any disagreement between staff and Management. 
GMB would like to take this opportunity to confirm that we will always encourage members/staff to 
take their annual leave in the year it has been allocated for, however, we do understan d and 
appreciate that in some situations, this may not always be possible for staff to do.   
 
Flexible Working Hours Scheme 
 
Overall, we are generally supportive of the draft Flexible Working Hours Scheme, however we would 
like to bring the below points of concern to your attention, and would welcome further consultation 
on these points with our colleagues from HR. 
 
Paragraph 18 of the draft scheme states that employees will still be expected to predominantly work 
Monday to Friday ‘unless the needs of the service change’.  We would expect that should the needs of 

Page 54



the service change and require staff to change terms and conditions of their contracted worki ng hours 
this would be carried out in full consultation with the recognised Trade Unions.  
 
Paragraph 37 of the draft scheme states that no payment of flexi will be made to an employee upon 
termination of their contract, however, if the employee is in a def icit situation, the deficit hours will 
be reclaimed.  We disagree with this practice.  If an employee has worked above their contracted 
hours, they should receive the appropriate remuneration for these hours.  If the Council recognises 
the validity of these hours and would seek to reclaim them, then conversely, they must recognise their 
validity for payment. 
 
 
Neil Funnell   

GMB Branch Secretary  

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Appendix 6 

 
 

AGILE WORKING PROPOSED POLICIES 
FEEDBACK FROM CAERPHILLY UNISON 

 
Caerphilly Unison has now had the opportunity to consider and take the views of our 

membership on the following draft policies, which were shared with us on 26th September 2022.  
These policies were: 

 

 Agile Working Policy 

 Mileage Scheme 

 Annual Leave Policy 

 Flexible Working Hours Scheme 

 
Accordingly, our feedback on each is as follows: 

 
Agile Working Policy 

Overall, we are generally supportive of the draft Agile Working Policy presented and believe that 

it clearly sets out the principles and tone for agile working moving forward. 
 

We are in general agreement with the categories that have been defined within the policy and 
agree that these should be subject to regular review, taking account of both service and 
employee needs. 

 
Whilst we appreciate the need for the majority of staff to be allocated a designated base we 

dispute that this should be linked to where an employee subsequently claims mileage to and 
from.  We believe that home to designated base mileage i.e. commute mileage, should not be 
deducted from business mileage where a commute to and from the designated place of work 

has not been undertaken i.e. instances when an employee is working from home.  
 

Whilst we appreciate the flexibility the draft policy may offer in terms of potentially spreading the 
working week over 7 days for some, we are resolute that this should be a choice for the 
employee to make and not mandated or expected in anyway by Management.  We wish to be 

absolutely clear that an ‘always on’ culture, be that blatant or subtle, will not be supported by 
UNISON. 

 
We are disappointed that a Home Working Payment/Allowance has not been considered within 
the policy.  The costs incurred to the employee because of working from home are real and 

growing.  It is incorrect to assume that home working costs can be offset against a reduction in 
travel costs.  Travel costs are not being offset for many staff as they are required to deduct 

these costs from any business miles claimed, thereby incurring both artificial commute costs 
and working from home costs.  This is an unacceptable position which UNISON will continue to 
challenge and campaign on. 

 
Paragraph 31(b) of the policy states that managers must be able to ‘ensure that they know 

where the employee is and what they are doing’.  We believe this is unnecessary and does not 
engender a culture of trust within the organisation.  We are also concerned that some managers 

Page 57



may take this literally and enforce unnecessary monitoring practices upon staff which will be 
burdensome and lead to bureaucratic and inefficient working practices.  Such a practice we 

consider to be outdated and not in keeping with a progressive outcomes-based organisation. 
 
The Policy sets out safe agile working practices which are essential for the health, safety and 

wellbeing of all staff.  The Policy is prescriptive in its expectations of staff yet less so in setting 
out CCBC’s responsibilities as an employer.  We would wish to see these responsibilities clearly 

incorporated into the policy. 
 
Paragraph 60 of the policy sets out that if an employee is working from home they should 

advise their household insurer, and that this should not result in any personal cost.  Should this 
not be the case and an employee does incur an additional cost we would wish to see this 

additional expense reimbursed in full to the employee. 
 
Paragraph 62 makes reference to employees who are working from home being covered by the 

Council’s Employer’s Liability Insurance and Public Liability Insurance ‘provided the rules of this 
policy has been followed’.  Further clarity is sought on this as the ‘rules’ are not set out in any 

detail. 
 
Mileage Scheme 

With the exception of those categorised as ‘Community’ and ‘Home’ workers, there would 
appear to be very little change in terms of the approach by which employees can claim mileage 
expenses i.e. normal home to work commute being deducted from any claim.  For those 

classified as ‘Flexible’ and ‘Mobile’ we believe this may be problematic based on the feedback 
we have received from our membership.   

 
We are supportive of the changes proposed to those working in the Community and 100% at 
Home but less so of the approach by which other categories of workers, such as ‘Flexible’ and 

‘Mobile’ are reimbursed for business mileage.  For example: 
 

Employee A is classified as a ‘Flexible worker’.  Employee A works from the office Monday 
to Thursday but works from home on a Friday.  Their normal daily commute to the office is 
20 miles and takes approximately 40 minutes.  From Monday to Thursday Employee A 

travels to the office and has several business meetings out in the community to attend.  
These business miles and the time it takes to travel to these meetings can be claimed in 

full.  Mileage is paid from the office to the address of the business meeting.   
 
On a Friday Employee A works from home and again has business meetings to attend out 

in the community.  These business meetings total 20 miles and takes 40 mins of travel 
time.  Under the system proposed in the draft policy, these miles cannot be claimed as 

normal home to office mileage will be deducted.  Also, the employee will have to work an 
additional 40mins to meet their contracted hours for the day as normal commute time is 
deducted, yet the employee has been working for a full day i.e. 9am to 5pm.  This day 

working from home will see the employee incurring mileage costs, time costs and the costs 
of working from home i.e. heating, lighting etc.    

 
UNISON is clear that further negotiations are required in order to agree the approach used for 
those who are categorised as ‘Flexible’ or ‘Mobile’ workers, and specifically how mileage and 

time can be recognised while undertaking their employment role from home. 
 
Annual Leave Policy 

UNISON is generally supportive of the draft Annual Leave Policy and welcomes the additional 5 
days contractual annual leave which is being proposed for all staff.   

 

Page 58



However, there are a number of concerns around the classification of annual leave and the 
inability to carry forward the contractual aspect (5 days) which may leave the authority open to 

challenge on a number of fronts, such as: 
 

 Supreme Court Ruling Chief Constable of the Policy Services of Northern Ireland -v- 

Agnew 2019; 

 Indirect Disability Discrimination; 

 Covid19 Legislation, which allowed for the carry over of annual leave for 2 years; 

 Working Time Regulation 15, and 

 Effect on Term Time only staff i.e. potential claw-back of 6 days annual leave from pay. 
 

There is also a lack of discretion within the draft policy to allow a member of staff to carry 
forward more than 5 days, unlike in the existing Annual Leave Policy.  There are many reasons 
why a member of staff may not be able to use all of their annual leave, for example due to 

service pressures, consequently staff should not be at detriment because of this.  We would 
request that the element of discretion be retained within the proposed draft policy. 
 

We would also wish to see the possibility of staff being able to purchase addition annual leave 
added to the policy as a discretionary element. 

  
Flexible Working Hours Scheme 

Overall, we are generally supportive of the draft Flexible Working Hours Scheme presented with 

the exception of the points stated below: 
 

Paragraph 12 of the draft scheme states that managers must be able to ‘ensure that they know 
where the employee is and what they are doing’.  We believe this is unnecessary and does not 
engender a culture of trust within the organisation.  We are also concerned that some managers 

may take this literally and enforce unnecessary monitoring practices upon staff which will be 
burdensome and lead to bureaucratic and inefficient working practices. 

 
Paragraph 18 of the draft scheme states that employees will still be expected to predominantly 
work Monday to Friday ‘unless the needs of the service change’.  We would expect that should 

the needs of the service change and require staff to change terms and conditions of their 
contracted working hours this would be carried out in full consultation with the recognised Trade 

Unions. 
 
Paragraph 37 of the draft scheme states that no payment of flexi will be made to an employee 

upon termination of their contract, however, if the employee is in a deficit situation, the deficit 
hours will be reclaimed.  We disagree with this practice.  If an employee has worked above their 

contracted hours, they should receive the appropriate remuneration for these hours.  If the 
Council recognises the validity of these hours and would seek to reclaim them, then conversely, 
they must recognise their validity for payment. 

 
 

 
Lianne Dallimore 
Caerphilly UNISON Branch Secretary 

 

Juan-Antonio Garcia 
Caerphilly UNISON Branch Chair 

 

 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 
Caerphilly County Borough Council - Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
This integrated impact assessment (IIA) has been designed to help support the Council in making 
informed and effective decisions whilst ensuring compliance with a range of relevant legislation, 
including: 
 

 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 
 Socio-economic Duty – Sections 1 to 3 of the Equality Act 2010 

 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 Statutory Consultation v Doctrine of Legitimate Expectation and Gunning Principles  
 
PLEASE NOTE: Section 3 Socio-economic Duty only needs to be completed if proposals are 
of a strategic nature or when reviewing previous strategic decisions.  
 
See page 6 of the Preparing for the Commencement of the Socio-economic Duty Welsh 
Government Guidance. 
 
 

1. Proposal Details  
 

Lead Officer:-  Lisa Downey 
Head of Service:-  Lynne Donovan    
Service Area and Department:- People Services - Human Resources  
Date:- 30/11/2022 
 

 

What is the proposal to be assessed?  Provide brief details of the proposal and 

provide a link to any relevant report or documents. 
 
The following draft HR policies: 

Agile Working Policy 

Annual Leave Policy 

Flexible Working Hours Scheme. 

Mileage Scheme. 

 

The draft Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme  

Our workforce has been innovative, collaborative, resilient and resourceful in the face of 
extreme pressure. We have embraced the opportunities that large scale remote and agile 
working provided us.  The challenge now is for us to take what we’ve learned, harness the 
skills and teamwork that have been developed and create an environment that will deliver long 
term, sustainable growth. 

Page 61

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/preparing-for-the-commencement-of-the-socio-economic-duty.pdf


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 
Aligned to a priority action of the Council’s Workforce Development Strategy 2021 – 2024 and 
‘focusing on what matters’, the Covid-19 pandemic has brought into sharp focus the 
importance of organisational transformation. It has highlighted the necessity to have resilient, 
efficient, and effective services, where we adapt and respond positively to rapid and 
evolutionary change, truly embrace flexible/agile working, and work smarter.  
 
The implementation of a sustainable model of flexible/agile working for the Council was 

identified as a priority action in this context and the proposed Agile Working Policy and Flexible 

Working Hours Scheme have been created and reviewed to ensure they are inclusive, fit-for-

purpose and reflective of these Council’s values.   

As the largest employer in the County Borough, this Policy and Scheme support our aspiration 

of being recognised as an employer of choice in terms of our approach to diversity, equalities, 

and personal well-being. 

The agile working offer can bring about additional benefits and improvements to the way we 

attract, retain, and develop staff, including those from Protected characteristic groups.  The 

flexibility of the agile working arrangement, however, means that it is difficult to establish a 

rigid set of rules around it.  Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile working  

Whilst the principles of the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme are 
based on equity and fairness, it must be accepted that in the application of these policies, 
there will be different outcomes for employees relating to the jobs that they do,  the business 
needs of the service they work in and its client base.  
 
It is important however to note that the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours 
Scheme in the way that they are designed, support personal choice, albeit this must be 
balanced against service needs.  The Council’s Ty Penallta Offices for example will continue 
to operate as a thriving work environment that supports employee attendance with dedicated 
workspace and/or agile workspace.  Data gathered by Service Heads and also from staff 
surveys in 2020 and 2021 indicate that most employees who worked remotely during Covid, 
continue to do so now and that they welcome the opportunity to continue to do so moving 
forward.     
 

The draft Annual Leave Policy has been reviewed and presented for consultation alongside 

the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme as a complimentary Policy that 

supports the employees of the Council to benefit from an additional 6 days leave per annum, 

pro-rata for part time employees.  The proposed uplift of 6 days leave per annum includes the 

additional day that has been awarded under the NJC 2022 collective national pay agreement.  

The proposal is, however, that all staff benefit from this additional day and not just staff 

employed on NJC terms and conditions. 

 

The draft Annual Leave Policy offsets the reduction in flexi leave that sits under the Council’s 

current Flexible Working Hours Scheme.  The current Scheme supports a maximum of 24 

days off work relevant to time accrued, whilst the proposed draft Flexible Working Hours 

Scheme supports a maximum of 12 days off work per annum relevant to time accrued.  It 

should be noted in this context that the Flexible Working Hours Scheme will only benefit 
employees whose jobs support flexibility.  ALL employees as referred to in the scope of the 

Annual Leave Policy however will benefit from the uplift of annual leave that is proposed.  

 

Page 62



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

The Annual Leave Policy is universal in its appeal. For this reason, this Integrated Impact 

Assessment does not consider the Annual Leave Policy in any significant detail throughout 

this Assessment.  If it is approved, it will benefit all of the employees as identified in the scope 

of the Policy, i.e. regardless of who they are, what job they hold and where they work. 

 

The Mileage Scheme has also been reviewed and presented for consultation alongside the 

Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme as a complimentary Policy.   

In consultation with Trade Union Colleagues, the Agile Working Policy, Flexible Working Hours  

Scheme and Mileage Scheme include the same ‘categorisation table’.  Using the 

categorisations of ‘Fixed’, ‘Flexible, ‘Mobile’, ‘Home’ and ‘Community’ our Heads of Service 

have quantified the basic level of location and time flexibility that exists in every one of the 

services provided by the Council.   

Employees who hold jobs that have been identified as location independent and/or time 

independent, i.e. ‘Flexible’ ‘Mobile’ or ‘Home’ may benefit from the Agile Working Policy and/or 

Flexible Working Hours Scheme.  

Employees who hold jobs that have been identified as location dependent and time dependent 

will not benefit from the Agile Working Policy or the Flexible Working Hours Scheme. Their 

workplace and their time to attend work is ‘Fixed’.  This is particularly relevant in the context 

of the Mileage Scheme in that these are the employees who are required to undertake the 

‘ordinary commute’ to work each day and home again at their own time and expense aligned 

to HMRC and Gov.uk Guidance. 

In the interest of equity and fairness, the employees who may benefit from the opportunity to 

work agile/flexibly are also required to deduct any home to work and work to home travel from 

any business travel claim that is made.  The proposed Mileage Scheme therefore requires all 

employees whose posts have been designated as Fixed, Flexible or Mobile and who have to 

travel to work, to do so at their own time and expense.   

The first exception to this is the area designated ‘Community’. These are the employees who 
work in the heart of the community each day.  These are the employees who have no choice 
over where they work but they have never been required to attend an office base or designated 
Council workplace / Council building for the purpose of undertaking work.  They leave home 
each day to work in the heart of community, for example visiting clients’ homes for the purpose 
of providing care. 
 
Employees whose roles are designated ‘Community’ under the proposed Mileage Scheme will 
have their ‘workplace’ confirmed as being in the heart of the community.  This will be 0.5 miles 
away from their home.  The home to work and work to home return journey will be no more 
than 1 mile in total. The exception to this will be if the employee’s first call of each day is less 
than 1 mile away from their home.  The person whose role is designated ‘Community’ is 
unlikely to benefit from the Flexible Working Hours Scheme and/or the Agile Working Policy. 
These are predominantly the front-line workforce that deliver to the community and have little 
or no choice over where and when they work.  
 
The second exception to this is the roles which are designated ‘Home’.  These are the 
employees who have entered into a ‘mutual agreement’ with the Council to work 100% from 
home and their home has formally been confirmed as their work base. The employee whose 
role is designated ‘Home’, may make a travel claim from home for any necessary and 

Page 63



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

reasonable business travel incurred during the working day.   It is expected however that the 
employee whose role is designated ‘home’ will only incur business travel rarely and potentially 
never as their roles do not require them to work anywhere else ordinarily.  The Council does 
not currently have any employees that fit this designation.  
 
The proposed Mileage Scheme is relevant to any employee who must attend their designated 
workplace and, in this context, no different to the current Scheme. For this reason it is not 
featured further in Section 2 of this Assessment.  Aligned to Section 2, the proposed Mileage 
Scheme would have a neutral impact.  The Mileage Scheme is picked up again in this 
Assessment at Points 3a and 3b and in the consultation feedback. Inclusion in 3a and 3b 
aligns the Mileage Scheme as relevant to all employees including those who have protected 
characteristics who have Low Income/Experience Poverty.  
 
Section 2 for the most part focuses on the positive, neutral and negative impacts that 
align to the development and introduction of a new Agile Working Policy and the 
fundamental review of the proposed Flexible Working Hours Scheme .  

 

 

2. Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011   
(The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council to have “due regard” to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; advance equality of 

opportunity between different groups; and foster good relations between different groups).  
Please note that an individual may have more than one protected characteristics. 

 

2a Age (people of all ages) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 

 
An agile and flexible working arrangement can provide numerous benefits for employees and 

potential employees across the whole age range as geographical and other barriers to a wide 

range of employments are removed.  

Young people may look for work or training opportunities at the Council which would have 

been outside of the scope of their geographical area normally.  Work opportunities may open 

for them that may not have been possible for them to pursue before.  

For women and men with caring responsibilities, the agile working arrangement can offer them 

more flexibility to work around their childcare and/or caring needs.    

For older workers, who may welcome the opportunity to work in a more agile way because of 

a greater likelihood of health issues, disability or caring responsibilities, the agile working 

arrangement can assist them to limit their travel and work around their needs. 

Conversely,  

Low-income areas with inadequate or poor broadband connectivity could prevent employees 

and/or prospective employees from all age ranges taking advantage of the opportunity to 

work from home / remotely.   

Page 64

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Equalities/Equalities-issues


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

Suitable workspace at home may also present a barrier for employees and/or prospective 

employees from all age groups to work from home.  

People at risk of experiencing domestic abuse due to increase in isolation may also be a 

barrier across the whole age range to agile working, with women far more likely to be 

adversely affected than men.  

Older persons have the potential to be digitally shy and, in this context, may not welcome the 

opportunity for an agile working opportunity. 

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working. Some jobs 

are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be considered safe 

and secure in individual circumstances.   

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
Throughout the Covid crisis, the Council’s digital services team worked tirelessly to assist 
employees to work from home remotely.  The provision of laptops and support alongside the 
creation of the Digihub with helpful advice and troubleshooting guidance is designed to benefit 
most employees who may otherwise have been digitally shy to embrace this opportunity.  
Training sessions are run by the Digital Services Team. 
 
The agile working arrangements support choice taking account of service needs.  The 
opportunity to attend the workplace remains.  
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s111798/09.%20Wal es%20Co-operative%20Centre.pdf 
 
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s111795/06.%20Equality%20and%20Human%20Rights%
20Commission%20Wales.pdf  

 

 

2b Disability (people with disabilities/ long term conditions) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 

characteristics and how? 
 
Some disabled people prefer to work at home as they may personalise/adapt their working 

environment more ably to manage their impairment related needs.  

Remote or home working is the most requested reasonable adjustment across the UK for 

people with a disability.   For some, remote working can remove work-related barriers and 

stresses such as tiring commutes and reduce the importance of factors such as travel. 

Reasonable adjustments can enable disabled people to participate effectively in a home / 

remote and/or flexible working environment. For example, the Council’s supported use of 

remote working technology can enable improved participation in work for disabled people and 

potentially support skills development.   

Page 65



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

Neuro divergent and autistic people as well as those with sight or hearing impairments  may 
be more likely to experience difficulties associated with communication and technology in the 
work environment.  These difficulties potentially exacerbated if working remotely.   
 
Loneliness and isolation because of remote working is a possibility. Levels of loneliness are 

reported as generally high for people with mental health related impairments. Loneliness and 

isolation could potentially lead to depression and for this reason may not always be considered 

the preferred option of the disabled person.  

Residents who are disabled may welcome the opportunity to carry out their business at home 

and the agile working position of the Council will not affect this.  There will however be 

situations in which the Council will also need to reasonably adjust the service it is providing to 

support the needs of the individual.  

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working.  

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The Council is a Disability Confident Employer and with the support of the Occupational Health 
Department and relevant specialist organisations, the Council will always support the disabled 
person to pursue reasonable adjustments, enabling them to attend the workplace and/or work 
remotely and/or flexibly wherever possible.   
 
Where people need specialist chairs, office equipment and/or specialist digital software at 
work this will also be made available at home wherever it is possible to do so.   
 
A risk assessment underpinning the work from home of a disabled member of staff who 
requires reasonable adjustment will underpin the reasonable measures that are introduced. 
By and large, the impacts and reasonable adjustments that will be necessary will vary 
depending on the situation, condition, and disposition of individual. 
 
For people with musculoskeletal conditions, the incorrect setup of workstations (including 
chairs, monitors, keyboards, mouse, and desk layout) for example, is a common cause of 
discomfort in the back, arms, and hands of users of such equipment. All Employees working 
from home are required to complete a DSE Homeworking Self-Assessment Form and discuss 
any concerns with their Line Manager.  
 
Resources including guidance and videos that set out responsibilities and advise on how to 

set up workstations correctly is available on the Council’s Health & Safety Intranet Page.   

Residents with disabilities still need the same flexibility of services and people to meet them 
as they would have if all the staff were based in an office environment. The hybrid working 
opportunity that the agile working arrangement brings through the application of these policies 
is service led.  Employees will respond to the needs of the business as appropriate in terms 
of when they come into work and this also includes meeting the needs of a disabled resident 
at an office base where it is necessary to do so.  
 
People with disabilities may choose to work in any service of the Council including front line 

where the opportunity to work from home may not apply. If however, an employee is disabled 

and does not already have access to the beneficial position of these policies and/or limited 

access, accessibility issues must be considered to enable them to take part.  In seeking 

Page 66

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/HR/Health-Safety/Documents/DSE-Homeworking-Self-Assessment-Form-(1).aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

solutions to implement remote working in a way that is inclusive and accessible, we must 

continue to work closely with disabled people to identify the barriers and solutions to achieving 

their potential at work. 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Legally Disabled (2021), Submission to the Committee for Economy, Infrastructure and Skills 

‘Remote Working: Implications for Wales.’ Available online at: 

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s111801/12.%20Legally%20Disabled.pdf 

Disability Wales (2021), Consultation Response to Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee on 

Remote Working: Implications for Wales. Available online at: 

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s500006342/15.%20Disability%20Wales.pdf 

 

2c Gender Reassignment (anybody who’s gender identity or gender expression is different 

to the sex they were assigned at birth) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 

 
In the application of these policies, it is the post held that will determine the extent to which 

the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme applies.  All the potential 

benefits that apply to the worker who can work in an agile way, equally applies to people with 

a protected characteristic.  

The agile working arrangement, even where it is available may not be preferred the position 

of the employee.  Some transgender people for example, particularly young trans people living 

in the family home may be at risk of loneliness, nonacceptance or transphobia in the home.  

The LGBTQ+ helpline Switchboard reported 20% more calls, emails and instant messages 

during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working. Some jobs 

are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be considered safe 

and secure in individual circumstances.   

 

Page 67

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s111801/12.%20Legally%20Disabled.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s500006342/15.%20Disability%20Wales.pdf


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
The agile working arrangements support choice.  The opportunity to attend the workplace 
remains and with the opportunity to attend work, hopefully the added difficulties, dangers and 
worries facing trans people will ease.   
 
The Council is committed to ensuring that there are policies and a culture in place which are 
designed to prevent gender reassignment discrimination in all aspects of recruitment and 
selection, determining pay, training and development, selection for promotion, discipline and 
grievances, countering bullying and harassment, taking time off work and customer care. 
 
The Council was particularly proud of being recognised for its’ hard work within the umbrella 
of Proud Councils by being shortlisted as finalists in the 2022 Pink News Awards. Proud 
Councils is a partnership of South Wales councils who have come together to support 
LGBTQ+ issues. 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Barnardo’s, How Coronavirus has affected the LGBTQ+ community, 22nd June 2020. 
Available online at: https://www.barnardos.org.uk/blog/how-coronavirus-has-affected-lgbt-
community   
 
The Council’s Gender Reassignment / Transgender document 

 
2d Marriage or Civil Partnership (people who are married or in a civil partnership) 

 
(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 

characteristics and how? 
 
This assessment has not identified any disproportionate or differential equality impacts 

based on the protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership. 

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working. Some jobs 

are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be considered safe 

and secure in individual circumstances.   

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The agile working opportunity supports choice and the opportunity to attend the workplace 

remains.  
 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Not applicable 

 

Page 68

https://www.barnardos.org.uk/blog/how-coronavirus-has-affected-lgbt-community
https://www.barnardos.org.uk/blog/how-coronavirus-has-affected-lgbt-community
http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/getattachment/90d224ad-cf71-4596-92c4-7d7f780b1cf3/Gender-Reassignment-Transgender.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

2e Pregnancy and Maternity (women who are pregnant and/or on maternity leave) 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 
 
Positive impacts for some pregnant women who may welcome the agile working opportunity 
in order not to have to commute into an office or other place of work.  
 
Also positive for some women, who after giving birth, welcome the opportunity for increased 
flexibility.  The option to work from home may support the return to work following maternity 
leave and/or make it easier to keep in touch with colleagues while on leave.  
 
The agile and/or flexible working arrangement may enable planning, feeding of the baby, 
exercise, and the opportunity to spend more time with family.   It can also promote positivity 
and flexibility in the working day.    
 
An agile working arrangement can give the employee or prospective employee the confidence 
to return to work/to join work again if they have had a break and to continue climbing the career 
ladder of their choice.  
 
Conversely, the agile working opportunity could also create an expectation that women will 
return to work earlier than they might otherwise choose, which could have negative impacts.  
 
Some potentially negative impacts may also include people working in housing that may not 
be appropriate for work due to lack of space.  Also, there is the risk of (particularly women) 
being overwhelmed by managing both work and the family or caring obligations in the agile 
working circumstance. 

 
Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working. Some jobs 

are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be considered safe 

and secure in individual circumstances.   

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The agile working arrangements support choice.  The opportunity to attend the workplace 
remains.  
 
The agile working arrangement will not apply to all women in all roles.  The Council family 
friendly working policies will apply to those who may not benefit from the agile working 
arrangement in their chosen job.  
 

The Council supports the full maternity entitlement of employees and it is an expectation that 

the employee will remain absent for the whole entitlement unless they, the employee advise 

differently.   

Page 69



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Research for the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Equality Human 
Rights Commission (EHRC) found that a high proportion of women requested more flexible 
working practices on their return to work, including 15% who requested to work from home 
or do so more frequently. Of mothers who chose not to return to work, 36% said that they 
could not find a job with the right hours, and 24% said that they could not find a job in a 
suitable location. 
 

2f Race (people from black, Asian and minority ethnic communities and different racial 

backgrounds) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 

 
In the application of these policies, it is the post held that will determine the extent to which 
the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme applies.  All the potential 
benefits that apply to the people who can work in an agile way then equally applies to people 
with a protected characteristic.   
 
A negative impact for some people from some Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities 
may arise where the individual does not have a suitable workspace in the home to benefit from 
the agile working arrangement.  
 
The Council’s percentage of non-white employees is very low, accounting for less than 1% of 
the total workforce. However, when this is compared with Census data for the Caerphilly 
County Borough, we can see that the number is broadly reflective of the demographics of the 
local community. We will continue to champion diversity and inclusivity and build upon 
existing good practice to increase numbers in under-represented groups. 

 
 

(ii)  If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The agile working arrangements support choice.  The opportunity to attend the workplace 
remains.  
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 
The Equality and Human Rights Commission’s (ECHR) report, Is Britain Fairer. 
 
  
 

Page 70



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 
 

 

2g Religion or Belief (people with different religions and beliefs including people with no 
beliefs) 

 
(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 

characteristics and how? 
 
Potential positive impacts for some religious groups as an agile/flexible working arrangement 

may allow people increased flexibility to attend or celebrate religious events and festivals. 

Working remotely may also allow people to work during religious holidays they don’t observe.  

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working.  

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The Council does not require or promote religious belief in general or any religious belief in 
particular. It is however committed to protecting and promoting the rights of everyone in its 
communities, people with or without formal religious affiliation, of all faiths and none, and 
provide for the principle of respecting other people’s freedom to express their beliefs and 
convictions.  
 
The Equality and Human Rights Commission have published updated guidance which the 
Council follows.  

 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 

The Equality and Human Rights Commission Guidance on Religion or Belief 

 
 

2h Sex (women and men, girls and boys and those who self-identify their gender) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 

 
This assessment has not identified any disproportionate or differential equality impacts based 

on the protected characteristic Sex. The Council does however have a predominantly female 

workforce in both the agile and frontline services of the Council.   

In the application of these policies, it is the post held that will determine the extent to which 
the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme applies.  All the potential 
benefits that apply to the people who can work in an agile way then equally applies to people 
with a protected characteristic.   
 

Page 71

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/getattachment/f6edaf3c-aa12-4c61-82dd-9197ee74a062/Religion-or-Belief.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
Not applicable 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Not applicable 

 

2i Sexual Orientation (lesbian, gay, bisexual, heterosexual, other) 

 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the protected 
characteristics and how? 
 
In the application of these policies, it is the post held that will determine the extent to which 

the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme applies.  All of the potential 

benefits that apply to the worker who can work in an agile way then equally applies to people 

with a protected characteristic.  

The agile working arrangement, even where it is available may not be preferred the position 

of the employee.  Some LGBTQ+ people, particularly young people living in the family home 

may be at risk of loneliness, nonacceptance or homophobia/transphobia at home. The 

LGBTQ+ helpline Switchboard reported 20% more calls, emails and instant messages during 

the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Not all jobs or employee situations will be suitable for agile and flexible working. Some jobs 

are intrinsically not suitable, and some proposed arrangements may not be considered safe 

and secure in individual circumstances.   

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 

The agile working opportunity supports choice.  The opportunity to attend the workplace 
remains.   

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
Barnardo’s, How Coronavirus has affected the LGBTQ+ community, 22nd June 2020. Available online 

at: https://www.barnardos.org.uk/blog/how-coronavirus-has-affected-lgbt-community 

 

 

Page 72

https://www.barnardos.org.uk/blog/how-coronavirus-has-affected-lgbt-community


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

3. Socio-economic Duty (Strategic Decisions Only) 
(The Socio-economic Duty gives us an opportunity to do things differently and put tackling 
inequality genuinely at the heart of key decision making.  Socio-economic disadvantage 

means living on a low income compared to others in Wales, with little or no accumulated 
wealth, leading to greater material deprivation, restricting the ability to access basic goods 
and services) 
 
Please consider these additional vulnerable group and the impact your proposal may or 
may not have on them: 

 Single parents and vulnerable families  
 People with low literacy/numeracy  
 Pensioners 
 Looked after children  
 Homeless people  

 Carers 
 Armed Forces Community 
 Students 
 Single adult households 
 People misusing substances 

 People who have experienced the asylum system 
 People of all ages leaving a care setting 
 People living in the most deprived areas in Wales (WIMD)  
 People involved in the criminal justice system 

 

3a Low Income / Income Poverty (cannot afford to maintain regular payments such as 

bills, food, clothing, transport etc.) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 

how? 
 
The Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme may provide employees with 

a benefit of reduced travel and associated costs.   

For the employees who have no option but to travel to work, the cost of fuel and the 

requirement to travel to work each day has become a concern for many in line with the current 

cost of living crisis.   

In order not to exacerbate existing inequalities with employees on Low Income and who may 

be experiencing Income Poverty, the employees whose posts support agile/flexible working 

and who may have to travel to work are required to deduct their home to work travel and work 

to home travel from any business travel claim that they incur.  It is the employees who 

generally work out of an office building who are more likely to benefit from the ability to have 

more choice over where and when they work, compared to the employees who make up a 

large proportion of our front-line workforce and who may not have this flexibility in their roles.    

 

Page 73

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/Departments/Corporate-Policy-Business-Support-Unit/Socio-Economic-Duty.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

With reference to the agile worker specifically, the Trade Unions expressed disappointment 

when considering these policies and schemes that a Home Working Payment/Allowance has 

not been considered.  This is a matter that is being considered nationally and Officers will 

continue to discuss this with the Trade Unions.    

With further reference to the agile worker, the Trade Unions have requested that any additional 

cost an employee may encounter to their home insurance as a direct result of working from 

home is reimbursed in full.  The Council has confirmed that any such claims of additional costs 

may be given consideration, should they arise.  

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
The Council has committed to paying the Real Living Wage to all employees of the Council 

who would otherwise earn less than this and this year has introduced the uplift of £10.90 per 

hour from 22nd September 2022 i.e. earlier than normal. The vast majority of the Real Living 

Wage recipients will occupy front line posts that mostly do not offer the flexibility of where and 

when to work.  

The Council has adopted the Interim ‘Joint Mileage protocol - Mileage Rates in Local 

Authorities in Wales’ with effect from 26th September 2022. This is a joint protocol between 

Leaders of local authorities in Wales, facilitated through the WLGA Executive Board and the 

Trade Unions of the Joint Council for Wales, to introduce a measure that provides for a 

temporary increase in mileage reimbursements costs in the short term to address current 

market volatility in fuel rates. 

The protocol is intended to cover staff directly employed by local authorities in accordance 

with local policies and is a temporary arrangement through to 31 March 2023, at which time it 

will be reviewed.  This protocol will be automatically superseded by any increase in the HMRC 

Approved Mileage Allowance Payments (AMAP) rate.  

The proposed draft Mileage Scheme supports the front line ‘community’ based workers who 

work in the heart of the Community to claim their travel aligned to an ‘ordinary commute’ of 

one mile per day.  

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 

The Cost of Living Crisis and its reported impact on workers.  
The Joint Mileage protocol - Mileage Rates in Local Authorities in Wales (Insert Link) 

 

Page 74



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

3b Low and/or No Wealth (enough money to meet basic living costs and pay bills but have 

no savings to deal with any unexpected spends and no provisions for the future) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 
 
Please note the answer to 3a (i) above.  
 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
Please note the answer to 3a (ii) above. 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 
Please note the answer to 3a (iii) above. 
 

3c Material Deprivation (unable to access basic goods and services i.e., financial products 

like life insurance, repair/replace broken electrical goods, warm home, hobbies etc.)  
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 

 
Not applicable. 

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
Not applicable 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 

Not applicable 
 

3d Area Deprivation (where you live (rural areas), where you work (accessibility of public 
transport) Impact on the environment? 

 
(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 

how? 

 
The offer of an Agile Working Arrangement will open up the geographical boundaries search 
for employees and prospective employees, creating opportunities for employment that 
would have been out of reach for some before.  

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

Not applicable 
 

Page 75



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

Not applicable 
 

 

3e Socio-economic Background (social class i.e. parents education, employment and 

income) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 
 
Not applicable. 
 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
Not applicable. 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 

3f Socio-economic Disadvantage (What cumulative impact will the proposal have on 
people or groups because of their protected characteristic(s) or vulnerability or because they 

are already disadvantaged) 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 
 
The key points emerging from this assessment are that there are a range of potential 

positive and negative impacts for different Protected Characteristic Groups.  

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
As outlined in this assessment. 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? 

 
As outlined in this assessment. 

 
 

 

Page 76



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

4. Corporate Plan – Council’s Well-being Objectives  
(How does your proposal deliver against any/all of the Council’s Well-being Objectives?  
Which in turn support the national well-being goals for Wales as outlined in the Well-being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  Are there any impacts (positive, negative or 
neutral?  If there are negative impacts how have these been mitigated?)  Well-being 
Objectives 
 
Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all 
 
Not applicable. 

 

Objective 2 - Enabling employment 
 
The offer of an agile working arrangement will open up the geographical boundaries search 
for employees and prospective employees, creating opportunities for employment that would 
have been out of reach for some before.  

 

Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 
county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s well -being 

 
Not applicable. 

 
Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impact on the environment 
 
Not applicable.  The Agile Working Arrangement however will enable the Council to reduce 
its Carbon footprint, assisting the minimisation of adverse impact on the environment.  

 
Objective 5 - Creating a county borough that supports healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

Sustainable Development principle with in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The Annual Leave Policy proposes the addition of a further 6 days leave entitlement per 
annum. Aligned to the current holiday entitlement, employees benefit from more paid time off 
from work which is beneficial to supporting a healthier lifestyle. 
 
The agile working arrangement can lead to a healthy lifestyle by supporting working 
arrangements that better fit to individuals’ circumstances. The policy and scheme aims to 
support improvements in work-life balance by reducing the time spent amongst the workforce 
for commuting.  The flexibility in an agile working arrangement in terms of choice over when to 
work may also support individuals’ who have childcare and/or caring requirements.    The 
policies do not limit flexibility to those with care requirements. Enabling time out for a break to 
walk the dog or to undertake exercise for example are choices that individual’s may wish to 
make in managing their contractual working time.  
 

 

Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being 
 
Not applicable.  

Page 77

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/Corporate_Plan_2018-2023.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

4a.  Links to any other relevant Council Policy (How does your proposal deliver against 
any other relevant Council Policy) 
 
Workforce development Strategy 2021-2024 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021 - 2024 
Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 
Customer and Digital Strategy 2019-2023 
Commercialisation and Investment Strategy 2020 

Service Review Methodology 2020 

 
 

Page 78



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

5. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – The Five Ways of 
Working (Also known as the sustainable development principles.  The Act requires the 

Council to consider how any proposal improves the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales using the five ways of working as a baseline) 
 
How have you used the Sustainable Development Principles in forming the proposal? 
 
Long Term – Alongside the philosophy of Welsh Government, the Council in the promotion of 

the Agile Working Policy and Flexible Working Hours Scheme is proactively responding to a 
long-term behavioural change that has been accelerated by the former need to work from home 
during the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions. The policies support the principle of Welsh 
Government to maximise the long-term benefits of increased remote working and support 
sustainable long-term growth, whilst mitigating potentially adverse impacts. 

 
Prevention – Higher levels of remote working are expected to occur as a result of underlying 

changes in the economy. The Council in acting and proactively engaging to support 
agile/flexible working with an enhanced annual leave entitlement will position the Council as an 
employer of choice.  If the Council were not to support the principle of agile working and the roll 
out of this to as many jobs as appropriate and possible, the potential to lose the right people 
with the right skills to an organisation that does support agile working is foreseeable.  To do 
nothing would present a considerable recruitment risk to the Council, based on employees’ 
confirmed preferences for hybrid working and the benefits that could apply to the Protected 
Characteristic Group as outlined in this assessment.  

 

Integration – Increased agile/flexible working has wide-ranging implications for other policy 

areas such as transport, planning and development, the labour market and the economy. 

 

Collaboration – The Council has taken a collaborative approach to the development of these 

policies and schemes has ensured the consultative bargaining process of the Council has been 
followed.  The trade unions have helped to shape these policies. Their feedback is included in 
the report to which this Assessment relates.  
 

Involvement – The Workforce Development Strategy 2021-2014 from which this priority action 

has arisen involved Cabinet and Council, the Corporate Management and Leadership Team, 
Management Network, Operational Management and the Trade Unions. 

 

 

  

Page 79

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/5-ways-working


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

6. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

Does the proposal maximise our contribution to the Well-being Goals and 
how? 
 
A Prosperous Wales 
An innovative, productive and low carbon society which recognises the limits of the global 
environment and therefore uses resources efficiently and proportionately (including acting on 
climate change); and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides employment opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through securing decent work 

 
These policies and schemes will assist the Council in its goal to lower carbon emissions, by 
supporting more flexible and productive working practices with less geographic dependency. It 
will enable our journey to improve working conditions and place the Council as an employer of 
choice. By enabling access to job opportunities to a much wider geographical area of the 
population, whilst including and pro-actively promoting these opportunities to persons in 
protected characteristic groups, we enable more people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through secure and decent work.   

 
A Resilient Wales 
A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural environment healthy functioning 
ecosystems that support social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt 
to change (for climate change) 
 
The agile working arrangement can assist in supporting a more resilient and sustainable natural 
environment by reducing levels of commuting and work-based travel.  Agile working supported 
by a Business continuity plan can support the Council’s resilience to respond to crises and 
incidents.  The closure of office buildings in situations of inclement weather and situations that 
require an emergency response, such as Covid have no need to affect the productivity of the 
Council and its’ ability to provide a service as it once did, once Agile Working is embedded.  
 

A Healthier Wales  
A society in which people’s physical and mental well-being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health are understood 

 
The agile working arrangement can enhance physical and mental health by supporting working 
arrangements that better fit to individuals’ circumstances. The policy aims to support 
improvements in work-life balance by reducing the time spent amongst the workforce for 
commuting.  The flexibility in an agile working arrangement in terms of choice over when to 
work may also support individuals’ who have childcare and/or caring requirements.    The 
policies do not limit flexibility to those with care requirements. Enabling time out for a break to 
take the dog for a walk or to undertake exercise for example are choices that individual’s may 
wish to make in managing their contractual working time.  

 

 
 

Page 80

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Corporate-strategies,-plans-and-policies/The-Well-being-of-Future-Generations-(Wales)-Act?lang=en-GB


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

A More Equal Wales 

A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or 
circumstances (including their socio-economic background and circumstances) 

 
These policies and schemes enable and encourage people across different communities to 
access employment and training opportunities with less dependency on their geographic 
location. The ability to work remotely will lower the barriers to employment that exist for those 
who would otherwise have to commute longer distances.  It will also alleviate the requirement 
to travel to work for individual’s who find any commute and/or attendance at the workplace 
challenging.    

 
A Wales of Cohesive Communities 

Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities 
 
These policies have the potential to support more coherent local communities, by increasing 
the presence of workers in their residential area or wider locality during the working week. The 
Government’s position on this is that remote working opportunities can help support 
decentralised growth and regeneration of smaller population centres, with greater demand for 
locally provided goods and services. 

 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and recreation 
 
Increased usage of the Welsh Language, by advocating a more joined-up and digitally 
connected workforce with an improved work-life balance may enable greater time for pursuit of 
cultural activities which can create new opportunities to use the Welsh Language.  The Council 
remains committed to promoting the Welsh Language and the Equalities and Welsh Language 
Team continues to provide training and learning opportunities to the Council’s front line and 
wider workforce.  

 
A Globally Responsible Wales 

A nation which, when doing anything to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global well-being 
 
The agile working arrangement and the access to digital technology that underpins this can 
equip the workforce to respond to changes in society and the wider world that thrives in this 
digital age.  The Council’s position to support agile working will contribute to Wales’ vision and 
thus assist with Wales’ contribution towards global wellbeing, and its role in shaping it. 

 

  

Page 81



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

7. Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and Welsh Language Standards  
(The Welsh Language Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards require the Council 
to have ‘due regard’ for the positive or negative impact a proposal may have on opportunities 

to use the Welsh language and ensuring the Welsh language is treated no less favourably 
than the English language) Policy Making Standards - Good Practice Advice Document 

 

7a.  Links with Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050 Strategy and CCBC’s Five Year 

Welsh Language Strategy 2022-2027 and the Language Profile 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 
 
Agile working opportunities may present more opportunity to use Welsh in the home and more 

opportunity to use Welsh in the community if the employee resides in a Welsh speaking 

household and community.  

Some people will have more job options without leaving Welsh speaking areas which may 

support the economies of rural Welsh speaking communities.  

For some there may be less opportunity to speak Welsh in work, and to benefit from office 

based Welsh language campaigns.   

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
The Council remains committed to promoting the Welsh Language through the digital 
platform. 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? e.g. the WESP, TAN20, LDP, Pupil Level 
Annual School Census 
 

The work of the Equalities and Welsh language Team.  
Five Year Welsh Language Strategy 2022-2027 
 

Page 82

http://sc-aptdken2/KENTICO10/getattachment/b33d6f35-d70e-4d8d-917d-cc0e4abe2624/Policy-Making-Standards-Advisory-Document.aspx
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-12/cymraeg-2050-welsh-language-strategy.pdf
https://www.caerffili.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/Welsh-Language/five-year-welsh-langauge-strategy-2022-2027.aspx
https://www.caerffili.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/Welsh-Language/five-year-welsh-langauge-strategy-2022-2027.aspx
https://www.caerffili.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/Welsh-Language/appendix-b-menter-iaith-caerffili-welsh-language-p.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

 
 

7b.  Compliance with the Welsh Language Standards.  Specifically Standards 88–93 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 

 
Neutral 

 
(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 

 
Not applicable 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? e.g. the WESP, TAN20, LDP, Pupil Level 

Annual School Census 
 
Not applicable 

 

7c.  Opportunities to promote the Welsh language e.g. status, use of Welsh language 

services, use of Welsh in everyday life in work / community 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 
 
Neutral 

 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 

Not applicable 
 

(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? e.g. the WESP, TAN20, LDP, Pupil Level 
Annual School Census 
 

Not applicable 
 

  

Page 83

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Equalities/ComplianceNotice.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

7d.  Opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language e.g. staff, residents and visitors 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 

 
Neutral 
 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
Not applicable 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? e.g. the WESP, TAN20, LDP, Pupil Level 

Annual School Census 
 
Not applicable 

 

7e.  Treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language 
 

(i) Does the proposal have any positive, negative or neutral impacts on the following and 
how? 

 
Neutral 
 

(ii) If there are negative impacts how will these be mitigated? 
 
Not applicable 

 
(iii) What evidence has been used to support this view? e.g. the WESP, TAN20, LDP, Pupil Level 

Annual School Census 
 
Not applicable 

 

7f. Having considered the impacts above, how has the proposal been developed 

so that there are positive effects, or increased positive effects on (a) 

opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, and  (b) treating the 

Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. 
 
Not applicable based on the neutral position these policies present.   

 
 

 

Page 84



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

8. Data and Information 
(What data or other evidence has been used to inform the development of the proposal?  
Evidence may include the outcome of previous consultations, existing databases, pilot 

projects, review of customer complaints and compliments and or other service user feedback, 
national and regional data, academic publications and consultants’ reports etc.) 

 
Data/evidence (Please provide link to report if appropriate) 

 
Workforce development Strategy 2021-2024 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021 - 2024 
Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 
Customer and Digital Strategy 2019-2023 
Commercialisation and Investment Strategy 2020 
Service Review Methodology 2020 

Results from staff surveys  

Staff engagement through the Council’s Collective Bargaining Process via Trade Union 

consultation and feedback.  

 

Key relevant findings 
 
These policies and schemes support the Council’s vision for sustainable development which 
places an emphasis on the importance of economic growth, de-carbonisation and the health 
and well-being of our employees.  The Council fully endorses and is committed to developing 
and resourcing agile working across our Council on a sustainable basis.  The council vision 
aligns to Welsh Government’s vision to support agile working/remote working across Wales.  

 

How has the data/evidence informed this proposal? 
 
These policies and schemes were created and reviewed as a priority action of the Workforce 
Development Strategy 2021-2024 and the Employee Wellbeing Strategy 2021-24. 

 
Were there any gaps identified in the evidence and data used to develop this proposal and 

how will these gaps be filled?  Details of further consultation can be included in Section 9. 
 
The Council’s percentage of non-white employees is very low, accounting for less than 1% of 
the total workforce. However, when this is compared with Census data for the Caerphilly 
County Borough, we can see that the number is broadly reflective of the demographics of the 
local community.  We will continue to champion diversity and inclusivity and build upon existing 
good practice to increase numbers in under-represented groups. 

 

Page 85



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

9. Consultation  
(In some instances, there is a legal requirement to consult.  In others, even where there is no 
legal obligation, there may be a legitimate expectation from people that a consultation will 

take place.  Where it has been determined that consultation is required, The Gunning 
Principles must be adhered to.  Consider the Consultation and Engagement Framework.  
Please note that this may need to be updated as the proposal develops and to strengthen 
the assessment. 
 
Briefly describe any recent or planned consultations paying particular attention to 
evidencing the Gunning Principles. 
 
Who was consulted?  
 
The Council’s collective consultation process was followed with our local and regional 
officers from GMB, UNITE and UNISON in the creation of these policies. The Council’s 
Leadership Team, HR Management Team, HR Strategy Group and the Health & Safety 
Manger have also been consulted.  The policies have also been considered at Policy and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee and at Cabinet.  

 
When they were consulted did the consultation take place at the formative stage and was 
adequate time given for consultees to consider and respond? 
 
Yes 

 
Was sufficient information provided to consultees to allow them to make an informed 
decision on the proposal?  

 
Yes 

 
What were the key findings? 
 
The Trade Unions of GMB, UNISON and UNITE have worked with Officers in HR over a 
number of months to shape the policies.   
 
The Trade Unions are now in general agreement with the categories that have been defined 
within the policy which emphasise the location and time independence that may exist in those 
staff categories of Fixed, Flexible, Mobile, Home and Community.  They agree that these 
should be subject to regular review, taking account of both service and employee needs.  
These are the categorisations that define whether the Agile Working Policy and/or Flexible 
Working  Hours Scheme applies.  
 
The Trade Unions disagree with the policy position that the agile worker should always deduct 
their ‘ordinary commute’ mileage from any mileage claim that is made.  The Agile Working 
Policy signposts to the revised Mileage policy in this context.  
 
The Trade Unions advocate for home to work and work to home which is the ‘ordinary 
commute’ not to be deducted from business mileage where a commute to and from the 
designated place of work has not been undertaken i.e., instances when an employee is 
working from home and would go direct to site from their home location on Council business.  

Page 86

https://www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/
https://www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Consultations/Consultation-and-Engagement-Framework.aspx


 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 
This Integrated impact Assessment highlights the potential risk of exacerbating existing 
inequalities with employees on Low Income /Income Poverty.  It is the employees who 
generally work out of an office building who are more likely to benefit from the ability to have 
more choice over where and when they work, compared to the employees who make up a 
large proportion of our front-line workforce and who may not have this flexibility in their roles.  
It is these front-line employees who naturally incur an ‘ordinary commute’ to work each and 
every day and against which home to work and work to home mileage is at their own time and 
expense.   
 
The Trade Unions advocate for the Agile Worker to be able to claim from home if they have to 
travel to an alternative workplace other than their normal place of work on the premise that 
this is not an ordinary commute.  They advocate that the employee does not deduct their 
ordinary home to designated workplace travel as prescribed by the Policy.  
 
N.B:  There would be a clear inequality created if the Council supported this position for the 
Agile Worker but not the Front-line Worker who does not benefit from the Agile Working Policy. 
The front-line worker has no option but to undertake the ‘ordinary commute’ each day, which 
is at their own time and expense.  
    
The Trade Unions expressed disappointment that a Home Working Payment/Allowance has 
not been considered within the policy. The Council will continue to discuss this with the Trade 
Unions with reference to the ongoing national consideration of this matter. 
  
How have the consultation findings been taken into account? 

 
The Policies and Schemes have been updated in line with the feedback from the Trade 
Unions save for the matters above and included in the accompanying report. 
 
 

Page 87



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

10. Monitoring and Review 
 
How will the implementation and the impact of the proposal be monitored, including 

implementation of any amendments? 
 
The policies will progress through Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet and any supported 
amendments to the policies will be made.  
 
The equalities data that we hold will be reviewed and measures put in place to enhance our 
data capture for groups with protected characteristics.  We will also review this data on an 
annual basis to understand how and if the promotion of an agile working culture leads to more 
interest from groups that would ordinarily not consider applying for jobs and particularly in the 
context of those with a protected characteristic.  

 
What are the practical arrangements for monitoring? 
 
The monitoring arrangements in the Workforce Development Strategy 2021 -2024 include: 
 
HR Strategy Group 
Corporate Management Team 
Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Cabinet 

 
How will the results of the monitoring be used to develop future proposals? 
 
The Council will commit to reviewing these Policies and Schemes on a Bi-Annual Basis.  

 

When is the proposal due to be reviewed? 
 
The Policies and Schemes at the point of implementation will be due for review in January 
2025.  
 
The data monitoring in relevance to these Policies and Schemes will be reviewed annually.  

 
Who is responsible for ensuring this happens? 
 
The Head of People Services 
 

 

Page 88



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

11. Recommendation and Reasoning (delete as applicable) 
 

 Implement proposal with no amendments 
 

Have you contacted relevant officers for advice and guidance? (delete as applicable) 
 Yes 

 
 

12. Reason(s) for Recommendations 
(Provide below a summary of the Integrated Impact Assessment.  This summary should be included 

in the “Summary of Integrated Impact Assessment” section of the Corporate Report Template.  The 
Integrated Impact Assessment should be published alongside the Report proposal). 

 
The development of the Agile Working policy and the review of the Flexible Working Hours 
Scheme was a priority action of the Workforce Strategy 2021-2024.  Inclusive of the 
complimentary Annual Leave Policy and Mileage Scheme, this collective of Policies and 
Schemes support the Council’s vision for sustainable development which places an emphasis 
on the importance of economic growth, de-carbonisation and the health and well-being of our 
employees.  The Council fully endorses and is committed to developing and resourcing agile 
working across our Council on a sustainable basis.  The council vision aligns to Welsh 
Government’s vision to support agile working/remote working across Wales.  

 

 

Page 89



 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 

13. Version Control 
(The IIA should be used in the early stages of the proposal development process.  The IIA can 
be strengthened as time progresses to help shape the proposal.  The Version Control section 

will act as an audit trail to evidence how the IIA has been developed over time) (Add or 
delete versions as applicable) 

 

 Version 1 
 
Author:-   Lisa Downey 
 

Brief description of the amendments/update:- 
 
Revision Date:- 
 
 

 Version 2 
 
Author:- 

 
Brief description of the amendments/update:- 
 
Revision Date:- 
 

 

 

Integrated Impact Assessment Author 
Name:-  Lisa Downey 
Job Title:-  HR Service Manager 
Date:-  05/12/2022 
 
 

Head of Service Approval 
Name:-  Lynne Donovan 

Job Title:-Head of People Services 

Signature:-   
Date:-  05/12/2022 

 

Page 90



 
 

CABINET – 14TH DECEMBER 2022 
 

 
SUBJECT: LOW COST HOME OWNERSHIP POLICY 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To seek Cabinet approval to formally adopt and subsequently launch the new LCHO 
policy. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 This report introduces the new LCHO policy, which is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.2 A report was presented to members of the Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

on 29th November 2022. 
 
2.3 Data from the Office of National Statistics shows that the cost of owning a homing is 

becoming increasingly more expensive, with house price inflation outstripping growth in 
income.  

 
2.4 This policy will help people who are unable to afford to purchase 100% of a property on 

the open market and help to reduce the numbers of people currently on the common 
housing register. 

 
2.5 Welsh Government supports the provision of homes built for LCHO through grant funding 

both to local authorities and housing associations. 
 
2.6 This policy will assist the Council in its ambitions to create balanced and sustainable 

communities, as outlined in the recently approved Local Housing Strategy 2022-2027. 
 
2.7 The LCHO policy is an essential aspect of Caerphilly Homes development ambitions. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 That Cabinet approves the introduction and publication of the new LCHO policy. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 To help realise the Council’s ambitions of creating cohesive and sustainable communities, 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



as set out in the 2022-2027 Local Housing Strategy, by providing support to people who 
aspire to homeownership but are unable to afford the full market value for a home. 

 
4.2 The introduction of a LCHO policy will complement the Council’s own new build, 

affordable housing aspirations through the creation of mixed tenure developments, which 
look to address a range of housing requirements. 

 
4.3 To help reduce the number of people on the Council’s common housing register, by 

providing opportunities for people to meet their own needs through affordable home 
ownership. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 

 
Local Context 
 
5.1 To realise the Council’s ambitions of creating cohesive and sustainable communities, as 

set out in the 2022-2027 Local Housing Strategy, it is important that housing providers are 
able to build a range of different homes including for sale and for rent.  The introduction of 
a LCHO policy by the Council will help assist with meeting this ambition and its own new 
build aspirations. 

 
5.2 Members will be aware from reports published in the media of the increasing affordability 

issue preventing people from owning their own home.  The affordability of owning a home 
is typically measured using a ratio of the median price paid for a residential property 
against median workplace-based gross annual earnings for full-time workers, using data 
published by the Office of National Statistics.  Latest data (March 2022) shows a ratio of 
5.2 in 2021, compared to 4.9 in 2020.  

 
5.3 With over 6,000 applications on Caerphilly’s common housing register, helping people 

into affordable homeownership can help to reduce the pressures on the existing social 
housing stock, thereby ensuring that the stock is let to those in greatest need who do not 
have the means necessary to satisfy their own needs.  Our data shows that many of 
these people aspire to owning their own home. 

 
5.4 Our housing association partners have a proven track record of building affordable homes 

for sale in the borough.  Providing affordable homes for sale is also a key element of 
Caerphilly Homes’ future development ambitions and members will note from another 
H&RSC report (10th February 2022) that the Council plans to provide LCHO opportunities 
on the redevelopment of the former Oakdale comprehensive school.  In addition, the 
Council will shortly acquire LCHO properties via a s106 Agreement on the former 
Aberbargoed Comprehensive school. 

 
5.5 21% (100 out of 481) of the homes funded by Caerphilly’s 2022/23 Programme 

Development Plan, due to be built over the next 5 years, either by the Council or housing 
association partners, will be shared ownership. 

 
National Context 
 
5.6 LCHO products are not a new invention and have been provided throughout Wales for 

many years.  They have been designed to provide support to people who aspire to 
homeownership but are unable to afford the full market value for a home.  The sale of 
LCHO products is typically governed by a LCHO policy.  The purpose of a LCHO policy is 
to set out the qualifying criteria that households must meet to be eligible for support and 
any local priorities that need to be taken into consideration.   

Page 92



 
5.7 No guidance has been produced by Welsh Government on producing LCHO policies.  It 

is, therefore, up to the Council to decide what is included in its own policy. 
 
5.8 LCHO policies typically provide opportunities for people to buy affordable homes through 

one of the following main routes: 
 

 Shared ownership – the prospective homebuyer(s) buys a share in a property 
(between 25-75% of the open market value) and pays rent on the remaining share. 

 

 Shared equity – the prospective homebuyer(s) buys an equity stake in a property 
(typically 70%) and does not pay rent on the remaining stake. 

 
5.9 The use of LCHO policies is consistent with Welsh Government’s national housing policy.  

Welsh Government provides grant funding to local authorities and housing associations in 
Wales to build shared ownership properties.  They also provide LCHO opportunities at a 
national level, e.g. Help to Buy Wales.  Newly built shared ownership homes count 
towards Welsh Government ambitions to build 20,000 low carbon homes for rent in Wales 
because of the rental aspect. 

 
Development Process 
 
5.10 A working group within Caerphilly Homes was established in 2020 to look at the 

development of an LCHO policy.  As part of this process officers undertook some 
research to identify examples of good practice throughout the UK.  Detailed discussions 
were also held with two partner housing associations and a neighbouring local authority. 

 
5.11 An early version of the Council’s draft LCHO policy was reviewed by national law firm 

Blake Morgan LLP.  The draft was revised in light of comments received and prepared for 
public consultation. 

 
5.12 The policy was based on a shared equity approach only, which at the time of 

development met Welsh Government’s criteria for accessing Social Housing Grant.  
However, changes to Welsh Government funding criteria means that shared equity is no 
longer eligible for grant funding, which would mean that the Council would be required to 
pay for the construction / purchase of an LCHO property, provided on a shared equity 
basis, solely using its own funding, which potentially could make development of some 
sites financially unviable. 

 
5.13 In December 2021 the Council undertook a 6 week public consultation exercise on the 

introduction of the new LCHO policy.  The Council received 64 on-line responses during 
the consultation period and direct feedback via email from housing association partners.  
This information was analysed and the policy updated accordingly.  The majority of 
changes were minor in nature, with the more significant changes being made to the 
eligibility criteria to include stated maximum incomes for people/households eligible under 
the policy. 

 
5.14 Following a review of the consultation responses and recognising that shared ownership 

still attracts Welsh Government grant funding, a decision was taken by the new Head of 
Housing to expand the range of products in the LCHO policy to include shared ownership.  
The policy was subsequently updated and a second public consultation exercise on the 
new amendments was undertaken over a 4 week period between August and September 
2022. 

 

Page 93



5.15 The policy applies only to those properties acquired by the Council through the planning 
system or properties built via its own development programme.  It does not provide for 
prospective home buyers to purchase properties on the open market and excludes those 
properties provided by housing association partners throughout the county borough.  The 
policy does not apply to the Council’s housing association partners, who maintain their 
own policies. 

 
The LCHO Policy 
 
5.16 To be regarded as eligible under the new policy all prospective home buyers will need to 

satisfy the following criteria: 
 

 be 18 years old or over; 

 be a British citizen or have been granted settled status in the UK; 

 be a first-time buyer or: 
o be a newly forming household; for example, starting again after a relationship 

break-up; or 
o be relocating for work purposes to an area where property prices do not allow 

you to buy a home suitable for your family size; 
o is over 55 years old and requires later living accommodation; or 
o is a disabled person (or is living with a disabled person) who has been 

assessed by the Council as requiring accessible housing. 

 be living or working in the county borough, having done so continuously for the 
previous 3-year period1; 

 have a gross household income of no more than £29,260 a year for single person with 
no children or £58,021 a year for all other household compositions; and 

 be unable to buy a property on the open market that suits their needs. 
 

1Except for personnel in the process of leaving the British Armed Forces, British Armed Forces veterans who 
have left the services in the last 3 years or their bereaved spouses, either of whom must have previously had 

a local connection to the county borough. 
 
5.17 For joint applications, only one of the prospective home buyers needs to satisfy the 

working or residency criteria. 
 
5.18 To promote sustainable homeownership, prior to being offered the opportunity to 

purchase a property the prospective home buyer would need to provide the Council with 
the following information: 

 
 evidence of independent financial advice on mortgage products, affordability and 

repayments; and 

 a mortgage in principle certificate/statement from a lender regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority. 

 
5.19 Applications to buy a home would be prioritised by the Council in the following order: 
 

a. A serving member of the British Armed Forces that is due to or in the process of 
leaving the Armed Forces, an Armed Forces Veteran (having left the services 
within the last 3 years of submitting their application) or a bereaved spouse or civil 
partner of a member of the British Armed Forces that died within active service 
within the last 3 years;  

b. A disabled or older person who has been assessed by the Council’s occupational 
therapist to be living in housing not suited to their needs. An older person is 
defined as someone at least 55 years old who requires housing designated by the 
Council for later living;  

Page 94



c. A key worker (as defined in the policy) living or working in the county borough;  
d. A tenant of Caerphilly County Borough Council or a housing association tenant 

living in the county borough who would free up a social home for which there is an 
identified need; 

e. All other groups of eligible people. 
 
5.20 The policy also contains advice on repair and maintenance responsibilities and the 

process of selling a LCHO home. 
 
5.21 In an attempt to secure the potential reuse of a LCHO property as an affordable home in 

the long-term the policy contains criteria governing the resale of a property.  Homebuyers 
will be required to initially offer the property to the Council before placing it on the open 
market.  The Council will have either 28 days or 12 weeks, depending on whether the 
homebuyer has achieved full ownership or not, to identify a suitable homebuyer or 
exercise its right to purchase. 

 
Consultation Responses 
 
5.22 14 online responses were received during the second consultation exercise.  Below is a 

summary of the responses received: 
 

 The respondents were asked which language they wanted to use to complete the 
survey – 100% English, 0% Welsh. 

 

 The respondents were asked did they agree with the 6 elements which make up the 
qualifying criteria. 11 said yes, 2 said no and 1 said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked did they agree that households with a gross household 
income of over the specified limits should not be eligible for assistance.  10 said yes, 2 
said no and 2 said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked did they agree with the list of key workers?  9 said yes, 
4 said no and 1 said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked about the proposed 3 year time period that would need 
to elapse, from the date of purchase, before people could buy further shares/stakes in 
their property.  5 said the time period is right, 2 said the time period is too short, 2 said 
the time period is too long, 4 said there should not be a time period and 1 said they 
don't know. 

 

 The respondents were asked would the introduction of the LCHO policy impact 
negatively on them because of a protected characteristic.  2 said yes, 6 said no and 6 
said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked did they think that the introduction of the LCHO policy 
will help to reduce levels of socio-economic disadvantage in the county borough.  7 
said yes, 2 said no and 5 said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked would the priorities set out in the Low Cost Home 
Ownership Policy have a positive impact on future generations living in the county 
borough.  13 said yes, 1 said no and 0 said don’t know. 

 

 The respondents were asked if they think that the measures put in place alongside the 
introduction of the LCHO Policy will ensure that the Welsh Language is treated no 

Page 95



less favourably than the English language.  7 said yes, 2 said no and 5 said don’t 
know. 

 
5.23 After each question, respondents were asked to explain the reasons for their response.  

This was not a mandatory requirement and consequently not everyone provided a 
response.  All responses were duly considered.  Several of the responses were deemed 
irrelevant to the consultation process and have, therefore, been discounted.  Many of the 
comments have proved helpful in reaffirming inclusion of important criteria around 
eligibility, priority and the timeframe for buying additional stakes/shares in the home. 

 
5.24 The respondents were asked to provide any other comments on the Low Cost 

Homeownership Policy not included in their responses to earlier questions.  Not everyone 
responded.  Comments include: 

 

 People would take more care if they owned the home. 
 

 This has been a well thought through policy… 
 

 Funding for this will divert the money from other areas we have seen schemes before 
that take out of the system and other areas suffer it will not effect the areas around 
Caerphilly, Blackwood or Risca it will be other areas where the poverty is greater so a 
lot of people in these outer areas have a very negative view of the council and feel let 
down. 

 

 Will there be a deposit required, this could mean a no for many. A no deposit will be 
the attraction. 

 

 This sounds like a very positive move. 
 
5.25 All of the responses to the consultation questions have been carefully considered.  All bar 

one of the responses required no further action / change to the policy.  One minor 
amendment was made to the policy at paragraph 6.1 (v) – to clarify that all other groups 
included people meant people not included in group i-iv. 

 
5.26 In addition to the equalities question we asked a series of questions on who was 

responding.  People said that they were aged: 
 

Under 18 - 0 
18-25 - 0 
26-39 - 7 
40-49 - 3 
50-64 - 1 
65-74 - 2 
75 and over - 1 
Prefer not to say – 0 

 
5.27 When asked about their current home people said that they: 
 

Own with a mortgage or loan - 3 
Own outright - 0 
Rent from the Council - 6 
Rent from private landlord or letting agency - 2 
Rent from a Housing Association - 1 
Living with a relative or friend - 1 
Shared ownership (owned in partnership with a Housing Association) - 0 

Page 96



Low Cost Home Ownership - 1 
Tied or linked to a job - 0 
Other – 0 

 
5.28 A number of questions were included within the consultation questionnaire to help officers 

update the Integrated Impact Assessment.  Respondents told the Council that the LCHO 
policy would: 

 

 have a positive impact on future generations by providing opportunities for people on 
low incomes to get onto the property ladder; 

 

 have no direct negative impact on people with a protected characteristic; 
 

 help to reduce on socio-economic disadvantage by providing opportunities for people 
on low incomes to get onto the property ladder; and 

 

 have no effect on the Welsh language, as services and information would be provided 
bilingually. 

 
5.29 The IIA has been updated accordingly.  No significant changes have been made to the IIA 

as a result of responses received during the public consultation exercise. 
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The introduction of the LCHO policy helps people wanting to access home ownership but 
cannot afford to purchase 100% of the open market value of the property.  Helping people 
into home ownership will help to reduce the number of in people in housing need currently 
on the common housing register. 

 
6.2 The introduction of the LCHO policy will help the Council to realise its strategic housing 

priorities of creating balanced and sustainable communities and complements the 
ambitions of the new build, affordable housing programme. 

 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) suggests that the introduction of the LCHO policy 
will have a positive impact upon the residents of the county borough that subsequently go 
on to purchase a home under this policy.  

 
7.2 By providing opportunities for people on low to medium incomes to access affordable 

home ownership the IIA shows that the policy will have a positive impact on equality, 
diversity and inclusion, on tackling social disadvantage and on promoting the wellbeing of 
existing and future generations.  Helping people achieve affordable home ownership also 
contributes to several of the Council’s wellbeing objectives.   No adverse impact on the 
promotion of the Welsh language was identified.   

 
Link to Integrated Impact Assessment . 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The provision of LCHO homes will be financed through accessing a mix of Welsh 

Government grant funding and the Housing Revenue Account.  Grant rates are currently 

Page 97

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/IIA/lcho-iia-form


set at 25% for shared ownership properties.  Grant funding applications submitted by the 
Council will need to be approved by Welsh Government. 

 
8.2 Homebuyers purchasing their home via shared ownership will pay rent to the Council on 

the share of their home they don’t currently own.  Homebuyers can purchase additional 
shares in their home, typically up to 100%.  In such instances the Council will receive a 
capital receipt but the rental income will reduce or cease. 

 
8.3 Homebuyers are permitted to sell their property, which could result in the Council 

receiving a capital receipt.  Any Welsh Government grant funding would be held by the 
Council as Recycled Capital Grant for future use on affordable housing provision. 

 
8.4 Being a new function provided by Caerphilly Homes, governance arrangements around 

the management of finance, ringfencing capital receipts/rental income for future LCHO 
investment will need to be established.  A budget will be set by the Head of Housing and 
Principal Group Accountant (Housing) based on the projected number of homes to be 
delivered. 

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 The Head of Housing has agreed with the Housing Solutions Manager that day to day 

operation of the LCHO policy will be administered by the Housing Solutions team. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 Consultation has been carried out at various stages of development of the LCHO policy, 

as outlined in section 5 above.  
 
10.2 A report was presented to the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee on 29th 

November 2022.  Cllr Cook and Nick Taylor-Williams answered questions asked by four 
members of the committee.  Topics covered included the difference between shared 
ownership and shared equity, why older people accessing shared ownership are not 
required to pay rent if they purchase over 75% of their property, the effect of providing 
homes to people on the common housing register irrespective of tenure, property resale 
criteria when staircasing to full ownership and how the equity share is calculated at point 
of sale.  Members of the committee noted that they were satisfied with the responses 
provided. 

 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000, and the Local Government and Elections Act 

2021. 
 
Author: Jane Roberts-Waite, Strategic Coordination Manager  

(Email: roberj2@caerphilly.gov.uk , Tel: 01443 864340)   
Mark Jennings, Principal Housing Strategy Officer 
(Email: jennim1@caerphilly.gov.uk, Tel: 01443 863121) 

 
Consultees: Cllr Shayne Cook, Cabinet Member for Housing 

Cllr Andrew Whitcombe, Chair – Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Cllr Patricia Cook, Vice Chair – Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

Page 98

mailto:roberj2@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:jennim1@caerphilly.gov.uk


Dave Street, Corporate Director for Social Services and Housing 
Nick Taylor-Williams, Head of Housing 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services and Section 151 Officer  
Lesley Allen, Principal Group Accountant (Housing) 
Fiona Wilkins, Housing Service Manager 
Kerry Denman, Housing Solutions Manager 
Anwen Cullinan, Senior Policy Officer – Equalities and Welsh Language 

Page 99



Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft Low Cost Home Ownership Policy 
 

Page 100



 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 

 
 

Low Cost Home 
Ownership Policy 

 
 

December 2022 

Page 101



 

i 

Contents 

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................1 

2. Home Ownership Options...............................................................................................1 

3. Who Can Apply.................................................................................................................2 

4. Making an Enquiry ...........................................................................................................3 

5. Independent Financial Advice ........................................................................................4 

6. Prioritising Enquiries ........................................................................................................4 

7. Calculated Bedroom Requirement ................................................................................5 

8. Purchasing Additional Equity/Shares............................................................................5 

9. Selling your Home............................................................................................................6 

10. Remortgaging your Home...............................................................................................7 

11. Leaseholders ....................................................................................................................7 

12. Repairing & Maintenance Responsibilities...................................................................7 

13. Improving your Home ......................................................................................................8 

14. Subletting your Home ......................................................................................................9 

15. Monitoring & Annual Review ..........................................................................................9 

Appendix 1: LCHO Options Criteria .................................................................................. 10 

Appendix 2: Key Workers ................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 3: Calculated Bedroom Requirement .............................................................. 12 

 

Page 102



 

1 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 As part of its strategic housing and place shaping agendas, two key aims of 

the Council are to create mixed and sustainable communities where people 

want to live, whilst promoting positive health and wellbeing outcomes.  The 
Council looks to achieve these aims through the provision of a range of good 

quality, affordable homes, whether that is delivered through the planning 
system, in partnership with local housing associations or via its own 
resources. 

 
1.2 Information provided from assessments of the local housing market 

undertaken by the Council and data collected via the Common Housing 
Register shows a high requirement throughout the county borough for a range 
of good quality, affordable homes, including social rented accommodation and 

low cost home ownership. 
 

1.3 National data shows that there is a widening gap between the cost of housing 
in the county borough and household income: 

 

 Between January 2020 to January 2021 average annual house prices in 
the county borough have increased from £151,788 to £171,916 (12.5%)1; 

 Gross weekly pay for the county borough in 2021 was £562.70 per week, 
£29,260.40 per annum2; 

 The median household price to median income ratio in the county borough 

has increased significantly from 3.0 in 2002 to 5.29 in 20213. 
 

1.4 As a consequence of the widening gap between house prices and earnings, 
local people on low to middle incomes may find it increasingly difficult to 

access home ownership without some form of financial assistance.  The 
overall aim of this policy, therefore, is for the Council to provide opportunities 
for local people to enable to them to access affordable homeownership at a 

cost lower than renting privately or buying on the open market.  The provision 
of social housing is governed by the Common Allocation Policy. 

 
 

2. Home Ownership Options 
 
2.1 This policy applies to those properties acquired by the Council through the 

planning system or properties built via its own development programme.  It 
does not provide for prospective home buyers to purchase properties on the 
open market and excludes those properties provided by housing association 

partners throughout the county borough. 
 

2.2 Prospective home buyers are able to purchase a property via one of the 
following options: 

 
1 UK House Price Index Wales: January 2022, HM Land Registry (Accessed April 2022) 
2 Nomis Official Labour Market Stats (Accessed April 2022) 
3 House price to residence-based earnings ratio, Office of National Statistics (Accessed April 2022)  

Page 103



 

2 

 Shared Equity; 

 Shared Ownership; and 

 Older Persons Shared Ownership. 
 

2.3 Additional criteria on each option are set out in Appendix 1. 
 

2.4 The Council reserves the right to introduce new options or vary the criteria for 
existing options at short notice.  The Council will only exercise this right where 
new funding opportunities become available and/or the Council’s strategic 

housing priorities are revisited. 
 

2.5 In all three options the Council’s stake in the property will be secured by a 
legal charge.  The legal charge will be removed were the homebuyer 
exercises their right to purchase 100% of their home or the home is sold on 

the open market – see section 8. 
 

 

3. Who Can Apply 
 
3.1 This policy is primarily aimed at low to middle income, first-time buyers 

wanting to access affordable home ownership, who satisfy the eligibility 

criteria.  Paragraph 3.3 provides a definition of first-time buyer for the purpose 
of the application of this policy.  A limited number of exemptions have been 

included to the first-time buyer criteria to enable the Council to meet its 
statutory requirements under the Equalities Act 2010. 

 

3.2 The prospective home buyer must be able to afford their mortgage 
repayments. 

 
3.3 To be regarded as eligible under this policy all prospective home buyers will 

need to satisfy the following criteria must: 

 

 be 18 years old or over; 

 be a British citizen or have been granted settled status in the UK; 

 be a first-time buyer or: 

o be a newly forming household; for example, starting again after a 
relationship break-up; or 

o be relocating for work purposes to an area where property prices do 

not allow you to buy a home suitable for your family size; 
o is over 55 years old and requires later living accommodation; or 

o is a disabled person (or is living with a disabled person) who has 
been assessed by the Council as requiring accessible housing. 

 be living or working in the county borough, having done so continuously for 

the previous 3-year period1; 

 have a gross household income of no more than £29,260 a year for single 

person with no children or £58,021 a year for all other household 
compositions; and 

 be unable to buy a property on the open market that suits their needs. 

 

Page 104



 

3 

1Except for personnel in the process of leaving the British Armed Forces, 
British Armed Forces veterans who have left the services in the last 3 years or 

their bereaved spouses, either of whom must have previously had a local 
connection to the county borough. 

 
For joint applications, only one of the prospective home buyers needs to 
satisfy the working or residence criteria. 

 
3.4 Prior to being offered the opportunity to purchase a property the prospective 

home buyer will need to provide: 
 

 evidence of independent financial advice on mortgage products, 

affordability and repayments; and 

 a mortgage in principle certificate/statement from a lender regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority. 
 

3.5 The prospective home buyer will only be permitted to purchase a property 
which the Council assesses is suitable to the specific needs of their 
household. 

 
3.6 At its discretion, the Council may choose to waive all or part of the criteria in 

paragraph 3.3 where it is satisfied that: 
 

 there is an identified housing need that could be satisfied; or 

 there are no other eligible people waiting. 
 

 

4. Making an Enquiry 
 
4.1 Enquiries for low cost home ownership can be made via the on-line form 

which can be accessed through the Home Search Caerphilly website.  

Assistance with completing the form can be accessed through the Common 
Housing Register team. 

 
4.2 All enquiries will be assessed in accordance with the criteria set out in this 

policy. 

 
4.3 Where the prospective home buyer satisfies the eligibility criteria, they will 

receive a letter from the Council advising them of their enquiry date and 
indicative bedroom requirement (see Section 7).  The prospective home 
buyers will then be contacted should potentially suitable properties become 

available for purchase in their preferred area(s) of choice. 
 

4.4 Prospective home buyers that don’t meet the eligibility criteria will not be 
considered for housing provided under this policy.  In such instances the 
Council will write notifying the reason(s) for ineligibility. 

 
4.5 Prospective home buyers must notify the Council of changes in their 

circumstances that are likely to affect their ability to purchase a property or the 

Page 105



 

4 

size and type of property required, e.g. changes in household composition, 
change of address, change in income or employment status etc. 

 
4.6 The information provided by the prospective home buyer will be reviewed by 

the Council at point of enquiry and then verified should a suitable property 
become available. 

 

4.7 Any non-statute barred debts owed to Caerphilly County Borough Council will 
be required to be cleared by the prospective home buyer before purchase of 

the property is completed, e.g. Council Tax, rent arrears, sundry debts etc.  
Debts owed will apply to all members of the prospective household and not 
just the prospective home buyer. 

 
 

5. Independent Financial Advice 
 

5.1 Buying a home is one of the biggest financial commitments that a person will 
make in their lifetime.   It is imperative, therefore, that prior to being provided 
with the opportunity to purchase a property being sold under this policy the 

prospective home buyer seeks good quality, independent financial advice.  
This will ensure that they identify the right mortgage product for their 

circumstances, understand the full costs associated with home ownership and 
verify that they are able to afford the mortgage repayments, thereby 
increasing their chances of sustaining home ownership.  Prospective home 

buyers will be required to provide proof of advice as and when a property 
becomes available for purchase. 

 

5.2 Details of independent financial advisors can be accessed from the Money 
Advice Service or Citizens Advice websites. 

 
 

6. Prioritising Enquiries 
 
6.1 In the event of interest for a property being expressed from more than one 

prospective home buyer, priority for properties provided through this policy is 
granted to those people, or members of their prospective household, fully 

satisfying the eligibility criteria in the following order: 
 

I. A serving member of the British Armed Forces that is due to or in the 

process of leaving the Armed Forces, an Armed Forces Veteran (having 
left the services within the last 3 years of submitting their application) or 

a bereaved spouse or civil partner of a member of the British Armed 
Forces that died within active service within the last 3 years; 

II. A disabled or older person who have been assessed by the Council’s 

occupational therapist to be living in housing not suited to their needs.  
Older people are defined as someone at least 55 years old who requires 

housing designated by the Council for later living; 
III.  A key worker living or working in the county borough (see Appendix 2); 

Page 106



 

5 

IV. A tenant of Caerphilly County Borough Council or a housing association 
tenant living in the county borough who would free up a social home for 

which there is an identified need; 
V. All other groups of people not included in the groups above (i to iv). 

 
6.2 Where more than one prospective home buyer satisfies the prioritisation 

criteria, priority will be awarded to those with the earliest received enquiry 

date. 
 

6.3 The Council reserves the right to waive the criteria outlined in paragraph 6.1 
where properties are provided by the Council from a specific purpose, e.g. 
later living accommodation or accessible housing. 

 
 

7. Calculated Bedroom Requirement 
 

7.1 When completing their application form prospective home buyers will be able 
to express a choice over area and property type, with the size of the property 
to be determined by the Council based on affordability and current 

household composition.  To allow for household growth or to accommodate 
a medical or support need, prospective home buyers may purchase a 

property one bedroom larger than their determined bedroom requirement, 
typically up to a maximum of 4 bedrooms. 

 

7.2 The household size criteria are set out in Appendix 3. 
 
 

8. Purchasing Additional Equity/Shares 
 

8.1 Homeowners that have purchased their home via this policy will be able to 
buy further equity/shares in their home after an agreed period, typically 3 

years after the original purchase date.  Equity/shares must be purchased in 
portions of no less than 10%.  Where the homeowner increases their stake 
in the property to 100%, they will automatically become the outright owner. 

 
8.2 The value of purchasing additional equity or shares in the property will be 

determined by an updated open market valuation of the property, which will 
be carried out by an independent Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
registered valuer duly appointed by the Council.  The cost of the valuation 

and any legal costs incurred by the Council are borne solely by the 
homeowner. The homeowner will also be responsible for their own solicitor's 

legal fees. The process required to purchase additional equity or shares will 
be set out in the legal charge that will be placed on the property. 

 

8.3 In the event of a dispute over the value of the property the home buyer and 
Council will jointly appoint an agreed valuer.  The cost of the valuation and 

any legal costs incurred by the Council will be borne solely by the 
homeowner. 

 

Page 107



 

6 

9. Selling your Home 
 
9.1 The homeowner is not able to sell their home without first securing the 

Council’s permission.  Notification of intention to sell the property must be 

made in writing.  Separate criterion applies to those people who have 
achieved full ownership of their home, see paragraph 9.9. 

 
9.2 A valuation will then be undertaken to establish the current open market 

value of the property.  The valuation will be carried out by an independent 

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors registered valuer duly appointed by 
the Council.  The cost of the valuation will be borne solely by the 

homeowner. 
 
9.3 A current Energy Performance Certificate is required when the property is 

sold.  The homeowner will be required to obtain the Energy Performance 
Certificate via a registered domestic assessor.  The homeowner will bear the 

cost of obtaining the Energy Performance Certificate. 
 
9.4 The Council will have twelve weeks from the acknowledgement of the receipt 

of notification to identify a suitable home buyer to purchase the property.  If a 
home buyer cannot be identified within the twelve-week period or the Council 

decides not to exercise its option to purchase the property, the homeowner 
may sell the property on the open market. 

 

9.5 The property must be marketed at its full open market value, as determined 
by an independent Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors registered 
valuer.  Any proposed sale at less than the full open market value needs to 

be considered and agreed beforehand by the Council. 
 

9.6 The Council’s equity/share in the property must be repaid in full by the 
homeowner upon completion of the sale.  The value of the equity/share in 
percentage terms is linked to changes in the value of the property.  For 

example, if the value of the property rises by 10%, the value of the 
equity/share will raise by 10%.  If the value of the property does not increase 

the home buyer will be expected to repay the original financial value of the 
equity/share. 

 

9.7 If a prospective home buyer is identified, they may purchase the property 
either on a shared ownership or shared equity basis, depending on whether 

the construction of the property was funded using Welsh Government grant.  
In such instances the relevant criteria set out in Appendix 1 will apply. 

 

9.8 All costs incurred by the Council associated with the sale of the property will 
be borne solely by the home buyer on completion of sale. 

 
9.9 Where looking to sell their home, homeowners that have completed outright 

purchase will be required to offer the property to the Council, at open market 

value, before it is advertised for sale.  The Council will have 28 calendar 
days to formally respond to this offer.  Where the Council declines the offer 

Page 108



 

7 

to purchase the property or fails to respond within the prescribed timescale, 
the homeowner may sell the property on the open market without restriction. 

 
 

10. Remortgaging your Home 
 

10.1 The homeowner may choose to remortgage their property at any stage, 
subject to approval from their lender.  Where this results in the Council 
incurring any costs or legal fees, the homeowner will be required to repay all 

costs incurred by the Council. 
 

 

11. Leaseholders 
 

11.1 Homes are sold by the Council either on a freehold or leasehold basis.  
Where the home is sold on a leasehold basis the Council will retain 

ownership of the freehold. 
 
11.2 The duration of the lease provided by the Council will typically be 125 years.  

In addition to the cost of purchasing a property, the leaseholder will also 
have to pay to the Council an annual ground rent and service charge to 

cover the cost incurred by the Council of maintaining common parts of the 
building.  Included within the services charge is a cost for any management 
services provided by the Council. 

 
11.3 Leaseholders have a right to request an extension of the duration of the 

lease from the Council, providing certain conditions are met.  The extension 
can add up to 90 years to the existing lease.  All costs associated with 
extending the lease, including those incurred by the Council, will be paid by 

the leaseholder.  Where both parties are unable to agree the cost of 
extending the lease, the price may be set by the Leasehold Valuation 

Tribunal. 
 
 

12. Repairing & Maintenance Responsibilities 
 

12.1 The homeowner is responsible for keeping their home in good order of 
repair.  This extends to paying for the cost of all repairs and maintenance to 

their property, both internally and externally including gardens, paths, 
outbuildings and boundaries, except where paragraph 12.4 applies. 

 

12.2 Where the property is served by a Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) that 
is situated within the property curtilage / boundary and serves only that 

property, then the home buyer will be responsible for the maintenance of the 
Sustainable Drainage System. If such features exist, these will be clearly 
identified on the plot layout plan and a maintenance plan will be provided by 

the Seller.  Such features should also be identified in Conveyancing 
searches.  Such features must be maintained in accordance with the 

maintenance plan and must be retained on the property. 

Page 109



 

8 

 
12.3 Where the property is served by Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) that 

also serve another property or properties then maintenance will be the 
responsibility of the Council. 

 
12.4 Where the property has been fitted by the Council with an adaptation for a 

disabled person the responsibility for maintaining the adaptation will lay with 

the household and not the Council. 
 

12.5 Where the property is purchased on a leasehold basis the cost of repair and 
maintenance to the building’s structure and, if applicable, repairs and 
maintenance to shared areas will be carried out by the Council or its agent.  

The costs of the repairs and maintenance will be shared with the 
leaseholders and passed on to the home buyer by way of a leaseholder 

service charge. 
 
 

13. Improving your Home 
 

13.1 Minor improvements, which do not require planning permission or building 
control approval (such as changing kitchen units), may be carried out at any 

time and do not require the home buyer to notify the Council before carrying 
out the improvement. 

 

13.2 The Council defines a major improvement as work which that increases the 
value of the property including: 

 

 Addition of a conservatory; 

 Addition of a new garage/car port; 

 Addition of a new driveway and dropped kerb; and 

 Addition of a porch; 

 Cavity wall insulation. 

 Installation of central heating; 

 Installation of double-glazed windows/doors; 

 Extension; 

 Loft conversion; 

 New bathroom suite; 

 New fitted kitchen; 
 

13.3 The homeowner will need the written permission from the Council to carry 
out major improvements to their home.  The Council will respond to such 
requests within 4 weeks of acknowledged receipt of the required information. 

 
13.4 The Council will charge homeowners a fee to consent to major 

improvements.  The fee will be payable on application.  A charge will also be 
applied to retrospective permission requests. 

 

13.5 It is the homeowner’s responsibility to ensure that they obtain the necessary 
permissions before any major improvements are carried out to their property 

Page 110



 

9 

including planning permission, building control approval, sustainable 
drainage approval, etc. 

 
13.6 Where the major improvements result in an uplift in the value of the property, 

upon sale of the property the value of the uplift will be shared between the 
homeowner and the Council in accordance with the respective percentage 
equity/shares owned. 

 
 

14. Subletting your Home 
 

14.1 Homeowners may only sublet their homes with the approval of the Council.  
The homeowner will also need the consent of their mortgage company. 

 

14.2 Homeowners wanting to sublet must submit their request in writing to the 
Council.  The Council will respond to such requests within 4 weeks of 

acknowledged receipt of the required information. 
 
14.3 Subletting will only be permitted by the Council where the following criteria 

are met: 
 

 the reason to sublet is unavoidable and is not for speculation or gain; 

 the sub-lessee meets the criteria for shared equity; and 

 the homeowner is subletting the property on a fixed-term agreement. 

 
14.4 The Council will charge homeowners a fee to consent to subletting.  This fee 

is payable on application.  A charge will also be applied to retrospective 
subletting requests. 

 
14.5 Instances of subletting contrary to this policy and/or the terms and conditions 

of your mortgage company may result in a breach of contract and ultimately 

the loss of your home. 
 

 

15. Monitoring & Annual Review 
 

15.1 The Council will carry out periodic monitoring of the low cost home 
ownership enquiries to ensure the effectiveness of this policy and identify 

whether any groups protected by the Equality Act 2010 are discriminated 
against in the application of this policy. 

 

15.2 The Council carries out an annual review of applications to ensure that 
people wish to remain on the list for low cost home ownership.  The date of 

the review will be on or near to the anniversary of the date of enquiry.  
Prospective home buyers not responding to the review process will be 
deemed to no longer be interested in purchasing a property through this 

policy and their enquiry will be disregarded.  

Page 111



 

10 

Appendix 1: LCHO Options Criteria 
 

1. Shared Ownership 
 

For properties sold by the Council on a shared ownership basis the prospective 
home buyer may purchase between 25%-75% of the open market value of the 

property via a mortgage and, if applicable, savings.  On the unsold equity share 
retained by the Council the home buyer will pay rent to the Council. 

 

 
2. Shared Equity 

 
For properties sold by the Council on a shared equity basis the prospective home 
buyer will be expected to purchase 70% of the open market value of the property 

using a mortgage and, if applicable, savings.  The remaining 30% will be retained 
by the Council via an interest-free equity loan.  Unlike shared ownership the 

home buyer does not have to pay rent on the Council’s equity loan. 
 
 

3. Older Persons Shared Ownership 
 

Available only to people aged 55 years or over wanting to move into retirement 
housing.  To be eligible people must either be rightsizing from their current home 
or the Council deems that their home is no longer suitable for their needs. The 

prospective homebuyer will usually purchase between 25% to 75% of the value 
of the property through a mortgage and/or savings.  On the remaining share they 
pay rent to the Council.  Once the homebuyer purchases 75% of their home, no 

rent is payable on the remaining share.  Prospective homeowners that currently 
own a home will need to sell the property before being able to purchase a 

property. 
 
The maximum share permitted under this option is 75%. 

 
 

  

Page 112



 

11 

Appendix 2: Key Workers 
 
For the purpose of this policy the following occupations are classified by the Council 
as key workers: 

 

 civilian Ministry of Defence (MoD) personnel (i.e. clinical staff, MoD police 

officers and uniformed staff in the Fire and Defence Service); 

 clinical staff employed by the NHS (excluding doctors and dentists); 

 frontline police staff (civilians); 

 Highways Agency traffic officer staff; 

 LA educational psychologists; 

 LA therapists (including occupational therapists and speech and language 
therapists); 

 LA/LEA/NHS nursery nurses; 

 LA/LEA/NHS social workers; 

 police officers and community support officers; 

 prison officers and some prison service staff in prisons; 

 probation officers; 

 social care and domiciliary workers; 

 teachers, including further education teachers and early years/nursery 
teachers/teaching assistants; and 

 uniformed staff, below principal level, in fire and rescue services. 
 
In the case of joint purchases, only one of the prospective home buyers needs to be 

a key worker. 
 

All key workers must be employed within the South East Wales region. 
 
The list is exhaustive and is in alphabetical order. It does not determine priority 

between any group of key workers. 
 

Those people employed on a temporary basis are not included within the definition of 
a key worker unless there is at least 12 months remaining on their contract when 
they are due to complete their home purchase. 
  

Page 113



 

12 

Appendix 3: Calculated Bedroom Requirement 
 

Household Composition 
Calculated 
Bedroom 

Requirement 

Adult aged 18 or over 1 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 1 child* 2 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 2 children aged under 10 2 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 2 children of the same sex aged under 

16 

2 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 3 children 3 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 4 children (4 children aged under 10) 3 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 4 children (2 children of the same 
gender aged under 16 plus 2 other children of the same gender 

aged under 16)  

3 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 4 children (2 children aged under 10 
plus 2 children of the same gender aged under 16) 

3 bed* 

Adult aged 18 or over plus 4 children (with a configuration other 
than listed above) 

4 bed 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) 1 bed* 

Adult couple plus 1 child (married or unmarried) 2 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 2 children aged under 10 2 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 2 children of the same 
gender aged under 16 

2 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 3 children 3 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 4 children (4 children 

aged under 10) 

3 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 4 children (2 children of 
the same gender aged under 16 plus 2 other children of the same 
gender aged under 16) 

3 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 4 children (2 children 
aged under 10 plus 2 children of the same gender aged under 16) 

3 bed* 

Adult couple (married or unmarried) plus 4 children (with a 
configuration other than listed above)  

4 bed 

 
*To allow for household growth or to accommodate a medical or support need, prospective 
home buyers may purchase a property one bedroom larger than the calculated bedroom 
requirement, up to a maximum of 4 bedrooms, subject to their ability to afford the mortgage 
repayments. 

Page 114



              
 

 

CABINET – 14TH DECEMBER 2022 
 

SUBJECT: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CHARGES – 2023/2024 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING  
 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

For Members to consider and take a view on the increased Council Housing rent charges 
proposed in this report.  The charges predominantly focus on council house rents, but also 
include garages, and are intended to be effective for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for 
the 2023/2024 financial year. Members of the Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 
considered this report on the 29th of  November 2022.  Comments from the Committee are 
included in line 10 of the report. 

 
  

2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1 Members will be aware that the preparation of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget is 
quite separate to the work involved in setting the General Fund Budget and Council Tax.  The 
HRA is funded by rental income received from Council Tenants, rather than the Council 
Taxpayer.  Whilst there is a clear separation of these funds, most of the proportion of council 
tenants rent is funded from financial support in the form of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, 
which is derived from the taxpayers’ purse, therefore value for money must always be sought. 
78% of our tenants receive financial assistance towards their rent.  We charge our council 
tenants rent over a 48-week basis, but the Welsh Government (WG) base their rents on a 52-
week basis, so this report shows the 52-week equivalent.  

 
2.2 The Affordable Housing Supply Review was published in April 2019.  The purpose of the review 

was to examine current arrangements supporting the development of affordable housing, and to 
make recommendations for changes designed to increase supply and improve delivery from the 
resources available.  One of the tasks included making a recommendation on how a 
sustainable rent policy can help determine long term affordability for tenants and the viability of 
existing and new housing developments. 

 

2.3 The key recommendations from this review in correlation to the rent policy was  
 

1. The Welsh Government should implement a five-year rent policy from 2020-21. This has 
been based on CPI plus 1% plus an additional £2. 

 

2. There should be a focus on landlords considering Value for Money alongside affordability. 
An explicit annual assessment on cost efficiencies should be part of the rationale for justifying 
any rent increase 

 

2.4 In reaction to this review, The Minister for Housing and Local Government has stated “There must 
be a clear balance between the interest of landlords and residents.  Affordability for tenants must 
take into account the whole cost of living in a property and Landlords are expected to consider 
these costs when setting rents each year. Affordability is an issue I take very seriously, and I am 
mindful of not placing excessive financial burdens upon tenants”. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



2.5  The Minister in the past has also been keen to continue with a number of initiatives as part of 
the wider rental agreement which include: 

 

 Strengthen approaches designed to minimise all evictions, working effectively with partners 
to deliver on a new agreement not to evict into homelessness. 

 

 Undertake a standardised tenant satisfaction survey for publication on a central website to 
assist tenants in scrutinising and comparing landlord performance. This is the STAR 
(Survey of Tenants and Residents) survey. Caerphilly Homes undertook its STAR survey in 
September/October 2021, and we are required to carry out the survey every two years. The 
results of the 2021 survey were published by WG in May 2022 along with all the social 
landlords in Wales. 

 

 Build on existing commitments to deliver high quality homes which comply with the new 
housing quality standard “WDQR 2021” across all tenures on sites which attract Welsh 
Government funding. 

 

 Continue to work towards an aspiration that all new build housing, regardless of tenure, 
achieves energy efficiency standards of no less than EPC A on sites that attract any Welsh 
Government funding. 

 

 All Social landlords are required to make, and evidence, an annual assessment of 
affordability for tenants, cost efficiencies and to demonstrate their homes and services 
represent value for money as part of their decision on the rent uplift to be applied each 
year. To assist with providing Welsh Government with the necessary assurance, each 
social landlord will be required to complete a self-certification monitoring form which will be 
used to monitor compliance with the Welsh Government Rent Standard. This form must be 
completed and returned by the end of February 2023. 

 
2.6 Two issues have arisen since last year which will impact on the rent setting process 

 
1. The Renting Homes Wales Act.  
2. The cost-of-living impact with a significantly high inflation rate. 
 

2.7 The new Renting Homes Wales Act comes into effect from 1st December 2022 and dictates 
that tenants need at least 2 months’ notice of any rent increases. Previously this was 28 days. 
In order to meet this deadline, WG need to confirm the rent policy details to LHA’s much 
sooner.  Officers have been in various network meetings with WG and other LHA’s and have 
raised this as a concern.  Failure to meet the notification timescale means that the increase 
cannot be applied and the HRA will lose that income until the 2 months’ notice period has 
passed.  As an example, on a 2% rent increase, this equates to £87k per month, on a 5% 
increase this equates to £217k per month. 

 
2.8 This year has been unprecedented in terms of the market volatility that has seen significant 

increases in inflation.  WG typically do not confirm the rent policy details for the forthcoming 
financial year until very late in the previous December or early January, meaning a very short 
timescale for members to agree any rent increases and inform tenants. 

 
2.9 The Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate under the current policy has been confirmed as 10.1%.  
 
2.10 WG have discretion to amend the “CPI plus 1%” rule if CPI falls below 0% or above 3%.  Last 

year it was changed to “CPI only” when CPI was 3.1%.  We have already seen the Scottish 
Government cap their rent at 0% and the UK Government consulting on a variety of increases 
between 3% and 7%. 

 
2.11 The Minister for Climate Change announced on the 16th of  November 2022 that from April 2023, 

the maximum limit which social rents can increase will be 6.5% which is well below the rate of 
inflation that also increased to 11.1% on the 16th November 2022, a 40 year high. However, 

Page 116



having considered the review, along with wider factors such as the cost of living and its impact 
on tenants, the pressures arising from growing levels of homelessness, the need to 
decarbonise our existing stock, to maintain the Welsh Housing Quality Standard and to build 
new high-quality homes that are near zero carbon, The Minister has confirmed that given the 
existing and future financial outlook,  it has been very difficult to consider the right level of rent 
increase for the social rent settlement 2023/24, and has therefore pursued a voluntary 
agreement from Councils and RSL’s to ensure tenants are supported through the cost of living 
crisis . 

 
2.12  The latest Business Plan submitted for 2022/23 assumed a rent increase of 3.6% for 2023/24 

reducing to 3.1% for 2024/25 and 3% for 2025/26 and 2026/27. 
  
2.13 The plan also allowed for a 5% increase in material costs in 2023/24.  However, as inflation 

rates have significantly increased above typical thresholds this has also caused a sharp 
increase in costs such as materials and fuel which could not be foreseen to that extent, and 
these increases also need to be reflected in the next business plan to be submitted to WG in 
March 2023.  Modelling various rent increases allowing for an indicative increase in materials is 
shown further in the report. 

 
2.14 Further modelling has also been carried out under the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) 

affordability model, which was adopted by Cabinet last year.  This has continued to show 
favourably against our current level and a scenario of future rent increases. 

 
2.15 An affordability survey has been available for tenants as part of the rent setting process since 

2021/22 when the Minister insisted that affordability must be taken into consideration. Officers 
continue to develop this survey each year.  The survey is called “Your Rent, Your Views” with 
the aim of capturing tenants’ views on their rent, particularly on affordability and value for 
money.  The survey was launched during September and October 2022. 

 
2.16 In addition to the affordability survey, as a landlord, we are obliged to survey our tenants under 

a standard STAR survey, as mentioned in 2.5 above, which is a consistent framework for social 
landlords to collect, report and measure on tenant’s satisfaction.  The survey was sent out in 
September/October 2021. The survey consists of seven core questions and one of these key 
questions include a direct reference to value for money. 1847 tenants completed this survey. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 Members are requested to consider and give a view on the following recommendations, which 
were presented to the Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee on the 29th of  November 
2022. 

 
3.2 Officers recommend to Cabinet the following increases for consideration from April 2023 based 

on the options explained in the report, which are: - 
 
(i) Rent is increased per property to the maximum permitted as per the WG rent policy which 

is 6.5%. This would increase the current average rent by £6.10 per week from £93.80 to 
£99.90 per week over 52 weeks. 

 

(ii) The level of rent for garages from April 2023 be increased by 5.5% to £8.85 per week. 
 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 Inflationary increases on providing all aspects of the housing service are experienced annually, 
however as the HRA cannot legitimately set a deficit budget, the loss of additional income will 
result in reduced resources being available to effectively manage and maintain the stock 
impacting on service delivery and could result in increased levels of borrowing, which is an 
additional cost to the HRA. 

Page 117



 
4.2 Housing Benefit/Universal Credit will cover the increased costs for the rent charge in this report 

for 78% of our tenants up to the Housing Benefit limitation rate (yet to be confirmed).   
 
4.3 If charges are not increased annually, it has a detrimental effect on subsequent years as higher 

increases are then needed to recover the shortfalls from previous years. 
 
4.4 The Council’s Business Plan relies on inflationary increases to remain viable and cover 

increasing costs associated with the delivery of the service.  
 
4.5 Additional resource is necessary to be able to meet the demands from Welsh Government on 

maintaining the WHQS, the provision of new affordable housing, decarbonisation of the existing 
stock and increasing support for tenants in order to sustain tenancies, reduce Homelessness 
and minimise evictions. 

 
4.6 The impact of Covid has significantly impacted on the HRA, in particular material costs, but with 

a considerable reduction in productivity, meaning that our budget has been delivering less.  This 
has resulted in a backlog of work which will increase costs in 2023/24. 

 
4.7 WG will have duly considered all options for the 2023/24 rent settlement and has consulted with 

all relevant stakeholders including tenant representative bodies.  It must therefore be 
acknowledged that the WG rent increase represents a fair balance between supporting tenants 
and maintaining the business needs of social housing providers. 

 
4.8  The increase is supported under the Joseph Rowntree Foundation affordability model. 
 
 

5. THE REPORT 
 

5.1 Rent Increase 
 

5.1.1 Members will recall that the rent policy under Welsh Government (WG) has changed over 
recent years and the Minister has reacted where necessary year on year.  More recently 
however, the rent policy has been fixed for a five-year term.  We are currently under the 
2020/21 to 2024/25 five-year rent band which was set at CPI plus 1%.  Under the current rent 
policy, a target rent band for each Authority was set by WG so there is still some degree of 
control retained by WG however, all of the rental income will be retained by the Authority and 
used to fund expenditure, service debt and create borrowing headroom to support the delivery 
of WHQS and future investment.   

 
5.1.2 However, during 2021/2022 the target rent band was suspended as a consequence of the 

Covid-19 pandemic.  Furthermore the “plus 1%” was removed for the 2022/23 financial year as 
a reaction to the ongoing pressures during the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit, which had seen 
inflation rise higher than expected.  The Welsh Ministers can determine the appropriate charge 
to the rent levels in that year if CPI falls outside of the range 0% and 3%.  As the CPI 
determinator (September) for setting the policy was 10.1% then WG can determine the rent 
increase outside of the policy and has therefore announced a maximum uplift of 6.5%. Inflation 
as of 16th November 2022 stands at 11.1%. 

 
5.1.3 As a result of the housing benefit limitation scheme, rent increases above Department of Work 

and Pension (DWP) rent limits do not produce extra income from the benefits system, as any 
shortfall would be required to be met by the tenant.  This would therefore be an added financial 
burden to some of our most vulnerable tenants.  At this stage however, as in previous years, 
details regarding the DWP limit under the current rent policy are yet to be confirmed, but all the 
recommendations contained within this report are compliant with WG.  Typically, the limit rent is 
increased by the rent policy, and the Minister has made reference to this in her letter of the 16th 
November 2022, therefore it is assumed that the DWP rent limits will increase by the same. 
Approximately 78 % of tenants are in receipt of financial support in the form of Housing Benefit 
or Universal Credit. 

Page 118



 
5.1.4 CCBC’s average rent net of voids is £93.80 (52-week basis). Caerphilly Homes charges over a 

48-week period as tenants have 4 rent free weeks each year. The 48-week equivalent rent is 
therefore £101.61. 

 
5.1.5 CCBC rent is currently one of the lowest rents across all the Welsh Local Housing Authorities 

and applied one of the lowest rent increases in 2022/23. 
 
5.1.6 The latest business plan submitted to WG in March 2022 included a rent increase of 3.6% for 

2023/24 reducing to 3.1% for 2024/25 and 3% for 2025/26 and 2026/27.  For 2023/24 this was 
on the assumption of applying CPI plus 1%, and at that time CPI forecasts for 2023/24 were 
2.6%.  However, as inflation rates have significantly increased above typical thresholds this has 
also caused a sharp increase in costs such as materials and fuel which could not be foreseen to 
that extent, and these increases need to be reflected in the next business plan to be submitted 
to WG in March 2023.  

 
5.1.7 The following table shows the impact against the base business plan for the various rent 

increase scenarios. However, the rent increase cannot be analysed alone without being aware 
of other influences on the HRA, otherwise it will not give the full picture.  The base plan has 
therefore also been uplifted to allow for the additional 22/23 pay award which wasn’t confirmed 
at the time of submitting the 22/23 business plan, and a further increase in 2023/24 for 
construction and material costs. The shortage of materials such as timber, plaster, and steel 
since 2021 has led to major supply chain issues across the UK as well as driving up costs.  
Steel has been reported to have increased by 45.8% since last year.  Energy prices and the war 
in Ukraine is also a contributing factor. The cost of raw materials in the UK is expected to more 
than treble in 2022 according to the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) Materials Cost 
Index.  

 
5.1.8 For this scenario, the material uplift has been increased to 10% for 2023/24. More detailed 

costings will be analysed whilst preparing the 2023/24 Business Plan (due for submission to 
WG in March 2023) but it is prudent to increase the base plan at this stage, to understand the 
impact against the various rent increase scenarios. Other factors that may also need to be 
considered include interest rates on the cost of borrowing and the bad debt provision if arrears 
are likely to increase due to the cost of living. 

 

 
    
5.1.9 We need to strike an appropriate balance between our commitments to service delivery 

(including increasing housing supply), and to protecting tenants from large rent increases. 
 

2022/23 BASE PLAN - ASSUMPTIONS MADE FOR 2023/24 YEAR

Rent Materials Construction Shortfall Borrowing

Borrowing 

movement 

to Base Plan

Base Plan 3.60% 3.40% 5% £43.5m £45.6m Plan submitted to WG March 2022

Scenario 1 0% 3.40% 5% £47.1m £51.4m +£5.8m 0% rent increase. No other changes

Scenario 2 0% 10% 10% £60.3m £70.7m +£25.1m 0% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Scenario 3 2% 10% 10% £56.5m £66m +£20.4m 2% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Scenario 4 4% 10% 10% £54.5m £61.3m +£15.7m 4% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Scenario 5 6% 10% 10% £52.5m £56.7m +£11.1m 6% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Scenario 5a 6.5% 10% 10% £52m £55.6m +£10m 6.5% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Scenario 6 8% 10% 10% £50.5m £53m +£7.4m 8% increase. Full pay award. Construction 10%

Page 119



5.1.10 A rent freeze would protect tenants but would not be financially credible to the HRA. 
 
5.1.11 For every 1% increase on our current rent this would be equivalent to approximately £1 a week 

additional rent charge. 
 
5.1.12 CCBC rent arrears are about 4.9% of its rent debit, (approx. £2.6m) and we are in the top 

quartile when compared to the other 10 LHA’s.  However, we are in the mid to lower quartile for 
the number of NOSP’s (Notice of Seeking Possession orders) actioned against tenants, leading 
to no evictions in the past year. Instead, we have focused on more intense tenant support with 
the aim of supporting tenants to sustain their tenancies, rather than lose them. Also, the cost of 
living is starting to have an impact.  As the cost-of-living rises, we expect to see more tenants 
struggling and the likelihood that the rent arrears will increase further before any rent increase is 
even applied.  This is not unique to Caerphilly.  Officers are in regular contact with other local 
housing authorities in Wales who are all experiencing the same issues. 

 
5.1.13 The JRF Model was recently adopted into CCBC’s rent policy, and the latest calculations (ONS 

lowest quarter percentile weekly pay for 2022) show that even with a rent increase of 4%, all of 
our stock is lower than the JRF model by an average of 15%.  This is an improvement on the 
calculations in the previous year, where 83% of our stock was below the affordability model 
because the lowest quarter percentile weekly pay for Caerphilly has increased by some 20%.  
ONS have confirmed these figures also include any furloughing arrangements up to the tax year 
April 2022, and the number of jobs in the area has also increased by 2000. Caerphilly is ranked 
the 5th highest earner for the lowest quartile earners out of the 11 remaining Local Housing 
Authorities.  The model therefore suggests that our rent is affordable. If we were so minded and 
given this was agreed in the rent policy, there is a rationale for a rent increase along with the 
other circumstances referenced earlier in this note. 

 
5.1.14 The loss of income by applying a rent freeze compared to that in the business plan would be 

about £1.9m compounded each year.  To put this into context, the recently agreed pay award 
for the HRA for 2022/23 is £1.2m alone. We then have to consider and add to the equation; the 
increased challenges on building safety, the sharp increase on the cost of materials and fuel, 
the demands for reaching net zero carbon with WHQS2023 set to start next year with estimated 
price tag of £650m over 10 years, the commitment to build 400 homes, together with the 
potential impact of the pay line review, then it is clear that the HRA depends on its annual rent 
increase to keep moving forward whilst sustaining vital services such as tenancy support and 
repairs & maintenance of homes. 

 
5.1.15 The impact of lower increases ultimately means a reduction of services, reprioritising 

commitments, and increased borrowing.  
 
5.1.16 At a recent meeting with all social landlords the Minister asked what prioritisation work landlords 

had undertaken. This was assumed to be a warning, that whatever the agreed position, it will 
mean less income for all landlords. In her letter of the 16th November the Minister’s biggest 
concern appeared to be those that paid their rent independently and not with benefit support, 
and over the past month she has been considering the rent increase for 2023/24 and its impact 
across the sector.  She has admitted that given the cost-of-living crisis it has been a very 
difficult decision to make. At the heart of the decision was the need to balance different 
priorities, for example, the impact on tenants, the business needs of social housing providers, 
the needs of homeless households and the commitment for 20,000 new low carbon affordable 
homes over the term of the administration. With the increase in mind, The Minister is keen to 
ensure protection and support is available for those tenants to avoid them being placed into 
financial hardship. 

 
5.1.17 Discussions around a potential rent freeze has also caused many councils with new house 

building plans to raise significant concerns. 
 
5.1.18 The Minister has engaged with all parts of the sector to assist in her decision making, including 

tenant representative bodies, Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) and Local Authorities. These 

Page 120



discussions have focused on a variety of rent level scenarios and potential implications for 
services and investment.  Given the potential implications for tenants of any increase in rent 
levels, particularly self-payers, discussion have also focused on what support would be 
available to assist anyone who experiences financial hardship. 

 
5.1.19 Based on a working assumption that there will be a reasonable increase in social rent levels, 

given the difficult balancing act, discussions have covered any commitments social landlords 
could give to provide assurance to the Minister that tenants in financial hardship will be 
supported and in particular avoiding homelessness when tenants are engaging with landlords. 

 
5.1.20 It has collectively been agreed with Welsh Government that Councils and RSL’s would make a 

voluntary commitment to demonstrate to the Minister, and tenants, that social landlords are 
dedicated to ensuring that tenants are effectively supported and protected through the cost of 
living crisis (along with the wider packages of support being implemented by Councils and 
partners), and would provide assurance to the Minister,  which has been a material 
consideration in her deliberation and decision making around the rent settlement. 

 
5.1.21 Caerphilly Homes along with all other social landlords in Wales have therefore voluntarily 

agreed there will be no evictions due to financial hardship for the term of the rent settlement in 
2023-24, where tenants engage with their landlords. 

 
5.1.22 During this time social landlords will continue to provide targeted support to those    

experiencing financial hardship to access support available.  
   
5.1.23 In addition, a joint campaign, encouraging tenants to talk to their landlord if they are 

experiencing financial difficulties and access support available, will be launched across Wales. 
 
5.1.24 Caerphilly Homes along with other social landlords across Wales have agreed to maximise the 

use of all suitable social housing stock, with a focus on helping those in the poorest quality 
transitional accommodation move into longer term homes that meet their needs. Caerphilly 
Homes has also reiterated a continued commitment to invest in existing homes to keep them 
safe, warm and affordable to live in.   

 
5.1.25 The principal objective at Caerphilly Homes is the management and sustainment of tenancies. 

Eviction is the last resort, fully embracing the Welsh Government aim of no evictions into 
homelessness.  Adoption of a person centred, customer focused approach for supporting and 
enabling tenants, has led to no evictions for financial hardship in the last 2 years.  

 
5.1.26 Caerphilly Homes has restructured the rents team.  There are 19 staff in the rent department, 4 

of which focus on rent and arrears recovery, 6 who deal with welfare benefit checks and 
entitlements, and 9 who focus on tenancy support and sustainment.  There are now more staff 
on tenancy support than on rent recovery and arrears.  This is evidenced also by the increase in 
arrears whilst officers focus on supporting the tenant to sustain the tenancy, rather than rent 
recovery.  This is all about prevention and early intervention.  Investing in prevention will reduce 
the incidence of crisis situations and likelihood of homelessness. 

 
5.1.27 In the last financial year -   
 

• £3.2m additional benefit income secured for tenants during 21/22. 
• 800 successful applications for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) 
• Energy advice to 249 tenants from City & Guild trained staff 
• 350 referrals to Citizens Advice Bureau 
• Supported 1,000 residents to apply for the £200 winter fuel grant 
• Arranged 300 food parcels 
 

5.1.28 Caerphilly Homes have also embraced the Transitional Accommodation Capital Programme 
and are in the process of bringing voids back into use, working with private sector landlords 

Page 121



under Caerphilly Keys, building modular on council owned land and reviewing our ability to 
convert ‘out-moded’ sheltered stock where possible, to build new homes, more quickly.   

 
5.1.29 There is a significant lack of suitable single person move on accommodation options in the 

borough which is significantly impacting on our ability to move single person households out of 
transitional accommodation into more permanent homes.  This coupled with the current state of 
the Private Rented Sector is a challenge for Caerphilly Homes at this time, whilst we have a 
very clear and determined new build plan, we also need our RSLs to work with us in building 
the accommodation that we need to meet this demand. 

 
5.1.30 The voluntary agreement of all social landlords in Wales also committed to continue and 

enhance existing engagement with tenants in rent-setting decisions, including explaining how 
income from rent is invested and spent.  Working in partnership with tenants, Welsh 
Government, funders, and other partners Caerphilly Homes will contribute to develop a 
consistent approach to assessing affordability across the social housing sector in Wales.   

 
5.1.31 Caerphilly Homes and other social landlords across Wales will also participate in an assurance 

exercise in April 2023 to reflect on the application of the rent policy to date.  This will build on 
the work undertaken by social landlords over the past three years, and inform future work to 
develop a consistent approach to assessing affordability 

 
5.1.32 Caerphilly Homes support consistent messaging, and we do this direct to all tenants in updates 

and surveys.  A newsletter was sent recently to 83,000 residents explaining the different 
support is available. 

 
5.1.33 Last year Caerphilly Homes carried out tenant focus groups and received a clear request from 

tenants to show how all the rent is being spent and there is already a commitment to send all 
our tenants information every year on how the rent is spent. 

 
5.1.34 Caerphilly Council would welcome a consistent approach to an affordability model.  In fact, 

Caerphilly Homes engaged with WG colleagues when reviewing the rent policy to consider what 
existing affordability benchmarks were available.  Through the research and discussion with 
officials it appeared that the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) Living Rent model 
(benchmarking rent not being any higher than 28% of household income) to be a good 
affordability model.  Now that the Office National Statistics data has been updated to reflect the 
latest census information, Caerphilly Homes rents are 100% below that threshold and even with 
a rent increase of 8%, the rents would still be affordable when reviewed against the JRF model. 

 

5.1.35 On the 19th July 2022 Council agreed to a £90m borrowing level which included maintaining the 
WHQS programme and progressing with new build.  Total borrowing for achieving the WHQS 
standard was £40.9m.  Borrowing for new build was therefore confirmed at £49.1m within the 
current approval limit. This limit does not include the costs of additional challenges from WHQS 
2023 that was recently out for consultation, or the increases due to higher inflation rates and the 
cost of living. 

 

5.1.36 WHQS 2023 Consultation ended on 3rd August 2022. WG are expecting to respond to the 
consultation exercise by the end of the calendar year but what is clear from networking 
meetings with other LA’s is the concern about funding and the timeline to achieve 
decarbonisation. 

 

5.1.37 Members must also consider the pressure Local Housing Authorities are facing from Welsh 
Government on increasing housing supply and ensuring we meet the decarbonisation agenda, 
both of which require significant investment.  This directly links with the Council’s commitment 
contained within the Corporate Plan 2018-2023 and Wellbeing Objective 3 which aims to 
address the supply, condition, and sustainability of homes throughout the county borough. 
 

5.1.38 A nil increase for 2023/24 would mean the rent would remain at £93.80/wk (52 wk) but this 
would require considerable future rent increases to get back into the target rent band envelope 
range if and when this is re-introduced.  This would also result in reduced income of £1.9m 

Page 122



annually to that assumed within our business plan, and this is without factoring in any further 
cost increases as explained in the report.  Again, members must consider the ongoing effect of 
this reduced rent to address the significant investment required as explained above. 
 

5.1.39 A 6.5% increase for 2023/24 would mean the rent would be set at £99.90/wk (52 wk) which 
would result in additional income of some £3.4m which is £1.5m more than assumed within the 
Business Plan (which was based on a 3.6% increase).  However, based on the increases 
explained in 5.1.7 and 5.1.8 of this report, this would still require an increase of borrowing of 
some £10m to meet the demands and costs of the services. 

 
5.1.40 Additional borrowing as a consequence of income shortfalls must be affordable under the 

Prudential Code.  It also means an increase in debt and interest charges which takes resources 
away from the HRA to manage and maintain our housing stock and support our tenants. 

 
5.1.41 In addition, affordability for tenants is now a factor that must be considered as part of setting 

any rent increases.  This involves engaging with tenants to capture relevant data and views and 
establishing a suitable model that would evidence affordability together with a system for 
accurately recording such information.  “Your rent your views” survey have been available to 
tenants each year since 2020. 

 
5.1.42 Since 2014/15 the average rent increase for Caerphilly Homes is 2.98% 
 
 
5.2 Affordability 

 
5.2.1 Officers have continued to work on developing the affordability survey and have met colleagues 

in Welsh Government and other local authorities with the aim of sharing best practice.  The 
feedback from Welsh Government on the previous year’s rent setting process across the sector 
gave us more of an understanding as to what Welsh Government were expecting in order to 
evidence affordability.  For example, landlords automatically received a favourable score if they 
used the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) Living Rent model or an equivalent affordability 
tool.  As referenced in 5.1.34 Caerphilly Homes had been considering the JRF model prior to 
the pandemic but did not have the resources to progress during 2020/21.  The JRF model was 
agreed by Cabinet on the 13th July 2022 to be included as part of Caerphilly Homes existing 
rent policy. 

 
5.2.2 Other areas of good practice included a wide range of tenant consultation platforms and 

appropriate feedback, working in collaboration with tenants to set rents.  As an authority we 
have been limited to certain media platforms due to GDPR concerns, which has restricted our 
ability to reach all tenants.  However, officers have developed a full consultation process 
including an online survey during October/November 2022, and two focus groups.  The survey 
was posted on Facebook and Twitter and was also available on the Council’s website.  An 
EGov bulletin was sent to those tenants who have registered with the link.  There were periodic 
reminders over the term of the survey and there was also a dedicated helpline for any tenants 
who required assistance in completing the survey 

 
5.2.3 Members will be pleased to note that Caerphilly have been approached by TPAS Cymru to 

present at a rent consultation webinar and share best practise on how we engage with our 
tenants.  We have been quoted as a “fantastic case study” together with 2 other social landlords 
(1 in Wales and 1 in Scotland).  Caerphilly Homes has also presented at TPAS Cymru 
conference in November on our rent and affordability consultation, so whilst is has proven 
challenging to try and engage with as many tenants as possible through different medias, it is 
clear that we are leading the way on how we approach it. 

 
5.2.4 Overall, there were 271 tenant responses to the survey with a mix of areas and tenures being 

represented.  Unfortunately, this was a decrease of 102 compared to the previous year, despite 
the efforts made. 

 

Page 123



5.2.5 41% of the tenants were represented from the East of the Borough, 30% from the South and 
29% from the North.  

 
5.2.6 The majority of responses were from tenants in houses (47%) followed by flats (24%) and 

bungalows (14%) with the main source of income being from sickness or disability benefits 
(61%), followed by employment (37%). 

 
5.2.7 61% of the respondents received some form of benefit support towards paying their rent.  40% 

of respondents received no support. 
 
5.2.8 68% of responding tenants think our rents are fair and affordable (compared to 65% last year) 

and 32% do not.  Mixed responses vary from “Because we receive housing benefits which help” 
“Cheaper than private rents” “It’s a reasonable amount” to “The bedroom tax is crippling”, 
“Benefit payments do not cover the increased cost of living”, and “Rents rise every year, but 
earnings don’t”. 

 
5.2.9 88% of tenants were extremely or very concerned about the cost of living. 
 
5.2.10 63% of tenants thought that their rent provides value for money (compared to 61% last year). 

Comments included: “property maintenance is expensive”, “I am happy with my home and the 
service you provide” “I realise that you look after tenants the best you can”, to “More needed on 
helping people move” “repairs are poor”, and “No they waste it by building new offices and 
such” 

 
5.2.11 Any tenant who expressed difficulties with paying their rent within the survey comments, was 

contacted and offered support by Tenancy Support Team. 
 
5.2.12 23 tenants attended the focus groups, and it was interesting to note that when asked their 

opinion on a rent freeze, the majority of tenants agreed that an increase should be applied in 
order to sustain the services.  These tenants understood the impact on the housing service by 
not applying a rent increase albeit they wanted the increase to be as low as possible. They did 
not want to have a reduction in services.  Tenants also agreed that paying their rent was one of 
their priorities during the cost-of-living crisis, but they were cutting back on other areas such as 
heating and making cheaper food choices.  Concerns were made around keeping warm during 
the winter and officers commented that the Council was considering Community Hubs offering 
warmth, refreshments, and support in the near future.  Tenants generally agreed that rent was 
affordable at the moment but were concerned about the long-term impact of the cost of living.  
For those who are on benefits they were very thankful that their rent would be paid, and would 
struggle if they weren’t receiving financial support, but were still concerned about the other 
costs rising. 

 

5.2.13 The survey overall gave us a mixed response, and there are clearly some responses that need 
to be followed up, but it does suggest a higher proportion of our tenants agree that their rent is 
affordable and offers value for money. 

 

5.2.14 The average social rent for Caerphilly CBC in 2022/23 is £93.80/wk, which is nearly 7% lower 
than the All-Wales Average for Local Authorities of £100.46/wk.  The All-Wales Average for 
Registered Social Landlords is £101.20/wk. Caerphilly CBC is ranked the lowest Local Authority 
in Wales in terms of its weekly rent according to Data Stat Wales. 

 

5.2.15 Data Stat Wales latest publication for Private rents in Caerphilly CBC only go up as far as 
2019/20.  Private rent for a 3 bed house for 2019/20 is on average £134.28 per week, 
compared to the Caerphilly Homes average rent for a 3 bed house at £108.90/wk (which is 
2022/23 rent).  Increases would have been applied for private rent since 2019/20 making the 
comparison gap wider. 

 
5.2.16 Caerphilly CBC ranked 5th highest out of the 11 Local Housing Authorities in terms of workplace 

earnings gross weekly pay (at the lower quartile) at £356.60, which is 4.76% above the All-
Wales Average for the LHA’s at £340.40/wk. 

Page 124



 
5.2.17 The results of the 2021 STAR survey to tenants, on their satisfaction with the housing service, 

confirmed 77% were satisfied overall with the service provided by Caerphilly Homes, and 76% 
were satisfied that their rent provides value for money. 

 
5.2.18 These statistics together with the tenant’s affordability survey suggest that the rent is affordable 

and provides value for money. However, Welsh Government require us to prove this in terms of 
measuring our current rent against an appropriate affordability model, which will be the JRF 
model. 

 
5.3  Tenancy Support 

 
5.3.1 Caerphilly Homes Rents team offer person centred support to tenants.  A team of tenancy and 

welfare benefit support staff are available to provide support as soon as a tenancy starts.  Staff 
have the discretion and flexibility to deal with differing individual circumstances when tenants 
are in difficulty and are empowered to deliver innovative solutions. 

 
5.3.2 The number of tenants claiming housing benefit or universal credit housing costs to help pay 

their rent has increased from 72% to 78% since December 2020.  Since April 2021, our staff 
have assisted tenants to claim over £3.2m in additional benefits. This support is not only offered 
to tenants experiencing financial hardship, but to tenants who we recognise using key data sets 
are not claiming their full entitlement of benefits. 

 
5.3.3 Surveys completed by tenants receiving the service have shown the huge difference it has 

meant to their lives.  Quotes below have been extracted directly from the surveys:  
 

 “Thank you for everything you have done for me it has made a huge difference.  I fell into 
heaven when I came to this wonderful council”,  

 “Been told so many times that I wasn't able to claim (including by DWP) but the Council 
staff helped me to claim successfully.  This has changed my life massively”,  

 “Given me a different perspective of people from the council, reassured me that if there was 
anything else to get it touch. Built up trust, so great that I know where to call if I need help” 
and,  

 “I didn’t expect to get a backdate I am so happy I am going to use the money to buy a 
mobility scooter something I never ever thought I could afford to buy.  I can’t thank you 
enough” 

 

This support is integral to the Rents Team and will continue to be offered to all tenants  
 
5.4 Garage Charges 
 

5.4.1 The garage rationalisation and refurbishment programme, linked to the WHQS programme has 
led to a reduction in our garage stock but has resulted in improvements to our remaining stock.  
This work had a significant impact on void levels as the blocks of garages had to be fully 
vacated prior to commencement of works on each site.  On completion of works to each block, 
former garage tenants and former leaseholders of garage plots have been offered new 
tenancies of the newly built or refurbished garages, prior to new tenants being sought for the 
remainder from existing waiting lists or through marketing. In addition, a number of garages 
have been demolished due to unsuitability and lack of demand.  However, due to Covid-19 the 
void position on garages has not yet improved due to resources being deployed in more critical 
areas.  Caerphilly Homes currently own 887 garages of which 135 are let to council tenants and 
505 are let to private residents. The remaining 247 (28%) are void. 

 
5.4.2 The rent on garages had not been increased for 3 years while the rationalisation programme 

was being undertaken but an increase was re-introduced in 2020/21 at 1.5%. Total investment 
to our garage stock was £2.6m and we can collect £380k per annum in charges if all garages 
are let. Currently our garage charge is £8.39 per week and 79% of garage tenants are not 
council tenants.  The 2022/23 business plan assumed a 2.8% increase for the 2023/24 financial 

Page 125



year, which was based on the forecasted RPI rate of inflation at the time of preparing the 
business plan.  The actual RPI rate currently is 12.6% with sources estimating this is likely to 
fall to about 5.5% next year.  For the 21% who are council tenants a 5.5% increase would 
equate to £8.85 per week (an additional 46p per week) and for the 79% non-council tenants this 
would equate to £10.62 to include VAT.  

 
  Tenants in receipt of benefit 

 
5.4.3 Garage rents are not eligible for housing benefit and the majority (79%) of garage tenants are 

not actually council house tenants. 
 
 Financial impact 
 
5.4.4 The Business Plan has included a 2.8% increase on garage rental income but did not foresee 

the unprecedented increases in inflation rates ahead. Not increasing the income in line with 
predicted inflation will mean a loss of approximately £21k.   

 
   
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Assumptions are prevalent within the Housing Business Plan and are necessary to create a 30-
year projection as requested by Welsh Government.  Assumptions are included on key drivers 
such as (i) Interest rates (ii) Inflation (iii) Rental Increases (iv) Staffing levels (v) stock movement 
(vi) capital programme expenditure (vi) level of rent arrears, and (vii) level of voids and are taken 
from projections, local knowledge, and Welsh Government guidance. 

  
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

7.1 Section 24 of the Housing Act 1985 provides Local Housing Authorities (LHA’s) with the power 
to set rents for its properties relating to Part II of said Act. A LHA is under a duty to act 
reasonably by determining rent levels. When setting rents under this section, a LHA must 
comply with any standards relating to rent set by the Welsh Ministers under section 111 of the 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and must also have regard to guidance issue under section 112 of 
the 2014 Act. Section 74 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires a LHA to 
keep and maintain a HRA ring-fenced account which ensures that the income raised from 
operating council housing is spend on council housing, and that neither the HRA nor General 
Fund are cross subsidised. Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires 
that the HRA cannot be set into a deficit.] 

 
7.2 An increase in rents is required in order not to set a deficit budget within the HRA. The 

additional income is utilised on maintaining or improving existing services as well as creating 
financial resource to be able to meet WG agendas and challenges such as minimising evictions, 
not to evict into homelessness, deliver high quality homes, evidencing affordability and value for 
money, maintaining WHQS, installing Optimised Retrofit Programmes on existing stock, and 
enhancing tenant involvement.  

 
7.3 68% of tenants who were surveyed on “Your rent your view” survey confirmed that their rents 

were deemed fair and affordable and 63% thought their rents provided value for money. 76% of 
tenants who were surveyed on the STAR survey also thought their rents provided value for 
money and 77% were satisfied with the services provided. As part of the rent setting process, 
tenants were also involved in focus groups.  

 
7.4 The latest statistics from Data Stat Wales ranks Caerphilly CBC the lowest in terms of Local 

Authority rent and 5th highest in terms of workplace earnings (lower quartile).  78% of Caerphilly 
CBC tenants are in receipt of financial support for their rent in the form of Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit.  Tenancy support is offered to all tenants.  

 

Page 126



7.5 The proposed increase during an unprecedented increase in inflation is set as per the rent 
policy determined by Welsh Government and is lower than the current rate of inflation. 

 
7.6  Hyperlink to the Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 This report deals with the financial implications of the proposed rent increases which affect the 

HRA. 
 
8.2 The impact of the Welfare Reform Act is not taken into consideration  
  
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 The proposals contained in this report will not alter the current arrangements for the collection 

of housing revenue account monies. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 All consultation responses have been reflected in this report. 
 
10.2 Officers have developed a full consultation process with tenants including an online survey 

during October/November 2022, and two focus groups which have informed this report. 
 
10.3 The report was presented to the Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee on 29th 

November 2022. A member noted that the proposed property rent increase is 6.5% which 
averages at £6.10  per week and understandably Members will be concerned that tenants 
cannot afford this increase. However, the report also states that 78% of tenants receive benefits 
so those will not be impacted. Having enquired about the remaining 22% and how many are 
pensioners, which she noted will shortly be receiving an increase in state pension of 10% in line 
with inflation, she had been informed that approximately 40% are pensioners. This leaves about 
13.2% who don’t receive benefits and are probably working families. Therefore, on balance she 
felt this is an affordable increase and therefore supported. 

 
 10.4  The scrutiny committee commented that it is important to have the funds to build new    
             council houses. This was agreed by the cabinet member who commented that the council   
  needs the funds to both maintain and build, and these costs have increased with inflation,   
             and highlighted the proposed increase complies with the Joseph Rowntree model.  
 
10.5  Members asked how inflation has impacted the HRA. The committee were advised that it has    

meant increased costs on fuel, construction, concrete, steel etc. The proposed percentage 
increase of 6.5% is below inflation which is the maximum permitted by Welsh Government. The 
council will still need to borrow £10m to continue to do what we are doing now and service the 
debt. If we did not increase by the 6.5%, we would have to borrow more money. 
 

10.6 A Member asked where the council would borrow money, the committee were advised that local 
authorities borrow through the Public Works Loan Board. This offers preferential rates and is 
around 1.3% now but is projected to increase in the coming weeks and months.  
 

10.7 The committee sought further information on the garages available for rent, many are empty due 
to the rent costs and suggested it is perhaps better to demolish and provide additional parking 
spaces for residents. It was confirmed that the majority of garages are rented by non-council 
tenants, officers are looking at a strategy for dealing with vacant garages and see how they can 
be marketed. Officers suggested that alternative development opportunities could be looked at 
where they are not attractive to residents. 

Page 127

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-form-rent-increase-2023-24


 
10.8 An explanation of the difference of the HRA and the Council budget was sought. Members were 

advised that the HRA is a ring-fenced account funded mainly from rental income. This fund 
cannot be used for anything other than affordable housing; it cannot be used to help private 
tenants. The purpose is set out in the Housing Strategy and Business Plan and cannot be used 
across any other council services. 
 

10.9 Members highlighted that the report which mentioned that Caerphilly County Borough has one of 
the lowest rents in Wales out of 22 local authorities. A request was made for specific figure on 
neighbouring authorities in terms of fees they charge. It was explained that the figures are 
available on Stats Wales website. 
 

10.10 The scrutiny committee sought clarification on a recent letter sent to tenants which stated that  
from April 2023 the council will no longer collect payments for Welsh Water and enquired 
whether this meant that the amount paid will reduce. It was confirmed that this is correct, it was 
not a Caerphilly decision at the moment we collect rent and water at the same time. Tenants will 
be contacted by Welsh Water to make arrangement to pay them directly for payments from April 
2023. 
 

10.11   Following the debate the recommendations in 3 were moved and seconded and supported by  
the majority present: For 84% (11), No 0% (0), Abstain 15% (2) 

 
  
11. STATUTORY POWER  

 
11.1 Local Government Acts 1972. This is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
 
Author: Lesley Allen, Principal Group Accountant, Housing 

allenl@caerphilly.gov.uk   Tel: 01443 864470 
 
Consultees: Cllr Andrew Whitcombe  - Chair Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr Patricia Cook  - Vice Chair Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Shayne Cook  - Cabinet Member for Housing 
Christina Harrhy  - Chief Executive 
Dave Street  - Corporate Director Social Services and Housing        
Nick Taylor-Williams - Head of Housing 
Robert Tranter  - Head of Legal Services/Monitoring Officer 
Stephen R Harris   - Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer  
Sandra Isaacs  - Rents Manager 
Amanda Main  - Acting Benefits Manager 
Fiona Wilkins   - Housing Services Manager 
Jane Roberts-Waite - Strategy and Co-ordination Manager 
Alan Edmunds   - WHQS Project Manager 
Jason Fellows  - HRO Manager 
Kerry Denman  - Housing Solutions Manager 
Mandy Betts  - Tenants and Community Involvement Manager  

 
 
Background Papers: N/A 

Page 128

mailto:allenl@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

  
 

 
 

 

CABINET – 14TH DECEMBER 2022 
 

SUBJECT: COUNCIL TAX BASE 2023-2024 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 For Cabinet to agree the calculation of the Council Tax Base for the 2023/24 financial year.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 The report provides details of the Council Tax base for 2023/24 for tax setting purposes and the 

collection percentage to be applied. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 It is recommended that: - 
 

 The Council Tax collection rate is maintained at 97.50% for the 2023/24 financial year. 
 The Council Tax Base for 2023/24 be 61,135.13, with the Council Tax Base for each 

community council area being as outlined in paragraph 5.6. 
  
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 To determine the Council Tax base for 2023/24. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 

5.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 and The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council 
Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995 as amended set out the rules for the calculation of the 
Council Tax base.  This is the amount required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to 
be used in the calculation of the Council Tax. 

 
5.2 The Council Tax Base is the measure of the relative taxable capacity of different areas within 

the County Borough and is calculated in accordance with prescribed rules. The Tax Base 
represents the number of chargeable dwellings in the area expressed as Band D equivalents, 
taking into account the total number of exemptions, disablement reductions and discounts, 
with the net Tax Base calculated by taking account of the Council’s estimated collection rate. 

 
5.3 The gross Council Tax base for discounted chargeable dwellings expressed as Band D 

equivalents has been calculated at 62,702.70 for 2023/24.  This figure is used by Welsh 
Government as part of the process for calculating the Revenue Support Grant. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7



 
5.4 The in-year collection rate for Council Tax had been maintained at between 96% and 97% 

prior to the breakout of the Covid-19 pandemic. Last year however, it was only 95.3%.  This 
was representative across all 22 Welsh authorities, who all reported a lower in-year collection 
rate due to the impact of the pandemic and the Cost-of-Living crisis.   

 
5.5 The Authority actively pursues all Council Tax arrears which historically results in the 

previously approved collection rate of 97.5% being regularly exceeded over time.  It is 
therefore proposed that the budgeted collection rate be maintained at 97.50% for 2023/24.      

 
5.6 The Council Tax base for 2023/24 is 62,702.70 x 97.50%, which equates to 61,135.13.  

Members are advised that increases in Band D equivalents can result in a reduced Revenue 
Support Grant when the Local Government Financial Settlement announcement is made later 
this year.  The Council Tax base analysed over community council areas is as follows: - 

 
Community Councils Tax Base 2023/24      

Community Council 
 

Band D    

Aber Valley 
 

2,008.28 

Argoed 
 

880.45 

Bargoed 
 

3,697.40 

Bedwas, Trethomas & Machen 
 

3,969.95 

Blackwood  
 

2,959.91 

Caerphilly 
 

6,284.17 

Darran Valley 
 

713.62 

Draethen, Waterloo & Rudry 
 

620.42 

Gelligaer 
 

6,322.88 

Llanbradach & Pwllypant 
 

1,504.43 

Maesycwmmer 
 

957.98 

Nelson 
 

1,590.59 

New Tredegar 
 

1,335.80 

Penyrheol, Trecenydd & Energlyn 
 

4,547.97 

Rhymney 
 

2,564.25 

Risca East  
 

2,038.26 

Risca West 
 

1,819.23 

Van 
 

1,644.55    

Areas without Community Councils 
 

15,674.99    

Total 
 

61,135.13 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 It is assumed that although the council tax collection rate of 97.50% is unlikely to be reached 

by the end of the financial year, it will be met over a period of time.    
 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 The calculation of the Council Tax base is a statement of fact and as such an Integrated 
Impact Assessment is not required. 

 

Page 130



 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 As identified throughout this report. 
 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 There are none in respect of this report. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 

10.1 There are no consultation responses which have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER 
 
11.1 Local Government Finance Act 1992 and regulations made under the Act. 
 
 
Author:        Sean O’Donnell, Principal Council Tax and NNDR Officer  
        (E-mail: odonns@caerphilly.gov.uk  Tel: 01443 864013)   
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

(Email: harrhc@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
 Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate Services 
 (Email: edmunre@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 
(Email: harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member Finance and Performance 

 (Email: stenne@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 (Email: trantrj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

John Carpenter, Finance Manager (Revenues) 
 (Email: carpewj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

Andrew Southcombe, Finance Manager (Corporate Finance) 
(Email: southak@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Council Tax Dwellings Return for 2023-24 
 

Page 131

mailto:odonns@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:harrhc@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:edmunre@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:stenne@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:trantrj@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:carpewj@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:southak@caerphilly.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



CT1

2

5

Stephen Harris
Penallta House
Tredomen Park
Ystrad Mynach

CF82 7PG

Please select your authority and if necessary, amend any incorrect details

Name:

E-mail (please enter N/A if unavailable):

Telephone: STD code: ( 1443 )

(i) certified signed copy and spreadsheet                     

(ii) final ratified taxbase

Local Government Financial Statistics Unit,
Welsh Government,
CP2
Cathays Park,
CARDIFF,
CF10 3NQ.

Email: lgfs.transfer@gov.wales

Telephone: 0300 025 9169 or 0300 025 5673

It is a Welsh Government audit requirement that all cells are completed.  Please ensure that all blank cells 
are populated with zeros, those that are not will be assumed to be zero.

14 November 2022

6 January 2023

The figures should also take account of changes to the valuation list that appear likely to occur during 2023-24.

The information requested on this return must be submitted to the Welsh Government under section 68 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Please check the validation sheet before sending the form.

Forms should be returned to the address below, according to the following timetable:

Any queries on completion of the form or spreadsheet should be directed in the first instance, via 
telephone or e-mail, as directed below:

Authorities are required to calculate the council tax base for 2023-24 with reference to dwellings shown on the 
valuation list for the authority as at 31 October 2022 supplied to the authority under section 22B(7) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992.

COUNCIL TAX DWELLINGS RETURN FOR 2023-24

Sean O'Donnell

odonns@caerphilly.gov.uk

( 864013 )

1.0

APPENDIX 1

Page 133



Code: 544         Authority: Caerphilly County Borough Council CT1 2023-24

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Valuation band

Part A: Chargeable dwellings A* A B C D E F G H I

A1 All chargeable dwellings 14,755 26,076 18,356 9,214 6,612 2,378 800 86 69 78,346

A2 Dwellings subject to disability reduction (included in line A1) 65 186 186 102 78 39 15 4 16 691

A3 Adjusted chargeable dwellings (taking into account disability reductions) 65 14,876 26,076 18,272 9,190 6,573 2,354 789 98 53 78,346

B1 Dwellings with no discount or premium (including long term empty properties and second homes with no discount or premium)33 6,878 15,707 11,876 6,611 5,311 2,016 670 69 46 49,217

B2a Dwellings with a 25% discount (excluding long term empty properties and second homes) 32 7,987 10,332 6,377 2,565 1,248 329 115 13 2 29,000

B2b Dwellings with a 50% discount (excluding long term empty properties and second homes) 0 11 37 19 14 14 9 4 16 5 129

B3a Dwellings with a variable discount other than 25% or 50% (Part G, line 11) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B3b Dwellings with long term empty property or second homes discount 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B3c Dwellings with long term empty property or second homes premium 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B4 Total adjusted chargeable dwellings  (sum of B1 to B3c=A3) 65 14,876 26,076 18,272 9,190 6,573 2,354 789 98 53 78,346

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Discount and premium adjustments

B5 Total variable discounts  (=Part G, line 12) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B6 Long term empty property and second homes discount adjustment (Part H, line 9g, 11g) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

B7 Long term empty property and second homes premium adjustment (Part H, line 10g, 12g) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Part C: Calculation of chargeable dwellings with discounts and premiums

C2 Total dwellings including discounts and premiums  (=A3-(B2ax0.25)-(B2bx0.5)-B5-B6+B7)  57 12,874 23,475 16,668 8,542 6,254 2,267 758 87 50

C3 Ratio to band D 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

C4 Band D equivalents  (=C2xC3)  (rounded to 2 decimal places) 31.67 8,582.50 18,257.94 14,816.22 8,541.75 7,643.78 3,274.92 1,263.75 173.50 116.67 62,702.70

C7 Total discounted dwellings excluding long term empty and second homes adjustment 57 12,874 23,475 16,668 8,542 6,254 2,267 758 87 50

C8 Band D equivalents excluding long term empty and second homes adjustment 31.67 8,582.50 18,257.94 14,816.22 8,541.75 7,643.78 3,274.92 1,263.75 173.50 116.67 62,702.70

Part D: Memorandum items
(sum of individual bands 

- carry to E1)

D1
Exempt dwellings Classes A to N and P to W 
(not included in sections A to C above) 

628 843 435 208 111 45 30 4 8 2,312

D2
Exempt dwellings Class O 
(not included in sections A to C above) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BKASCSAIAIQBV
For Welsh Government 

Administration only

Total (= sum of 
band figures)

28/11/2022 16:07 Page 2 - Parts A to D

P
age 134



Code: 544         Authority: Caerphilly County Borough Council CT1 2023-24

11

Part E: Calculation of council tax base

22 E1 Chargeable dwellings: band D equivalents  (=C4 total) 62,702.70

23 E2 Collection rate (please enter to 2 decimal places) 97.50 %

24 E3 = E1 x E2 (rounded to 2 decimal places) 61,135.13

25 E4 Class O exempt dwellings: band D equivalents  (please enter to 2 decimal places) 0.00

26 E5 Council tax base for tax-setting purposes  (=E3+E4) 61,135.13

26.2 E5b Discounted chargeable dwellings excluding long term empty and second homes adjustment 62,702.70

27 E6 100% council tax base for calculating revenue support grant (=E5b+E4) 62,702.70

Part F: Exempt dwellings by class of exemption

28 Class A 283 Class I 14 Class Q 2

to

51.5 Class B 0 Class J 7 Class R 1

Class C 799 Class K 0 Class S 22

Class D 9 Class L 9 Class T 21

Class E 110 Class M 0 Class U 393

Class F 460 Class N 89 Class V 0

Class G 10 Class O 0 Class W 22

Class H 7 Class P 0 Class X 54

Total all classes 2,312.00

Total of lines D1 2,312.00

Total of lines D2 0.00

For Welsh 
Government 

Administration only
PTCJANCFMAD

28/11/2022 16:07 Page 3 - Parts E and F

Page 135



Code: 544         Authority: Caerphilly County Borough Council CT1 2023-24

Part G : Variable discounts
12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

Valuation band

Area

Discount 
pecentage 

applied Properties / Discounts A* A B C D E F G H I Total

52 G1 Enter the name of area 1* 0% Number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

53 G2 Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

54 G3 Enter the name of area 2* 0% Number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

55 G4 Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

56 G5 Enter the name of area 3* 0% Number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

57 G6 Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

58 G7 Enter the name of area 4* 0% Number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

59 G8 Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

60 G9 Enter the name of area 5* 0% Number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

61 G10 Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

62 G11 Total number of properties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

63 G12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

* this may be 'whole authority', a single community area or a number of community areas

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The figures have not yet been approved;
A-D

or E-F

the figures have been approved by executive decision; H

or Total

the figures have been approved by the full council.

Chief Financial Officer:   Date: 09/11/2022

Total discounts (G2+G4+G6+G8+G10) (see note 11)

I certify that the council tax base shown in sections A to E above has been calculated by my authority in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of 
Council Tax Base) Regulations 1995 (Wales) (SI 1995/2561) as amended.   Where indicated below, the figures have been approved, in accordance with section 
67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended by section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003.

For Welsh 
Government 

Administration 
only

BKASCSAIAIQBV

PTCJANCFMAD

AHDACBIBVAOAO

CBZZCLECCDAR

Page 136



Code: 544         Authority: Caerphilly County Borough Council CT1 2023-24
Part H: Chargeable empty properties and second homes - exclude exemptions

12 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Please enter actual dwelling numbers

A B C D E F G H I

64 H1

Chargeable empty 
properties (over 6 
months) with no 
discount or 
premium

415 289 143 71 25 13 7 0 1

65 H2

Chargeable second 
homes with no 
discount or 
premium

67 66 58 30 12 6 4 0 1

Empty property discount

Percentage 
discount

A B C D E F G H I

67 H3b 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

68 H3c 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

70 H3e 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

71 H3f 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

71.1 H3fa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

71.2 H3fb 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

72 H3g Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Long term empty property premium (over 12 months) 

Percentage 
premium

A B C D E F G H I

74 H4b 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

75 H4c 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

77 H4e 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

78 H4f 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

78.1 H4fa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

78.2 H4fb 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

79 H4g Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Second homes discount
Please enter by band and percentage the discount your authority awards for dwellings registered as second homes

Percentage 
discount

A B C D E F G H I

81 H5b 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

82 H5c 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

84 H5e 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

85 H5f 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

85.1 H5fa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

85.2 H5fb 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

86 H5g Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Second homes premium

Percentage 
premium

A B C D E F G H I

88 H6b 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

89 H6c 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

91 H6e 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

92 H6f 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

92.1 H6fa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

92.2 H6fb 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

93 H6g Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

94 H7
Total chargeable 
empty properties

415 289 143 71 25 13 7 0 1

Please enter by band and percentage the premium your authority charges for long term empty properties and not included in table above.

If the value of percentage discount/premium is not shown in the table please add the percentage value to the bottom rows of the "Percentage discount" or 
"Percentage premium" column. 

Please enter by band and percentage the premium your authority charges for dwellings registered as second homes and not included in table above.

Please enter by band and percentage discount, the number of dwellings that are empty.

Page 137



Code: 544         Authority: Caerphilly County Borough Council CT1 2023-24
Part H: Chargeable empty properties and second homes - exclude exemptions

12 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

If the value of percentage discount/premium is not shown in the table please add the percentage value to the bottom rows of the "Percentage discount" or 
"Percentage premium" column. 

95 H8
Total chargeable 
second homes

67 66 58 30 12 6 4 0 1

Dwelling equivalents
Reduction due to long term empty property discount

Percentage 
discount

A B C D E F G H I

97 H9b 25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

98 H9c 50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

100 H9e 100 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

101 H9f 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

101.1 H9fa 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

101.2 H9fb 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

102 H9g Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Increase due to long term empty property premium
Percentage 

premium
A B C D E F G H I

104 H10b 25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

105 H10c 50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

107 H10e 100 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

108 H10f 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

108.1 H10fa 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

108.2 H10fb 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

109 H10g Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Reduction due to second homes discount
Percentage 

discount
A B C D E F G H I

111 H11b 25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

112 H11c 50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

114 H11e 100 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

115 H11f 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

115.1 H11fa 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

115.2 H11fb 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

116 H11g Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Increase due second homes premium
Percentage 

premium
A B C D E F G H I

118 H12b 25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

119 H12c 50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

121 H12e 100 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

122 H12f 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

122.1 H12fa 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

122.2 H12fb 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

123 H12g Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

For Welsh Government 
Administration only AHDACBIBVAOAO

Page 138



 
 
 

CABINET – 14TH DECEMBER 2022 
 

PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS 

PARAGRAPH 14 OF SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 
SUBJECT: A468 / B4600 BEDWAS BRIDGE ROUNDABOUT IMPROVEMENT 
 
REPORT BY:  HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES AND MONITORING OFFICER  

 
I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the report referred to above and make the 
following recommendations to the Proper Officer:-  

 
EXEMPTIONS APPLYING TO THE REPORT:  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 

information) (Paragraph 14).  
 
FACTORS IN FAVOUR OF DISCLOSURE:  

There is a public interest in the way in which the Council negotiates acquisitions of land.  
 
PREJUDICE WHICH WOULD RESULT IF THE INFORMATION WERE DISCLOSED:  

The report contains detailed financial information about the allocation of funds to enable the council to enter into 
negotiations to purchase land.  
 

MY VIEW ON THE PUBLIC INTEREST TEST IS AS FOLLOWS:  
That paragraph 14 should apply.  
 

I am mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and accountability in the way the council purchases land. 
However, disclosure of the information contained in the report would prejudice the council’s ability to enter into 
negotiations to purchase the land.  

 
On that basis I feel that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information. Members are asked to consider these factors when determining the public interest test, which they 

must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting.  
 
RECOMMENDED DECISION ON EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE:  

On the basis set out above I feel that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information, and that the report should be exempt.  
 

Signed:     Dated:    5th December 2022  
 
 
Post:    Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
I accept the recommendation made above.   
 
 
   
Signed: ________________________   Date: 6th December 2022 

Proper Officer 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



Document is Restricted

Page 141

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cabinet Forward Work Programme.
	4 Agile Policies.
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7

	5 Low Cost Home Ownership Policy.
	Appendix 1

	6 Housing Revenue Account Charges - 2023/2024.
	7 Council Tax Base 2023-2024.
	Appendix 1

	8 Public Interest Test.
	9 A468/B4600 Bedwas Bridge Roundabout Improvement.
	Appendix 1


